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OUR MISSION

To reimagine commerce in ways
that build a more fulfilling and lasting world.
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KEL CADET OF
(R-KI-TEKT)
rkitekt.etsy.com
An Etsy seller for
eight years, Kel creates
classic yet whimsical
accessories and leather
goods inspired by her
love of color theory and
past travel experiences.
She, her husband, and
their two children live
in Atlanta, Georgia.

WHO WE ARE

We are a global creative commerce platform.
We build markets, services, and economic
opportunity for creative entrepreneurs.

2

2016 Annual Report

VE
V
VEI
EI TA
TAN AND
ND PAT
PA
PA
AT
TRIC
RICK
MA
MAC
M
A A
AS
ASA
SAET
TO
OF
FM
MIIIM
MAW
mim
mi
mim
maw
a orks
awo
kshop
hop
ho
op.et
.e
.e
ettsy
sy.com
sy.
com
co
m
The c
The
co
oupl
uple
e bu
uiillt
uil
lt a
s udio
stu
d o tth
ha
att sse
ser
errv
e
ve
ves
es as
es
as a
collab
co
col
olllab
lab
la
bor
bor
ora
ra
attiv
iv
ive
e co
ow
wo
w
orrki
rk
k ng
spa
sp
p c
pa
ce
e fo
ffor
o th
the
hems
em
e
mse
ms
ellv
lvess
and
a
nd ot
n
otther
her
h
he
er make
m ak
ma
ker
ke
e
errs in
Me
M
Mel
el
elbou
bourne
bo
ne
e, Aus
ust
u
ssttra
rral
alia.
a
In th
In
th
the
he
e sp
spac
ac
ace
ce
e, Vei
ei de
essign
igns,
s,
3 D pri
rrin
ints,
in
tss, a
an
nd han
an
nd
d
fin
ffi
iin
nis
iish
ssh
hes
es pla
ay
yfu
yf
ffu
ul tra
ra
ay
ys,
bow
bo
b
ow
wls
wls
ls,
ss,, a
an
nd otthe
th
he
h
er
hom
ome
me acces
cce
cessso
sssso
orie
riie
ri
es.
s.

WE ARE
ENABLING
A NEW
ECONOMY
We call it “The Etsy Economy.” It’s powered by
the independent spirit and passion of millions
of creative entrepreneurs. And it offers them
the freedom to make a living that’s built around
human connection and creativity.
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BECCA WEBB
OF TWO POTTERS
twopotters.etsy.com
Becca and her husband
Nathan have sold their
handmade pottery on
Etsy since 2014. They’re
both former art majors,
living in Vermont with
their two children, their
dog, and several chickens.
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MARKETS
We build markets that enable thoughtful
consumers to buy unique, creative goods
from sellers around the world...

ETSY.COM
The global online market for
buying and selling unique goods
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SERVICES
...along with tools and services that enable
creative entrepreneurs to start, manage,
and scale their businesses.

PATTERN
empowers sellers to easily
build a custom website

SHOP MANAGER
acts as a centralized hub
for creative entrepreneurs

ETSY PAYMENTS*
enables sellers to offer buyers
a wide range
a ge of
o payment
pay e t options
opt o s

*Previously known as “Direct Checkout”

TECHNOLOGY
Our platform is supported by world-class
technology. Investing in our infrastructure
and our capabilities allows us to create
a joyful shopping experience for buyers
and helps sellers reach their business goals.

SHAPING A POSITIVE FUTURE
FOR BUSINESS
Our business is fueled by a commitment
to our values and steadfast belief that
business can and should be used as a force
for good. This ethos can be seen in our selleraligned business model, our sustainability
initiatives, our efforts to advocate on behalf
of microentrepreneurs, and our commitment
to nurturing a diverse and inclusive
workplace culture.

2016
Highlights
Track record
of growth

Gross merchandise sales

$365M

$2.84B
$2.39B

Solid performance
across our key metrics.

Revenue

$1.93B

30.4%

29.8%

$273M
$196M

30.9%

69.1%

2014

2

70.2%

69.6%

2015

2016

2

2014

Up 19% in 2016 vs. 2015

2015

2016

Up 33% in 2016 vs. 2015

International GMS
Domestic GMS

Our vibrant
community
People buying and selling
in nearly every country
in the world.

Healthy market
activity
1.7M active sellers*

We recorded conversion
rate gains across desktop,
mobile web, and mobile app
in every quarter of 2016.

64% of total visits and
48% total GMS came
from a mobile device

*As of December 31, 2016

28.6M active buyers*

Seller services
adoption

Etsy Payments*
45.5% of
active sellers

Promoted listings
15.9% of
active sellers

In 2016, 51.7% of active
sellers used at least
one of our services.
*Previously known
as “Direct Checkout”
**Includes 8 months of paid seller
activity since the launch of this
service in April 2016

Shipping labels
26.3% of U.S.
and Canada
active sellers

Pattern
2.5% of
active sellers**

To the Etsy community

First, a thank you to our amazing community of sellers, employees,
partners, and shareholders. Together you helped make 2016 a year
of growth and evolution here at Etsy. We are driven by our mission to
reimagine commerce in ways that build a more fulfilling and lasting
world. The products and services we have built, the community we
have fostered, and the success we have seen are testaments to the
strength of our vision and the opportunity that lies ahead of us.
There’s no clearer picture of Etsy’s impact on our global community
and our sellers’ collective success than our strong 2016 results.
Here are some key highlights:
• Gross merchandise sales grew by 19% year-over-year to $2.84 billion,
with 30% of sales involving a buyer and/or seller outside of the US.
• Revenue rose by 33% year-over-year to a total of $365 million.
• Our active seller community grew to 1.7 million and the active buyer
community grew to 28.6 million.
• We had several successful product launches including a new seller
service, Pattern by Etsy, Google Shopping, and a partnership with Intuit.
• We laid the groundwork for big steps forward in 2017 with Etsy Studio
and Shop Manager, leveraging our platform investments in search,
payments, machine learning, and marketing services.
The Etsy Economy
We are enabling a new economy, one that’s powered by the independent
spirit of millions of sellers. Etsy is offering individuals the option to make
a living and live a life that’s built around human connection and creativity.
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That’s the platform we’re creating and that’s what the Etsy Economy looks
like. For many, Etsy is not just a creative outlet, it’s an additional income
stream. In fact, for around one-third of our sellers, their shop is their fulltime job. Together, we’ve turned those kitchens and workshops into the
modern day versions of Silicon Valley startup garages.
We’re able to offer sellers this financial freedom and flexibility by building
tools and services that help them start, manage, and scale their shops; by
investing in core technologies to improve their experience and increase
sales; by launching our first-ever brand marketing programs; and by
advocating for government policies that address key challenges our
sellers face.
An everyday destination
Etsy has a devoted base of buyers, many of whom rely on our markets
for special occasion purchases. With over 45 million products spanning
more than 50 retail categories, we see a significant opportunity in
shifting the perception of Etsy from special occasions to an everyday
shopping destination for new and existing buyers.
Using findings from our brand research, in late 2016, we launched our
first global brand marketing campaign called Difference Makes Us, which
focused on celebrating the expression of individuality that shopping
on Etsy makes possible. We’ve begun to make progress in shifting
perceptions, and are planning to expand our marketing programs and
product initiatives in 2017 and beyond.
Another way that we’re addressing perceptions is through improvements
to our search and recommendation technologies. Finding the right item
quickly, coupled with smart recommendations, are core to a great buying
experience. In 2016, Etsy’s search and discovery expertise received a
significant boost thanks to our acquisition of Blackbird Technologies,
a San Francisco-based artificial intelligence and machine learning
company. In 2017, our buyers will see major improvements to Etsy’s
search experience, which we expect will have a positive impact on
buyer behavior.
Seller Services
In 2011, we launched our first seller service. Since then, we have worked
together with our community of Etsy sellers to understand the challenges
they face when running their businesses. Our goal has been to build
services that directly address these needs and allow sellers to spend
more time doing what they love. This approach has proven successful.
Five years later, services revenue accounts for around 55% of our total
revenue. Our long-term vision for our seller services is even greater.
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We’re taking Etsy from being known solely as the go-to market to sell
creative products to also becoming the go-to platform for creative
entrepreneurs to start, manage, and scale creative businesses.
We made significant strides in 2016 by launching Pattern by Etsy, our
new website builder that allows sellers to create customized branded
shopping experiences while still using Etsy’s underlying infrastructure;
and also launching our Google Shopping Ads tool, which makes it easy
for sellers to run Google ad campaigns and reach new online audiences.
These useful tools are a great addition to our suite of offerings, all designed
to help sellers succeed.
In early 2017, we launched Shop Manager, which gives sellers a holistic
view of their shops alongside every available Etsy tool, service, and
resource. This new dashboard brings critical daily tasks together,
including order management, conversations with buyers, stats, and
the ability to activate relevant seller services. It also enables sellers to
manage multiple shops and other Etsy-owned channels from a single
location. Shop Manager demonstrates that by focusing on seller needs,
we have created a robust platform capable of centrally-managing an
entire creative business.
Building Beyond Etsy.com
All of our work improving Etsy’s tools and services, and bringing them
together in Shop Manager, set the stage for a major new effort: launching
an entirely new market, Etsy Studio, in Spring 2017.
Etsy Studio is a craft supplies market built around the joy of making.
1 Source: Association for
Creative Industries—
2016 Creative Products
Size of the Industry Study.

The craft supplies category is approximately $44 billion in the US alone.1
Most of these transactions are happening offline in big-box stores,
which means the category is ripe for disruption. We see a tremendous
opportunity in bringing our expertise, design aesthetic, values, and our
vast offering of approximately eight million craft supply items to new
and existing buyers.
To make Etsy Studio possible, Etsy’s product and engineering teams
improved our inventory management capabilities, introduced structured
data, and launched major enhancements to the checkout process—all of
which benefits the entire Etsy community. Over the long-term, we believe
Etsy Studio will increase Etsy’s addressable market and also bring in new
buyers, allowing craft supply sellers to reach a larger global audience.
Global Growth
We have made important progress in our initiative to grow local markets
globally. Our mission to reimagine commerce is about both global
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connection and local impact. International GMS grew from 29.8%
of total GMS in 2015 to 30.4% in 2016. GMS between international
buyers and sellers located in the same country was our fastest growing
GMS category in 2016. We see this as evidence of the importance
of our continued investment in international markets. This work helps
international shoppers support sellers within their regions, and expand
their local economies.
Driven by Values
We’re energized by our results in 2016 because they demonstrate that
healthy growth can be coupled with a firm grounding in values. In our
view, a truly sustainable business is one that respects people, planet,
and profit. We strive to weave this values-aligned thinking into every
aspect of our business. To turn this into reality, in 2016 we created a new
internal team called Values Aligned Business. This team’s mandate is to
ensure that Etsy’s mission, values, and impact goals are embedded in all
aspects of our culture, products, services, business, and leadership.
Looking Forward
Our work in 2016 shows our continued commitment to being the global
destination for anyone looking to start, manage, and scale a creative
business. With just $0.20 and an idea, an Etsy seller can list an item that
reaches a global audience of nearly 30 million active buyers.
Our strategy for 2017 builds on our 2016 momentum. For our markets,
our goal is to create the best shopping experience for anyone looking
to buy creative goods. For our seller services, our goal is to allow sellers
to leverage the tools and services we offer wherever they choose to
sell their products, transforming Etsy into a central hub for their entire
creative business. This is our way of helping sellers succeed by
maximizing the economic opportunity of their creative endeavors.
I’m incredibly grateful to our supportive community and the team here
at Etsy. Our success in 2016 demonstrates that our business and the Etsy
Economy is vibrant and growing. It shows that our work helps creative
entrepreneurs turn their passions into real businesses. And it proves that
values and business can co-exist.
Onward,

Chad
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Unless the context otherwise requires, we use the terms “Etsy,” the “Compa
m ny,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K, or Annual Report,
r
to refer to Etsy, Inc. and, where appropria
r te, our consolidated subsidiaries.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key
K Operating and Financial Metric
r s” for the definitions of
the following terms used in this Annual Report: “active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,” “interna
r tional GMS,” “mobile visits” and
“mobile GMS.”
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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD
R -LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report
r on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements include
information related to our possible or assumed future results of operations and expenses, our outlook, our mission, business strategies and plans, business
environment, market size, product capabilities and release timing and future growth
w . Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historic
r al
facts. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,”
“may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “proje
o cts,” “seeks,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance and involve known
w and unknown
w risks, uncerta
r inties and other factors that may cause our
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or impl
m ied by the
forward-looking statements. Those risks include those described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report.
r Given these uncerta
r inties, you should read
this report
r in its entirety and not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K.
Moreover, we operate in a competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncerta
r inties emerge
r from time to time and it is not possible for us
to predict all risks and uncerta
r inties that could have an impa
m ct on the forward-looking statements made in this report.
r In light of these risks, uncerta
r inties and
assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this report
r may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those
anticipated or impl
m ied in the forwa
r rd-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements represent our beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this report. We disclaim any obligation to update forward-looking
statements.
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PART
A
I.
Item 1. Business.

Overview
Etsy offe
f rs markets, services and technology that empow
m
er creative entrepreneurs and shape a positive future for business. Our mission is to reimagine
commerce in ways that build a more fulfillin
f
g and lasting world. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, our platform connected 1.7 million active Etsy sellers and 28.6
million active Etsy buyers, in nearly every
r country in the world.
We believe we are creating a new economy, which we call the “Etsy Economy.” The Etsy Economy is where creative entrepreneurs find meaningful
f work
r and
access to both global and local markets for their goods, and where thoughtful consumers discover and buy unique goods and build connections with the
people who sell them. Our community is made up of these creative entrepreneurs and thoughtful consumers as well as the Etsy empl
m oyees who maintain our
platform and build innovative technology, the retailers who participate in our Etsy Wholesale offe
f ring, the production partners who offe
f r manufact
f uring
assistance to Etsy sellers and the shareholders who have invested in our commitment to our mission.
Supportin
r g creative entrepreneurs is the heart
r and soul of Etsy. We have a seller-aligned business model: we make money when our Etsy sellers make money,
so we continue to invest in building the platform they depend on.
Our markets provide creative entrepreneurs with access to thoughtful consumers around the world. Buyers come to Etsy.com to find what they are looking for
among nearly 45 million unique items across more than 50 retail categories. We also offe
f r a wide range of Seller Services and tools that are specific
f ally
designed to help creative entrepreneurs start,
r manage and scale their businesses.
In 2016, Etsy sellers generated Gross Merchandise Sales (“GMS”) of $2.8 billion, of which approximately 48% came from purchases made on mobile devices.
We are a global company and 30.4% of our 2016 GMS came from an Etsy seller or an Etsy buyer outside of the United States.
Our revenue is diversifie
f d, generated from a mix of market activities and the Seller Services we provide to Etsy sellers to help them start,
r manage and scale
their businesses. Our largest market is Etsy.com. In 2017, we plan to launch a dedicated craft
f supplies market called Etsy Studio. We also own
w A Little
Market, or ALM, a handmade and supplies market for sellers and buyers in France. Markets revenue is primarily made up of two components: the 3.5%
transaction fee an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction on Etsy.com and the $0.20 listing fee she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Seller
Services revenue includes the fees Etsy sellers pay us for services, which include Direct Checkout, our payment processing service; Promoted Listings, our ad
service for prominent placement in on-site search results; Shipping Labels, which allow Etsy sellers to directly purchase shipping labels through our
platform; and Pattern by Etsy, launched in April 2016, which enables Etsy sellers to easily create their own
w custom website. Other revenue typically includes
revenue generated from commercial partnerships.
Etsy was founded in June 2005 in Brooklyn, New York.
r On April 21, 2015, we completed our initial public offe
f ring (the “IPO”) and our common stock is
listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “ETSY.”

Values and Impact
At Etsy, values are not a nice-to-have; they’re an integral part of how we do business. We work hard to ensure that our values guide our decision making and
are integrated into every
r aspect of our business and operations. Our values help drive our business forward as a force for good and help us build the Etsy
Economy.
We believe that a growing numbe
m r of consumers consider the environmental and social impa
m ct of their purchases. We also believe that consumers will
demand more of the businesses they support
r and that the companies best positioned to succeed will build win-win solutions that are good for people, the
planet and profit.
f As such, we believe that values and impa
m ct alignment is critical to growing our business sustainably and positioning us for success in the
future.
In 2016, we formed our Values Aligned Business (“VAB”) team, whose mandate is to ensure that Etsy’s mission, values and impa
m ct goals are embe
m dded in all
aspects of our culture, products, services, business and leadership. The VAB team is conducting a review process to ensure that our values continue to live up
to these ideals. We are committed to the spirit of our
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current values as we focus on ways to deepen our impa
m ct and continue to: incorporate and build human connection in commerce, act with courage, serve our
community, be accountable and driv
r e diversity and inclusion.
We are a mindfu
d l,
l transpar
s ent and humane business. We believe that business interests and social and environmental responsibility are interwoven and
aligned and that the power of business should be used to strengthen communities and empow
m
er people. To demonstrate our commitment, we monitor our
effo
f rts to minimize the harm and maximize the benefit that we have on people and the planet and then publish an annual Progress Report
r to publicly report
our results.
We plan and build for the long term. We want to build a company that lasts, and we plan to measure our success in years and decades. Etsy sellers in
particular depend on us and on our platform to grow their businesses, so we will strive to make decisions that are best for the long-term health of our
ecosystem. Our ecosystem consists of Etsy and the people and communities around the world who benefit from our platform.
We value crafts
f manship
i in all we make. Crafts
f manship is the marriage of skill and passion. We are an engineerin
r g-driv
r en company, and we think of our code
as craft:
f we are makers of the products and services that members of our community use, and we approach the work we do with the same care and inspiration
as do Etsy sellers.
We believe fun should be part of everyt
r hing we do. Our mission includes fosterin
r g a world in which personal fulfillm
f
ent and purpos
r e is a key element of
success. We believe that this way of working is connected and joyful
f .
We keep it real,
l always
a . We have the courage and the will to do business in ways that are unconventional and impa
m ctful. When we believe that we are not
being true
r to our values or our mission, we are not afra
f id to change course.
We are also dedicated to creating a net positive environmental, social and economic impa
m ct through our business. For exampl
m e, in 2016 we established our
goal of running Etsy.com as a carbon
r
neutral market. We took steps toward this aspiration with the launch of Etsy Solar, a program which helps our seller
community in the United States go solar and creates carbon
r
offs
f ets for our Etsy.com market. We also committed to power our offi
f ces and data centers with
100% renewable electricity by 2020 and currently have onsite solar at our Brooklyn and Hudson (New York) offi
f ces.

Our Community
Our community includes Etsy sellers, Etsy buyers, Etsy empl
m oyees, our partners and investors.
Etsy Sellers: Creative Entrepreneurs
Etsy sellers join our community to participate in our vibrant markets to express their creativity and turn their passion into a business while connecting to
thoughtful consumers around the world. As of December 31, 2016, there were 1.7 million active sellers on our platform, 15.2% of which have been selling on
Etsy.com for more than four years.

1.7M active sellers

31.5% of 2013 active

87% of sellers identify

73% consider their

as of Dec 31, 2016

sellers are still active

as women

shop a business

as of Dec 31, 2016

2016 seller survey

2016 seller survey

Etsy Sellers
r
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We support
r a diverse group of artis
r ts, makers, designers and collectors from around the world—from the solo artis
r an to the full-time jewelry
r maker with staff;
f
from the antique furniture collector to the textile graphic designer partnering with a small-batch manufact
f urer.
We survey our sellers every
r two years and in November 2016, we conducted a survey of Etsy sellers who made a sale in the preceding 12 months. The 2016
seller survey, which included responses from 5,000 sellers, reveals a unique population of creative entrepreneurs who are building businesses on their own
w
terms—pr
— rio ritizing flexibility, independence and creativity. Digital platforms and mobile devices make it increasingly easy for these entrepreneurs to reach a
global audience and for them to conduct business whenever and from wherever they'd like. Etsy sellers range from hobbyists to profes
f sional merchants, and
have a broad range of personal and profes
f sional goals. The 2016 seller survey showed some Etsy sellers are looking for extra pocket money, while others
depend on their shops to support themselves and their families. According to our 2016 seller survey, among Etsy sellers:
•

87% identify
f as women;

•

73% consider their Etsy shop to be a business;

•

33% use their creative business as their sole occupation;

•

97% run their shops from their homes;

•

81% aspire to grow their sales in the future; and

•

62% starte
r d their Etsy shop as a way to supplement income.

Etsy Buyers: Thoughtful Consumers
Etsy buyers visit Etsy.com to discover a broad selection of unique goods that are hard to find elsewhere, with items ranging from a $5 orna
r ment, to a $50
hand-knit sweater, to a $2,000 custom-made table. In a 2016 survey of Etsy.com buyers, 91% agreed that Etsy offe
f rs products they cannot find elsewhere. We
believe many Etsy buyers are motivated by more than simply price and convenience; we believe they also value crafts
f manship, artis
r try,
r uniqueness,
authenticity and sustainability. In our markets, Etsy buyers can enjo
n y a personalized shopping experience and build relationships through direct interactions
with Etsy sellers. Etsy buyers can also purchase customized items, bespoke goods or unique and unexpected craft supplies from Etsy sellers. By buying in our
markets, Etsy buyers are supportin
r g creative entrepreneurs in their local communities and around the world. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, there were 28.6 million
active buyers on our platform.
Etsy Employees
We too are members of our community. Whether draftin
f g our policies, talking with Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers in our online forums, enhancing search
functionality to help buyers better find what they're looking for or building new services and tools that help sellers start,
r manage and scale their businesses,
our empl
m oyees create genuine and lasting connections in our community. Etsy empl
m oyees build personal relationships with Etsy sellers by visiting their
shops, inviting them to our offi
f ces for lunch or celebrating with them at in-person events. In addition, our empl
m oyees, including management, are encouraged
to perfor
f rm support
r rotations to foster connections with Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and to help us better understand their needs.
We pride ourselves on our values-based and purpos
r e-driven work
r culture. We focus on maximizing our empl
m oyees’ profes
f sional and personal well-being. We
evaluate empl
m oyee performance on traditional business metrics and on adherence to our mission and values.
We believe empl
m oyee engagement comes from fulfillin
f
g work focused on serving the needs of our sellers and buyers and from ampl
m e personal and
profes
f sional growth
w opportu
r nities. We invest heavily in empl
m oyee development by offe
f ring coaching, skills works
r hops and training. We actively encourage
personal education through arts
r and crafts
f works
r hops and empl
m oyee-taught classes called “Etsy School,” covering subjects ranging from screen printing to
Python programming. We also offe
f r our empl
m oyees paid time off
f to volunteer so that they can support
r the causes and organizations they are passionate about.
In 2016, we introduced a 26-week gender-blind parental leave policy that is available to all Etsy empl
m oyees globally. Through this policy we aim to support
r
and enable parents to play equal roles in building successful
f companies and nurtu
r ring their families. Fortune magazine has recognized us as a great place to
work every
r year since 2013.
Etsy engineering is widely known
w for its thought-leading approaches to software development as well as its unique engineering culture. Our engineering
team coined the phrase “Code as Craft”
f to describe our love for building software and our melding of
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engineering discipline and individual crafts
f manship. We believe our engineers have the skills, practices and experience needed to embr
m ace the change the
future inevitably brings.
As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, we had 1,043 empl
m oyees worldwide, with 648 in our offi
f ces in Brooklyn, New York.
r Of those empl
m oyees, we had 319 in
engineering, 124 in product, 187 in membe
m r operations, 276 in corporate and 137 in marketing.
We believe that a diverse workf
r force makes us a better company, and we strive to create opportu
r nities for underrepresented groups to join, thrive and advance
at Etsy. For exampl
m e, we proactively work and recrui
r t to impr
m ove the gender balance at all levels of our company. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, 56% of
empl
m oyees identifie
f d as female. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, 58% of managers and 36% of product, engineering and technical operations empl
m oyees identifie
f d
as female. We are committed to impr
m oving the diversity within our workforce, and we publish an annual Progress Report
r that details our progress toward this
goal.
Our Partners
Our community also includes retailers who participate in our Etsy Wholesale offe
f ring and production partners who assist Etsy sellers who want to scale their
businesses through our Etsy Manufact
f uring offe
f ring. Within Etsy Wholesale, retailers, nearly all of which are local boutiques, use our platform
r to connect
directly with Etsy sellers and to add unique and distinctive items to their store offe
f rings. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, there were 25,000 retailers on the
platform. Etsy Manufact
f uring helps Etsy sellers who want to grow their business and connect directly with production partners. For exampl
m e, an Etsy seller
might work
r with a cut-and-sew shop to make clothes she has designed, a casting house that casts wax models for her jewelry
r designs or a digital printer that
prints her photographs on household items.
Investors
We consider investors impor
m rtant stakeholders in our business. We strive to maintain transparent and open communications with the investment community,
as appropriate, and appreciate those who support
r and believe in our long-term mission to reimagine commerce.

Our Opportunity
We believe that the nature of commerce is changing: people are choosing to purchase goods online or from a mobile device, consumers are looking for
unique items rather than mass produced goods and more people than ever are seeking empl
m oyment outside of the traditional nine-to-five workplace. We
believe that these trends create a strong, long-term market opportu
r nity for Etsy allowing us to continue to expand our markets globally by attracting buyers
who want something different than a conventional, mass-produced retail shopping experience and sellers who are engaging in their creative passion, worki
r ng
for themselves and defining success on their own
w terms.
The retail landscape continues to change as more people around the world choose to purchase goods online or from a mobile device. eMarke
r ter, a market
research company, estimated that worldwide retail ecommerce sales were $2 trillion in 2016, up from $1.5 trillion in 2015. They expect worldwide retail
ecommerce to generate double-digit growth
w each year through 2020, and sales to reach $4 trillion by the end of the four-year period. (Source: eMarke
r ter Worldwide Retail Ecommerce Sales: The eMarke
r ter Forecast for 2016.) Whereas most large retailers emph
m asize effi
f ciency and scale and pressure their
suppliers to reduce their costs in order to offe
f r goods produced at volume at the lowest-possible prices, our approach to commerce is fundamentally different
and based on human connections. We believe that many consumers want to purchase goods that are unique and that reflect their personality and style, not
simply mass-produced, generic goods. Finding these goods can be difficult, as markets for such goods have historically been highly fragmented across
boutiques, consignment stores and other venues and marketplaces. Etsy sellers offe
f r goods in over 50 retail categories, including furniture, jewelry,
r
stationery, clothing, home goods, craft
f supplies and vintage items.
Two of our largest opportu
r nities are to raise awareness among potential and existing buyers about the breadth and depth of items available on Etsy.com and
to encourage them to make more frequent purchases. Given the more than 50 retail categories in which Etsy sellers have offe
f rings, we believe we can
establish Etsy.com as a shopping destination not just for gifts and special occasions, but also for goods buyers use in their everyda
r
y lives. We also believe
that this perception shift
f and our effo
f rts to make the shopping experience easier for Etsy buyers through technological enhancements to our capabilities in
areas such as search and recommendations will encourage buyers to make more frequent purchases in our markets. In addition, we believe that our new
market, Etsy Studio, will help us serve our craft
f supplies sellers better and reach a broader audience of craft
f supplies buyers around the world. According to
the Association for Creative Industries, creative products is an approximately
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$44 billion market in the United States. However, the vast majo
a rity of sales currently take place offl
f ine (Source: Association for Creative Industrie
r s - 2016
Creative Products Size of the Industry Study.) Etsy Studio offe
f rs a differentiated buyer experience that combines shopping and inspiration in one destination,
which we believe creates a unique online opportunity for Etsy within this large addressable market.
The nature of work also continues to shift
f and more people than ever are choosing empl
m oyment outside of traditional nine-to-five jobs. According to a
McKinsey Global Institute study (the “Mckinsey Study”), 20-30% of the working-age population, or up to 162 million people, currently engage in
independent work in the U.S. and E.U.-15. The McKinsey Study notes that 30-45% of the working-age population in these countries say they would like to
earn
r either prim
r ary
r or supplemental income through independent work and consider themselves at least somewhat likely to pursue the option, impl
m ying the
numbe
m r of independent workers in the U.S. and the E.U.-15 could grow to up to 267 million. (Source: McKinsey Global Institute - Independent work: Choice,
Necessity, and the Gig Economy.) We believe that our base of Etsy sellers reflects these changing dynamics. Active sellers on Etsy grew at 18% CAGR
between 2013 and 2016 as more and more people chose to start
r a business. Additionally, our 2016 seller survey found that 33% of sellers in our markets have
their creative business as their sole occupation, compared to 30% in our 2014 seller survey, reflecting an increasing numbe
m r of people that are choosing to
focus on independent work full time. As more and more people around the world choose to pursue their passions, we are focused on providing creative
entrepreneurs with a global base of millions of buyers and a cohesive suite of services and tools specific
f ally designed to support
r them as they start,
r manage
and scale their businesses.

Our Platform
Etsy leverages technology to connect people around the world through commerce. Our platform includes our markets, our services and our technology, which
help foster a loyal, engaged community of sellers and buyers. Our commitment to transparency and integrity
r underpins our platform and establishes trus
r t
within our markets and our community.

MARKETS

SELLER SERVICES

TECHNOLOGY

COMMUNITY

Key Components of Our Platform

Our Markets
Our markets offe
f r an engaging way for an Etsy buyer to find millions of unique handmade and vintage goods as well as craft
f supplies.
Launched in 2005, Etsy.com is our largest market and it supports people buying and selling in nearly
r every
r country in the world. It offe
f rs buyers nearly
r 45
million unique listings of handmade and vintage goods and craft
f supplies. We believe that that the breadth and depth of the items available help to position
Etsy.com as a go-to shopping destination for more than just special occasions. We plan to launch Etsy Studio in 2017, which will serve as a dedicated craft
f
supplies market. We believe our ability to leverage our prio
r r investments in Etsy.com, including search technology, payments, advertising and shipping, to
launch and scale Etsy Studio will give us a competitive advantage in this market and any other markets we may launch. We also own
w ALM, a handmade and
supplies market for sellers and buyers in France.
To help Etsy buyers discover and purchase items that they love, we focus on providing a numbe
m r of tools and features within our Etsy.com market:
•

Personalized search and discovery.
r Our platform is engineered to provide a personalized experience to each Etsy buyer, adju
d sting in real time based
on her interactions within it. An Etsy buyer may search for an item using our search tool bar and filter the results by color, pric
r e, location or other
characteris
r tics. Additionally, she may browse through items, creating an activity feed by “fav
f orit
r ing” items that catch her eye and by following
shops and tastemakers. We glean insights from Etsy buyers’ purchases and other interactions within our platform through our machine learni
r ng
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algorith
r ms, cookies and other techniques. Knowing and understanding each buyer's individual tastes and interests allows us to personalize each
experience, whether a buyer comes to simply browse our site or app or to search for specific
f items. Impr
m ovements that we made to search in 2015
enable buyers to more easily browse, filter for and buy that perfect item, particularly
r on a mobile device, even when they do not have a specific item
in mind. In 2016, we made additional enhancements to search and acquired Blackbird Technologies, Inc., or Blackbird, a priv
r ately-held company
that had developed proprie
r tary machine learni
r ng technology to deliver superior search relevance and recommendations. We believe we have several
opportu
r nities to further enhance our search capabilities and plan to leverage our technology to power a range of search capabilities including more
personalized search, ranking, spelling correction and predictive type-ahead to deliver a personalized shopping experience.
•

Connected experience across all devices—mobile and desktop.
o We want to engage Etsy buyers wherever they are and to provide an enjo
n yable and
accessible shopping experience no matter how they come to Etsy. Our Etsy.com website and iOS and Android mobile apps include search and
discovery, curation, personalization and social shopping features. We offe
f r a connected experience through each channel, desktop, mobile web, and
mobile app, ensuring that no matter what device she uses she will have the best possible experience. To optimize our mobile experience, we use
deep linking to automatically transition Etsy buyers from mobile web to the mobile app when they encounter a link to an Etsy shop or item. Buyers
can sign-up and sign-in to Etsy through Facebook and Google and our payment and digital wallet options include Apple Pay, Google Wallet and
others. Our mobile apps have been downl
w oaded approximately 41 million times as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016.

•

Global reach combined with local scale. There are people using our platform to buy and sell in nearly
r every
r country in the world. Our platform
makes it easy for Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers to connect across borders even if they do not speak the same language and wish to transact in different
currencies. We use innovative machine translation technology to translate listings, reviews, product ads, and conversations between Etsy buyers and
Etsy sellers. Our payments platform makes it easy for Etsy sellers to offe
f r Etsy buyers a wide range of payment options. In addition to providing
buyers with access to global inventory,
r we are also building local communities and fosterin
r g local connections. For exampl
m e, our localized search
feature, which is available in the U.K., Australia, France, and Germany, surfaces local items more prominently in search results so that buyers can
easily connect with and purchase from sellers within their respective countries. In 2016, 33.3% of Etsy sellers were located outside the United States,
and 30.4% of our GMS involved an Etsy seller or Etsy buyer outside of the United States.

•

Direct communication between sellers and buyers.
r We believe human connection is central to Etsy buyers’ engagement. Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers
use the Conversations tool on our platform to communicate, person to person, about their orders, to request custom goods or personalization of
goods or simply to have a conversation about the product or the process. In 2016, 56% of our active buyers sent or received a conversation and 67%
of active sellers sent or received a conversation using our Conversations tool. In addition to our Conversations tool, we encourage engagement
between Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers in a variety of ways, whether it be through sharin
r g reviews on social media or connecting offl
f ine through the
Etsy Local feature on our mobile app.
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Our Services
Our platform makes it easy for an Etsy seller to open a shop and operate her business. According to our 2016 seller survey, for every
r hour that an Etsy seller
spends making her products, she spends almost another hour doing business-related tasks, including inventory
r management, marketing, shipping, customer
service and accounting.
Inventory Management

Making

Marketing
Shipping
Communications
Accounting
Other

How an Etsy Seller Spends Her Time

We are creating a cohesive platform of Seller Services and tools that help Etsy sellers start,
r manage and scale their businesses. Our services platform includes
the following:
•

Seller Services. We offe
f r a variety of services to help Etsy sellers build their personal brands, engage potential customers and complete transactions.
We currently have four Seller Services, all of which were developed in-house:
•

Direct Checkout. Direct Checkout allows Etsy sellers to accept various forms of payment such as credit cards, debit cards, PayPal, Google
Wallet, Apple Pay and Etsy Gift Cards. Once an Etsy buyer makes payment, the Etsy seller receives the funds in her own
w bank account and
in her local currency. As of December 31, 2016, Direct Checkout was available in 36 countries and 12 currencies, compared to 22 countries
and 10 currencies as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015. During 2016, 45.5% of active sellers used Direct Checkout.

•

Promoted Listings. Promoted Listings enables Etsy sellers to pay a cost-per-click based fee to feature and promote their goods in search
results generated by Etsy buyers on our platform. This service allows Etsy sellers to target Etsy buyers who are specifically searching for
goods similar to those she offe
f rs for sale. During 2016, 15.9% of active sellers used Promoted Listings.

•

Shippi
i ng Labels. Shipping Labels allows Etsy sellers to purchase United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post shipping labels
through our platform with the appropria
r te amount of postage. The ability to prin
r t shipping labels at home reduces the cost and time it takes
Etsy sellers to ship goods to Etsy buyers globally. During 2016, 26.3% of active sellers in the United States and Canada used Shipping
Labels.

•

Pattern by Etsy
t . With Pattern, Etsy sellers can create their own
w custom websites in minutes through our platform. Pattern impor
m rts listings
and content from Etsy shops, syncs inventory
r and orders and utilizes our Direct Checkout and Shipping Label services. Since launching the
service in April 2016, we have continued to introduce new features and enhancements, including additional layouts and themes, new search
and image display options, guest checkout functionality and the ability for Pattern users to host a blog or send newsletters. Since the
launch, 2.5% of active sellers used Pattern (includes eight months of paid seller activity).
DIRECT CHECKOUT

45.5% of
active sellers

PROMOTED LISTINGS

15.9% of
active sellers

51.7% of active sellers
have used at least one
Seller Service

Use of Seller Services in 2016
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SHIPPING LABELS

26.3% of U.S.
and Canada
active sellers

PATTERN

2.5% of
active sellers*
*Includes 8 months of
paid seller activity
since the launch of this
service in April 2016

•

Seller Tools. In addition to our paid Seller Services, we provide a wide range of tools and features to support
r Etsy sellers run the administrative side of
their businesses, including marketing and taxes. For exampl
m e, our Google Shopping tool, which is complementary
r to our Promoted Listings service and
the Google advertising we do on behalf of Etsy sellers, enables Etsy sellers to reach a broader audience by advertising their listings in Google search
results. Through our partnership with Intuit, Etsy sellers in the United States and United Kingdom can simplify their accounting and bookkeeping by
seamlessly exportin
r g their Etsy.com sales and expenses to QuickBooks Self-E
f mployed. To easily monitor orders and track sales and analyze visits and
listings, Etsy sellers can use our online dashboard. Etsy sellers can also access analytics on the dashboard, on our website or on our “Sell on Etsy”
mobile app. Of our 2016 active sellers, 50.6% used the Sell on Etsy mobile app in 2016. In early
r 2017, we launched Shop Manager which will serve as a
centralized hub for Etsy sellers to track orders, manage inventory,
r view metric
r s and statistics and have conversations with their customers across all of
their Etsy shops. This tool makes it easier for creative entrepreneurs to run multi-channel businesses on Etsy and moves us closer to our long-term goal of
supporti
r ng Etsy sellers wherever they choose to pursue commerce.

•

Education. We provide extensive educational resources to teach Etsy sellers how to start,
r manage and scale their businesses on our platform, including
blog posts, video tutorials, the Etsy Seller Handbook (available on Etsy.com), Etsy.com online forums and insights from Etsy.com support
r teams. In
addition to our own
w educational resources, Etsy sellers connect through self-o
f rganized Etsy Teams to build supportiv
r e personal relationships with other
Etsy Sellers, collaborate, educate and support
r each other as they build their independent creative businesses.

Our Technology
Our widely respected engineerin
r g team has built a sophisticated platform
r that enables millions of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to smoothly transact across
borders, languages and devices. Our team is at the forefront of the software engineerin
r g practice of continuous deployment. We update the code that runs the
Etsy website as ofte
f n as every
r 20 minutes, and deploy code to various systems as ofte
f n as 70 times per day. To enhance the performance of our platform, we
collect and analyze a large volume of data. For exampl
m e, we currently capture more than one billion user-generated events every
r day to produce personalized
recommendations, impr
m ove our search experience and utilize A/B test features on our site.
Our use of machine learni
r ng algorith
r ms creates an engaging shopping experience and also helps Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers connect across our platform. We
apply proprie
r tary machine learni
r ng to the search and discovery process, enabling shoppers to more easily browse, filter for and buy that perfect
f item, even
when they may not have something specific in mind.
Machine translation and machine learni
r ng also play an impor
m rtant role in making it easy for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to connect even if they don’t speak
the same language. We translate listings within our Etsy.com market into 10 languages and plan to translate listings on Etsy Studio into several key
languages. Translating listings signific
f antly increases the inventory
r available to non-English speaking Etsy buyers and gives Etsy sellers access to a trul
r y
global audience. We also translate conversations and reviews and, in 2016, began to apply machine translation to Promoted Listings.
We are a mobile-first company, meaning mobile is integrated into everyt
r hing that we do. In recent years, we have focused on expanding our mobile
capabilities. We developed our “Sell on Etsy” mobile app to help the Etsy seller operate her shop and manage orders. Our mobile website and our “Buy on
Etsy” mobile app for Etsy buyers, which we developed to keep Etsy buyers engaged wherever they are, include search, discovery,
r curation, personalization
and social shopping features, optimized for the mobile experience.
For the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, approximately 64% of our visits and approximately 48% of our GMS were generated on a mobile device. This is a
solid impr
m ovement compared with 2015, durin
r g which 60% of our visits and 43% of our GMS were generated on a mobile device. We are focused on
continuing to narrow the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS.
Our Passionate, Engaged and Loyal Etsy Sellers and Etsy Buyers
Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are passionate, engaged and loyal—not
—
only to us, but to each other—bu
— ilding a strong community.
•

Our active sellers and active buyers remain so for multiple years. For exampl
m e, 32.3% of active sellers and 42.5% of active buyers as of December 31,
2012 continued to be active sellers and active buyers through their fourth
r year on the platform and 31.5% of active sellers and 41.1% of active buyers
as of Decembe
m r 31, 2013 continued to be active sellers and active buyers through their fourth
r year on the platform. In addition, as of Decembe
m r 31,
2016, 15.2% of active sellers

10

have been selling on Etsy for more than four years. Likewise, as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, 17.4% of active buyers have been Etsy buyers for more than
four years.
•

Repeat purchases demonstrate the loyalty of Etsy buyers. In 2016, approximately 41.0% of our active buyers made purchases on two or more days in
the previous 12 months, up from 40.6% in 2015.

•

Unl
U ike many other online commerce companies, the vast majo
a rity of visits come to Etsy from orga
r nic or direct sources. In 2016, 88% of visits came to
Etsy.com from direct, orga
r nic or email sources. A visit represents activity from a unique browser or mobile app. A visit ends afte
f r 30 minutes of
inactivity.

•

Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers engage with each other ofte
f n. In 2016 56% of our active buyers sent or received a conversation and 67% of active sellers
sent or received a conversation using our Conversations tool. As of December 31, 2016, approximately 20.1% of active sellers belong to a selff
orga
r nized Etsy Team, developing supportiv
r e personal relationships with other Etsy sellers as they build their independent creative businesses.
Currently, nearly
r 14,000 Etsy Teams have formed around the world.

•

Ensurin
r g that buyers can find and purchase the exact items they are looking for each time they come to Etsy is an impor
m rtant part of fosterin
r g
engagement and loyalty. In 2016, conversion rates increased across desktop, mobile web and mobile app compared to 2015, demonstrating our ability
to continuously optimize the shopping experience.

The passion and loyalty demonstrated by Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers is the foundation for the continued growth
w and current scale of our platform. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Factors Affe
f cting Our Performance—Growth
w and Retention
of Active Sellers and Active Buyers” for more information.
30M

Multiple
Purchase Days
One
Purchase Day

ACTIVE BUYERS

22.5M

41%
15M

41%
40%
39%

7.5M
39%
40%
60%

0M
2011

61%
2012

61%
2013
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2014

Active Buyers
r by Purchase Type
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Commitment to Integrity and Transparency
Members of our community rely on us to maintain trus
r ted markets. Our policies are designed to encourage transparency and clearly outline the rights and
responsibilities of Etsy sellers, Etsy buyers, Etsy Wholesale partners and production partners participating on our platform. Most fundamentally, we require
that goods listed in our markets be handmade, vintage or craft
f supplies. In 2017, we clarifie
f d our policies on Etsy.com to make it easier for sellers and buyers
around the world to understand how we define handmade.
Transparency within our community helps to support
r our trus
r tworth
r iness. For exampl
m e, we publish an annual Progress Report
r that details progress toward our
ideals and shares our hopes for the years to come. We also publish an annual Transparency Report,
r which, among other things, describes the steps we take
when items that do not meet our guidelines are listed on Etsy.com, or when listed items are alleged to infringe third party rights. In 2016, we closed 4,525
Etsy.com shops that were subject to repeat notices of intellectual property infringement and closed 263,315 Etsy.com accounts for non-IP policy violations.
We strive to give the Etsy buyer comfor
f rt that she is purchasing unique goods from a shop that adheres to certa
r in principles. Etsy buyers have a high degree of
insight into Etsy sellers’ business practices. Our policies ask Etsy sellers to be transparent about themselves, their businesses and the goods they sell. We also
have dedicated teams and sophisticated tools to help enforce our policies. For exampl
m e, our Integrity team uses a combination of machine learni
r ng,
automated systems and community-generated flags to review items and shops that may violate our policies. Our Trus
r t and Safety team helps to prevent and
detect fraud through human review and automated tools and algorithms.We also recognize that sometimes transactions don’t go as planned. When that
happens, our online Case System provides a way for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to communicate with each other to resolve disputes.
We also establish trus
r t by empha
m
sizing the person behind every
r transaction. We deepen connections between Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers through our direct
communication tools, seller stories on our website and apps and in-person events, highlighting personal relationships as a key part of the Etsy experience. For
exampl
m e, Etsy sellers are encouraged to share their storie
r s to reach Etsy buyers on our platform and on social media. The trus
r tworth
r iness of Etsy.com and the
connections among people in our community are cornerstones of our business.
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Our Strategy: The Path Ahead
Our seller-aligned business model means that we succeed when our sellers succeed. We are focused on helping sellers grow their sales within our markets and
building a cohesive services platform to help them start,
r manage and scale their businesses.
Our Markets
The power of human connection is central to the Etsy experience and we connect creative entrepreneurs to thoughtful consumers around the world. We
continue to nurtu
r re Etsy.com and are also launching Etsy Studio to better serve craft
f supplies sellers and to broaden our reach to craft
f supplies buyers around
the world. We want to create the best shopping experience for Etsy buyers. Our markets strategy is to expand our overall base of buyers and driv
r e frequency
with existing buyers. We plan to accomplish this strategy through three main initiatives:
•

Raise brand awareness of Etsy
t .com as an everyday shoppi
p ng destination: With nearly
r 45 million listings within Etsy.com, there are unique items
available for nearly
r every
r personality, style, occasion and budget. We are investing in initiatives to shape perceptions and highlight the breadth and
depth of items available. Over time, we believe that raising awareness of Etsy.com as a go-to shopping destination, not just for special occasions,
will help us attract a larger audience and also encourage existing buyers to make more frequent purchases. We launched our first global brand
marketing campa
m ign, called “Diffe
f rence Makes Us,” in Septembe
m r 2016 to showcase this positioning, and plan to increase this investment in
m igns to attract new craft
f supplies buyers to Etsy Studio in
marketing in the future. We also plan to invest in paid advertising and marketing campa
2017.

•

Mak
M e enhancements that encourage purchase frequency:
c We want to offe
f r an engaging way for Etsy buyers to discover and purchase Etsy sellers’
unique goods. We believe that making enhancements to personalized product recommendations for Etsy buyers and helping them to better find the
exact items they are looking for are our largest near-term
r opportunities. We are continuing our work to augment our existing capabilities within
search and recommendation on Etsy.com. We also make regular updates to our platform to impr
m ove the shopping experience and strengthen Etsy
buyer trus
r t, such as further optimizing the mobile experience and our payments platform. We recently launched multi-shop checkout on Etsy.com,
which gives Etsy buyers the ability to purchase items from more than one seller in a single transaction, and we plan to introduce guest checkout in
2017. We believe that all of these impr
m ovements together will support
r impr
m oving conversion rates and will ultimately enable us to increase buyer
frequency on Etsy.com.

•

Connect globally while continuing to scale locally:
l Our vision is global and local, and our platform supports
r Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers in nearly
r
every
r country in the world. Cross-border transactions are the largest component of international GMS and we remain committed to reducing barriers
such as language and currency so that sellers and buyers from different countries can easily connect and transact. We are also focused on building
and deepening local Etsy communities around the world, each with its own
w ecosystem of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. GMS generated between a
non-U.S. buyer and a non-U.S. seller both in the same country grew approximately 47% in 2016 compared with 2015, making it the fastest growing
category
r of international GMS. We plan to continue to invest in local marketing and content and other locally relevant tools and enhancements
around the world to encourage these connections.

We formerly
r referred to initiatives within our markets strategy as “Etsy Everyda
r
y” and “Build Local Marketplaces Globally.” The above initiatives reflect
these ongoing effo
f rts, but have been refined to better capture our evolving business opportu
r nities.
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Our Services
We continue to focus on offe
f ring high-impa
m ct services that enable Etsy sellers to start,
r manage and scale their businesses. We launched our first Seller Service
in late 2011 and in 2016 Seller Services represented $200.9 million, 55.0% of our revenue, a 47.0% increase over 2015. Seller Services revenue growth
w has
been driv
r en by service launches and enhancements that have allowed Etsy sellers to address the administrative tasks associated with running a business. For
exampl
m e, in 2016, we increased the numbe
m r of countries where Direct Checkout is available to 36 countries, up from 22 countries in 2015. We also made
FedEx and expedited United States Postal Service labels available through Shipping Labels, expanded the inventory
r available within Promoted Listings and
launched our custom website service, Pattern. We are building a cohesive suite of services and tools specifically designed to help Etsy sellers start,
r manage
and scale their businesses:
•

Start: According to our 2016 seller survey, more than half of Etsy sellers choose our markets as the first place to start
r their creative business. By
setting up a shop in our markets, an Etsy seller gains access to a global audience of 28.6 million active buyers looking for unique goods or craft
f
supplies. We offe
f r a wealth of educational resources and a variety of listing tools to make the process of startin
r g as intuitive as possible.
Additionally, our vibrant community, including our 14,000 Etsy Teams and active forums, serve as a unique source of support
r that new Etsy sellers
can turn to for advice and encouragement when startin
r g a creative business.

•

Manage: We want to make it easier for Etsy sellers to run their businesses so that they can devote more time to making or designing their goods. We
offe
f r a wide range of services and tools that help Etsy sellers more effe
f ctively manage their business, from payments to shipping to accounting and
taxes. For exampl
m e, services and tools such as Direct Checkout, Shipping Labels and our partnership with Intuit all reduce the amount of time that a
seller spends on time-consuming administrative tasks.

•

Scale: We want sellers to come to Etsy not only to access our global community of 28.6 million active buyers, but also because we offe
f r sales and
marketing opportunities that help them reach their business goals. Both Pattern and Etsy Wholesale are sales channels that Etsy sellers can use to
reach new audiences. Additionally, Promoted Listings and our Google Shopping tool serve as powerful marketing tools for Etsy sellers looking to
raise their profile
f on and off
f Etsy.com. We will continue to build each of these offe
f rings and look to expand our marketing offe
f rings into a suite of
marketing services and analytics tools that empow
m
er Etsy sellers to driv
r e and measure the growth
w of their businesses.

In 2017, we introduced Shop Manager, which enables Etsy sellers to access many of these tools and services along with all of their Etsy shops in one
convenient place. We believe that this moves us closer to our long term goal of becoming the central hub for creative entrepreneurs and supportin
r g them
wherever they choose to pursue commerce.

Competition
We compete for the Etsy seller with both retailers and companies that sell software to small businesses. An Etsy seller can list her goods for sale with online
retailers or sell her goods through local consignment and vintage stores and other venues and marketplaces, including through commerce channels on social
networks
r like Facebook and Instagram. She may also sell wholesale directly to traditional retailers, including large national retailers, who discover her goods
in our markets or otherwise. We also compete with companies that sell software and services to small businesses, enabling an Etsy seller to sell from her own
w
website or otherwise run her business independently of our platform.
r We are able to compete for Etsy sellers based on our brand awareness, the global scale of
our markets and the breadth of our online presence, the numbe
m r and engagement of Etsy buyers, our Seller Services, our seller education resources and tools,
our policies and fees, our mobile apps, the strength of our community and our values.
We also compete with retailers for the attention of the Etsy buyer. An Etsy buyer has the choice of shopping with any online or offl
f ine retailer, whether large
marketplaces or national retail chains or local consignment and vintage stores or other venues or marketplaces. We are able to compete for Etsy buyers based
on the unique goods that Etsy sellers list in our markets, our brand awareness, the person-to-person commerce experience, our reputation as trus
r ted markets,
our mobile apps, ease of payment and the availabi
a lity and reliabi
a lity of our platform.
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Intellectual Property
Protection of our technology and intellectual property is an impor
m rtant component of our success. We rely on intellectual property laws, primarily including
trade secret, copyright and trademark
r laws and to a lesser extent patent laws, in the United States and abroad, and we use confid
f entiality procedures, nondisclosure agreements, invention assignment agreements and other contractual rights to protect our intellectual property.
While we have obtained or applied for patent protection for some of our intellectual property, we generally do not rely on patents as a principal means of
protecting intellectual property. We file patents and register domain names, trademarks and service marks in the United States and abroad. We also rely upon
common law protection for certa
r in trademarks.
Circumstances beyond our control could pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. Effe
f ctive intellectual property protection may not be available in
the United States or other countries in which we operate, and changes in legal fra
f meworks may impa
m ct the scope, enforceability and validity of rights. In
addition, the effo
f rts we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient or effe
f ctive. Any impa
m irme
r nt of our intellectual property
rights could harm our business, our ability to compete and our operating results.

Government Regulation
As with any company operating on the internet, we are subject to a growing numbe
m r of local, national and international laws and regulations. These laws are
ofte
f n complex, sometimes contradict other laws, and are frequently changing. Laws may be interpreted and enforced in different ways in various locations
around the world, posing a significant challenge to our global business. For exampl
m e, U.S. federal and state laws, E.U. directives and other national laws
govern the processing of payments, consumer protection and the privacy of consumer information; other laws define and regulate unfai
f r and deceptive trade
practices. Still other laws dictate when and how sales or other taxes must be collected. Laws of defamation apply online and vary by country. The growing
regulation of e-commerce worldwide could impos
m e additional compliance burdens and costs on us or on Etsy sellers and could subject us to significant
liability for any failure to comply. Additionally, because we operate internationally, we need to comply with various laws associated with doing business
outside of the United States, including anti-money laundering, sanctions, anti-corrupt
r ion and export
r control laws.

Emerging Growth Company Status
As of June 30, 2016, we had a public float of greater than $700 million and are therefor
f e no longer considered an “emerging growth
w company,” as defined in
the Jumpstart
r Our Business Startu
r ps Act of 2012.

Available Information
We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and file or furnish reports
r , proxy
statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Our Annual Report
r on Form 10-K, Quarte
r rly Reports
r on Form
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports
r are available free of charge on our website at investors.etsy.com as soon as reasonably
practicable afte
f r we have filed or furnished them to the SEC. The information on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report
r and investors should
not rely on such information in deciding whether to invest in our common stock. Copies of our SEC reports and other documents are also available, without
charge, by sending a letter to Investor Relations, Etsy, Inc., 117 Adams Street, Brooklyn, NY 11201, by sending an email to ir@etsy.com or by calling (347)
382-7582.
Additionally, our SEC reports
r may be read and copied at the SEC Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling (800) SEC-0330. Our SEC reports
r are also available on the SEC’s website at
www.
w sec.gov free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable afte
f r we have filed or furnished them to the SEC.
For a summary of our financial information by geographic location, see “Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information ” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. For information regarding our product development expenditures in the last three fiscal years, see “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Results of Operations.”
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider careful
f ly the risks and uncerta
r inties described below, our consolidated
financial statements and related notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the other information
in this Annual Report.
r If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affe
f cted.
As a result, the pric
r e of our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have a history of operating losses and we may not achieve or maintain profit
f ability
t in the future.
We incurred net losses of $29.9 million, $54.1 million and $15.2 million for the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of
Decembe
m r 31, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of $116.3 million. We may not achieve or maintain profita
f bility in the future. We expect that our
operating expenses will increase substantially as we hire additional empl
m oyees, increase our marketing effo
f rts, expand our operations and continue to invest
in the development of our platform, including our Seller Services and tools and technological enhancements. These effo
f rts may be more costly than we
expect and our revenue may not increase sufficiently to offs
f et these additional expenses. In addition, our revenue may decline for a numbe
m r of reasons,
including those described in these Risk Factors.
Further, our revenue growth
w rate may continue to decelerate in the future for a numbe
m r of reasons, including the gradual deceleration of our GMS growth
w rate.
For further information about the rate of revenue and GMS growth
w , see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Results of Operations—Revenue.” You should not rely on growth
w rates of prio
r r quarterly
r or annual periods as an indication of our future
performance.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our quarterly
r operating results, as well as our key metric
r s, may fluctuate for a variety of reasons, many of which are beyond our control. These reasons include
those described in these Risk Factors and the following:
•

flu
f ctuations in revenue generated from Etsy sellers on our platform, including as a result of the seasonality of market transactions and Etsy sellers’ use of
Seller Services;

•

the amount and timing of our operating expenses;

•

our success in attracting and retaining Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers;

•

our success in executing on our Markets and Seller Services strategies;

•

the timing and success of new services and features we introduce;

•

the impa
m ct of our investment in marketing;

•

economic and market conditions, such as currency fluctuations and global events;

•

disruptions or defects in our markets, such as priv
r acy or data security breaches or other incidents that impa
m ct the reliability of our platform;

•

the impa
m ct of competitive developments and our response to those developments;

•

our ability to manage our existing business and future growth
w ; and

•

the impa
m ct of our revised global corporate structure that was impl
m emented on January 1, 2015.

Fluctuations in our quarterly
r operating results and key metric
r s may cause those results to fall below our financial guidance or other projections, or the
expectations of analysts or investors, which could cause the pric
r e of our common stock to decline. Fluctuations in our results could also cause a number of
other problems. For exampl
m e, analysts or investors might change their
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models for valuing our common stock, we could experience shortr term liquidity issues, our ability to retain or attract key personnel may diminish and other
unanticipated issues may arise.
In addition, we believe that our quarterly operating results and key metrics may vary in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating
results may not be meaningful
f . For exampl
m e, our overall historical growth
w rate may have overshadowed the effe
f ct of seasonal variations on our historical
operating results. These seasonal effe
f cts may become more pronounced over time, which could also cause our operating results and key metrics to fluctuate.
You should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of future performance.
Our growth depends on our ability
t to attract and retain an active and engaged community
t of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers.
Our financial performance has been and will continue to be signifi
f cantly determined by our success in attracting and retaining active sellers and active
buyers. For exampl
m e, our revenue is driven by the numbe
m r of active sellers, seller engagement, the numbe
m r of active buyers, buyer engagement and our ability
to maintain trus
r ted markets. We must continue to encourage Etsy sellers to list items for sale and use our Seller Services and encourage Etsy buyers to return
and purchase items in our markets more frequently.
We want to create the best shopping experience for Etsy buyers and are focused on making enhancements that encourage purchase frequency. We believe
that many new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers find Etsy.com by word of mouth and other non-paid referrals from existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. If existing
Etsy sellers are dissatisfied with their experience on our platform, they may stop listing items in our markets and using our Seller Services and may stop
referring others to us. Likewise, if existing Etsy buyers do not find our platform appealing, whether because of a negative experience, lack of buyer-fri
f endly
features, declining interest in the nature of the goods offe
f red by Etsy sellers or other factors, they may make fewer purchases and they may stop referring
others to us. Under these circumstances, we may have diffi
f culty attracting new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers without incurring additional marketing expense.
Even if we are able to attract new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to replace the ones that we lose, they may not maintain the same level of activity, and the
revenue generated from new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may not be as high as the revenue generated from the ones who leave our markets. If we are unable
to retain existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and attract new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers who contribute to an active community, our growth
w prospects
could be harmed and our business could be adversely affe
f cted.
Additionally, the demand for the goods listed in our markets is dependent on consumer prefe
f rences which can change quickly and may differ across
generations and cultures. If demand for the goods that Etsy sellers offe
f r declines, we may not be able to attract and retain Etsy buyers and our business would
be harmed. Trends in socially-conscious consumerism and buying locally could also shift
f or slow which would make it more difficult to attract new Etsy
sellers and Etsy buyers. Our growth
w prospects would also be hampered if the shift
f to online and mobile commerce does not continue.
The trustworthiness of our markets and the connections within our community are important to our success. If we are unable to maintain them, our
ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers could suffer.
f
We have built trus
r ted markets that embody
m
our values-based culture. Our reputation depends upon our Etsy sellers, their unique offe
f rings and their adherence
to our policies. We establish trus
r t in our markets in a variety of ways. For exampl
m e, our policies are designed to encourage transparency and clearly outline
the rights and responsibilities of Etsy sellers, Etsy buyers, Etsy Wholesale partners and production partners participating on our platform. We strive to give
the Etsy buyer comfor
f rt that she is purchasing unique goods from a small business that adheres to certa
r in principles. Our Integrity team uses a combination of
machine learni
r ng, automated systems and community-generated flags to review items and shops that may violate our policies. We also have sophisticated
tools to detect fraud and we strive to prohibit bad actors from using our platform. In addition, production partners who apply to join Etsy Manufacturing must
commit to ethical expectations and to operating a safe and just workplace, with transparency and reliable customer service.
Etsy's transparency with our community helps to support
r the trus
r tworth
r iness of our markets. For exampl
m e, we publish an annual Progress Report
r that details
our progress toward our ideals and shares our goals for the years to come and we also release an annual Transparency Report,
r which, among other things,
describes the steps we take when items that do not meet our guidelines are listed on our platform, or when listed items are alleged to infringe third party
rights.
We also establish trus
r t by empha
m
sizing the person behind every
r transaction. We deepen connections among members of our community through our
communication tools, seller stories on our website and our in-person events, which highlight personal relationships as a key part of the Etsy experience. For
example,
m
Etsy sellers are encouraged to share their stories and use tools,
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such as shop videos, to reach Etsy buyers on our platform and on social media. We also recognize that sometimes transactions don’t go as planned. When that
happens, our Case System provides a way for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to communicate with each other to resolve disputes.
We also encourage our empl
m oyees to build meaningful
f connections with other members of our community. For exampl
m e, we ask empl
m oyees to perform
support
r rotations to help foster connections with Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and to help us better understand their needs.
The trus
r tworth
r iness of our markets and the connections among the members of our community are the cornerstones of our business. Many things could
undermine these cornerstones, such as:
•

compl
m aints or negative publicity about us, our platform or our policies and guidelines, even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents;

•

an inability to gain the trus
r t of prospective buyers;

•

disruptions or defects in our markets, such as priv
r acy or data security breaches or other incidents that impa
m ct the reliability of our platform;

•

lack of awareness of our policies;

•

changes to our policies that members of our community perceive as inconsistent with our values or that are not clearly
r artic
r ulated;

•

a failure to enforce our policies effe
f ctively, fairly
r and transparently, including, for exampl
m e, by allowing the widespread listing of prohibited items in our
markets;

•

a failure to respond to feedback from our community; or

•

a failure to operate our business in a way that is consistent with our values.

If we are unable to maintain trus
r tworth
r y markets and encourage connections among members of our community, then our ability to attract and retain Etsy
sellers and Etsy buyers could be impa
m ired and our reputation and business could be adversely affe
f cted.
Adherence to our values and our focus on our mission and long-term sustainability may negatively influence our short- or medium-term financial
perfor
f mance.
Our values are integral to everyt
r hing we do. Accordingly, we intend to focus on the long-term sustainability of our business and work toward our mission to
reimagine commerce and expand the Etsy Economy. We may take actions that we believe will benefit our business and the Etsy Economy and, therefor
f e, our
stockholders over a longer period of time, even if those actions do not maximize shortr or medium-term
r financial results. However, these longer-term
r benefits
may not materialize within the timefra
f me we expect or at all. For exampl
m e:
•

we may choose to prohibit the sale of items in our markets that we believe are inconsistent with our values even though we could benefit financially
from the sale of those items;

•

we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will be beneficial to our community in the long term even though the changes may be
perceived unfav
f orably; or

•

we may take actions, such as investing in alternative forms of shipping or locating our servers in low-impa
m ct data centers, that reduce our environmental
footprin
r t even though these actions may be more costly than other alternatives.

We are a Certifie
f d B Corporation. The term “Certif
r fied B Corporation” does not refer to a particular form of legal entity, but instead refers to companies that
are certif
r fied by B Lab, an independent nonprofit
f organization, as meeting rigorous standards of social and environmental performance, accountability and
transparency. Our reputation could be harmed if we lose our status as a Certifie
f d B Corporation, whether by our choice or by our failure to meet B Lab’s
certif
r fication requirements, if that change in status were to create a perception that we are more focused on financial performance and are no longer as
committed to the values shared by Certified B Corporations. For example,
m
since we do not intend to reorganize as a public benefit corporation
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under Delaware law, our future status as a Certifie
f d B Corporation may be affe
f cted. Likewise, our reputation could be harmed if our publicly reporte
r dB
Corporation score declines and that created a perception that we have slipped in our satisfact
f ion of the Certifie
f d B Corporation standards. Similarly, our
reputation could be harmed if we take actions that are perceived to be misaligned with our values.
If we are not able to enhance our current offe
f rings and develop new offe
f rings to respond to the changing needs of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, our
growth prospects may be harmed.
Our industry
r is characterized by rapidly changing technology, new service and product introductions and changing customer demands. We spend substantial
time and resources understanding the needs of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and responding to them. For exampl
m e, we enhance our Seller Services, search and
discovery functionality and the member experience on a regular basis. We also regularly launch new products and services. For exampl
m e, in 2016, we
launched a new Seller Service, Pattern,
r which enables Etsy sellers to create their own
w custom website. We also introduced a numbe
m r of tools, such as Google
Shopping, which allows sellers to reach audiences off
f of Etsy by advertising their listings in Google search results. In 2017, we plan to launch a new craft
f
supplies market, Etsy Studio, to serve our craft supplies sellers and help them reach a broader audience of craft
f supplies buyers around the world. Our
effe
f ctiveness in enhancing our current offe
f rings and introducing new offe
f rings may impa
m ct our revenue growth
w and our operating results.
Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may not be satisfied with our enhancements or new offe
f rings or may perceive that these offe
f rings do not respond to their needs.
In addition, developing new services and features is complex, and the timetable for commercial release is difficult to predict and may vary from our historical
experience. As a result, the introduction of new offe
f rings may occur afte
f r anticipated release dates or they may be introduced as pilot programs, which may
not be continued for various reasons. In addition, new offe
f rings may not be successful
f due to defects or erro
r rs, negative publicity or our failure to market them
effe
f ctively.
New offe
f rings may not drive increases in revenue, may require substantial investment and planning and may bring us more directly into competition with
companies that are better established or have greater resources than we do.
If we do not continue to cost-effectively develop new offe
f rings that satisfy Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, then our competitive position and growth
w prospects
may be harmed. In addition, new offe
f rings may have lower margins than existing offe
f rings and our revenue from the new offe
f rings may not be enough to
offs
f et the cost of developing them.
We expect to continue to increase our marketing effo
f rts to help grow our business, but those effo
f rts may not be effe
f ctive.
Maintaining and promoting awareness of our markets and broader platform
r is impor
m rtant to our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. We
believe that much of the historical growth
w in the numbe
m r of active sellers and active buyers has originated from word-of-mouth referrals and other organic
means, as our historical marketing effo
f rts and expenditures have been relatively limited, although increasing in recent years. We launched our first brand
marketing campa
m ign in 2016, and intend to invest significant resources in marketing in the future, particularly brand marketing focused on bringing more
Etsy buyers to our platform and encouraging existing buyers to return more frequently. We anticipate that our marketing initiatives may become increasingly
expensive as we continue to invest in our marketing effo
f rts and as competition increases, and generating a meaningful
f return on those initiatives may be
difficult.
An impor
m rtant part of our markets strategy is to position Etsy's markets as go-to shopping destinations for unique items that buyers can use in their everyda
r
y
lives. Our growth
w will depend in part on our ability to launch marketing campa
m igns that resonate with new and existing Etsy buyers and appropriately
balance our level of marketing spending with the benefits that may be realized through revenue growth
w . If we are not able to change our brand perception and
raise awareness of the breadth and depth of items available in our markets, our business could be adversely affe
f cted. The marketing effo
f rts we impl
m ement may
not succeed for a variety of reasons, including our inability to execute and impl
m ement our plans. External factors beyond our control may also impa
m ct the
success of our marketing initiatives. Our marketing effo
f rts currently include search engine marketing, affi
f liate marketing and display advertising, as well as
search engine optimization, social media usage, mobile push notific
f ations and email. We obtain a significant numbe
m r of visits via search engines such as
Google, Bing and Yahoo!. Search engines frequently change the algorithms that determine the ranking and display of results of a user’s search and may make
other changes to the way results are displayed, which can negatively affe
f ct the placement of links to our markets and, therefore, reduce the numbe
m r of visits to
our markets. The growing use of online ad-blocking software, including on mobile devices, may also impa
m ct the success of our marketing effo
f rts because we
may reach a smaller audience and fail to bring more Etsy buyers to our platform. We also obtain a significant numbe
m r of visits through email advertising. If we
are unable to successful
f ly deliver emails to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, or if Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers do not open our emails, whether by choice, because
those emails are marked as low priority or spam, or for other reasons, our business could be adversely affect
f ed. Social
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networki
r ng websites, such as Facebook and Pinterest, are another impor
m rtant source of visits to our markets. As online commerce and social networki
r ng
evolve, we must continue to maintain a presence within these networks
r .
If the mobile solutions available to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are not effe
f ctive, the use of our platform could decline.
Purchases made on mobile devices by consumers, including Etsy buyers, have increased signific
f antly in recent years. The smaller screen size and reduced
functionality associated with some mobile devices may make the use of our platform more difficult or less appealing. Etsy sellers are also increasingly using
mobile devices to operate their businesses on our platform. If we are not able to deliver a rewarding experience on mobile devices, Etsy sellers’ ability to
manage and scale their businesses may be harmed and, consequently, our business may suffer. Further, although we strive to provide engaging mobile
experiences for both Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers who visit our mobile website using a browser on their mobile device, we depend on Etsy sellers and Etsy
buyers using our mobile apps for the optimal mobile experience. Visits to our markets through a mobile website may not convert into purchases as ofte
f n as
visits made through our mobile app or through desktop, which could result in less revenue for us. Additionally, although conversion rates have continued to
increase across mobile websites, mobile apps and desktop, these rates may slow or stall, which could also have a negative impa
m ct on revenue.
As new mobile devices and mobile platforms are released, we may encounter problems in developing or supportin
r g apps for them. In addition, supportin
r g
new devices and mobile device operating systems may require substantial time and resources.
The success of our mobile apps could also be harmed by factors outside our control, such as:
•

actions taken by providers of mobile operating systems or mobile app downl
w oad stores;

•

unfav
f orable treatment received by our mobile apps, especially as compared to competing apps, such as the placement of our mobile apps in a mobile app
downl
w oad store;

•

increased costs to distribute or use our mobile apps; or

•

changes in mobile operating systems, such as iOS and Android, that degrade the functionality of our mobile website or mobile apps or that give
prefer
f ential treatment to competitive products.

If Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers encounter difficulty accessing or using our platform on their mobile devices, or if they choose not to use our platform on their
mobile devices, our growth
w prospects and our business may be adversely affe
f cted.
Expanding our community outside of the United States is an important part of our strategy and the growth of our business could be harmed if our
expansion effo
f rts do not succeed.
Our vision is global and local and we are focused on expanding outside of the United States. Although we have a significant numbe
m r of Etsy sellers and Etsy
buyers outside of the United States, we have limited experience in developing local markets outside the United States and may not execute our strategy
successful
f ly. Operating outside of the United States also requires significant management attention, including managing and staffi
f ng operations over a broad
geographic area with varying cultural norms
r and customs, and adapting our platform to local markets.
Despite our execution effo
f rts, the goods that Etsy sellers list on Etsy.com may not appeal to non-U.S. consumers in the same way as they do to consumers in
the United States. In addition, non-U.S. buyers are not as familiar with the Etsy brand as buyers in the United States and may not perceive us as relevant or
trus
r tworth
r y. Also, visits to Etsy.com from Etsy buyers outside the United States may not convert into sales as ofte
f n as visits from within the United States,
including due to the impa
m ct of the strong U.S. dollar relative to other currencies and the fact that a majo
a rity of the goods listed on our platform are
denominated in U.S. dollars. Our success outside the United States will be linked to our ability to attract local Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to our markets. If
we are not able to expand outside of the United States successful
f ly, our growth
w prospects could be harmed. An inability to develop Etsy's community
globally or to otherwise grow our business outside of the United States on a cost-effective basis could adversely affe
f ct our GMS, revenue and operating
results.
Competition is also likely to intensify
f outside of the United States, both where we operate now and where we plan to expand our operations. Local companies
based outside the United States may have a substantial competitive advantage because of their greater understanding of,
f and focus on, their local markets.
Some of our compet
m itors may also be able to develop and grow internationally more quickly than we will.
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Continued expansion outside of the United States may also require significant financial investment. These investments include marketing , enhancing our
machine translation and machine learni
r ng to help sellers and buyers connect even if they do not speak the same language, forming relationships with thirdparty service providers, supportin
r g operations in multiple countries and potentially acquirin
r g companies based outside the United States and integrating
those companies with our operations. Our investment outside of the United States may be more costly than we expect and our revenue may not increase
sufficiently to offs
f et these additional expenses.
Further expansion outside of the United States will subject us to risks associated with operations abroad.
Doing business outside of the United States subjects us to increased risks and burdens such as:
•

compl
m ying with different (and sometimes conflic
f ting) laws and regulatory
r standards (partic
r ularly
r including those related to the use and disclosure of
personal information, online payments, intellectual property, consumer protection, online platform liability and taxation of goods and services);

•

flu
f ctuations of foreign exchange rates;

•

potentially heightened risk of fraudulent transactions;

•

limitations on the repatria
r tion of funds;

•

exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and export
r control laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977,
as amended, the U.K. Brib
r ery
r Act of 2010, trade controls and sanctions administered by the U.S. Offi
f ce of Foreign Assets Control, and similar laws and
regulations in other jurisdictions;

•

varyi
r ng levels of internet, e-commerce and mobile technology adoption and infrastructure;

•

our ability to enforce contracts and intellectual property rights in jurisdictions outside the United States; and

•

barri
r ers to international trade, such as tariffs, customs or other taxes.

Etsy sellers face similar risks in conducting their businesses across borders. Even if we are successful
f in managing the risks of conducting our business across
borders, if Etsy sellers are not, our business could be adversely affe
f cted.
If we invest substantial time and resources to expand our operations outside of the United States and cannot manage these risks effe
f ctively, the costs of doing
business in those markets may be prohibitive or our expenses may increase disproportio
r nately to the revenue generated in those markets.
Our payments system depends on third-party
t providers and is subject to evolving laws and regulations.
Etsy buyers primarily pay for purchases using Direct Checkout or PayPal. In the United States and other countries where Direct Checkout is available, Etsy
buyers can use Direct Checkout on our platform to pay with credit cards, debit cards, bank transfer
f s, PayPal and, in certa
r in markets, Apple Pay, Android Pay
and Etsy Gift Cards, rather than being directed to a third-party payment platform. A significant portio
r n of our GMS, approximately 78%, is processed through
Direct Checkout, and a significant portio
r n of our revenue is derived from Direct Checkout.
We have engaged third-party service providers to perform underlying compliance, card processing and payment disbursing, currency exchange, identity
verification and fraud analysis services. If these service providers do not perfor
f rm adequately or if our relationships with these service providers were to
terminate, Etsy sellers’ ability to receive orders or payment could be adversely affe
f cted and our business would be harmed. For exampl
m e, third-party service
providers may experience service outages from time to time that impa
m ct Etsy. In July 2016, a third-party
r payment processor experienced a technical issue that
caused payment processing delays and complications for purchases through Direct Checkout, which required Etsy to develop a shortr term manual solution.
These payment processing delays and complications did not have a material impa
m ct on our results of operations for the fiscal year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016.
If a third-party
r payment processor has signific
f ant outages in the future and we do not have alternative payment processors in place or are unable to provide
our own
w solution, our business could be harmed. In addition, if our third-party
r providers increase the fees they charge us, our operating expenses could
increase. If we respond by increasing the fees we charge to Etsy sellers, some Etsy sellers may stop using Direct Checkout, stop listing new items for sale or
even close their accounts altogether.
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The laws and regulations related to payments are complex, evolving and subject to change and vary across different jurisdictions in the United States and
globally. As a result, we are required to spend significant time and effo
f rt to comply with those laws and regulations. Any failure or claim of our failure to
comply, or any failure by our third-party service providers to comply, could cost us substantial resources, could result in liabilities or could force us to stop
offe
f ring Direct Checkout. Additionally, changes in payment regulation may occur that could render our payments system less profita
f ble. For exampl
m e, any
f
significant change in credit or debit card interchange rates in the United States or other markets, including as a result of changes in interchange fee
limitations, may negatively impa
m ct Direct Checkout.
As we expand the availability of Direct Checkout or offe
f r new payment methods to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers in the future, we may become subject to
additional regulations and compliance requirements.
Further, through our agreements with our third-party payment processors, we are indirectly subject to payment card association operating rules and
certif
r fication requirements, including the Payment Card Industry
r Data Security Standard, which are subject to change. Failure to comply with these rules and
certif
r fication requirements could impa
m ct our ability to meet our contractual obligations with our third-party payment processors and could result in potential
fines. We are also subject to rules governing electronic funds transfer
f s. Any change in these rules and requirements could make it difficult or impos
m sible for us
to comply. In addition, similar to a potential increase in costs from third-party providers described above, any increased costs associated with compliance
with payment card association rules could lead to increased fees for Etsy or Etsy sellers, whi
w ch may negatively impa
m ct Direct Checkout usage and our
markets.
Our business could be adversely affe
f cted by economic downturns, natural disasters, public health crises, political crises or other unexpected events.
Macroeconomic conditions may adversely affe
f ct our business. If general economic conditions deteriorate in the United States or other markets where we
operate, consumer discretionary spending may decline and demand for the goods and services available in our platform may be reduced. This would cause
sales in our markets and Seller Services revenue to decline and adversely impa
m ct our business. Conversely, if recent trends supportin
r g self-e
f mployment and
the desire for supplemental income were to reverse, the numbe
m r of Etsy sellers offe
f ring their goods in our markets could decline and the numbe
m r of goods
listed in our markets could decline. In addition, we believe that currency exchange rates are dampening the demand from buyers outside the United States for
goods denominated in U.S. dollars, which is impa
m cting our GMS. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, approximately 88% of our GMS was denominated in U.S. dollars.
Natural disasters and other adverse weather and climate conditions, public health crises, political crises, such as terrorist attacks, war and other political
instability or other unexpected events, could disrupt
r
our operations, internet or mobile networks
r , or the operations of one or more of our third-party service
providers. For exampl
m e, when Hurricane Sandy struck New York in October 2012, our headquarters in Brooklyn was closed for five days, and we experienced
a heavy volume of support
r requests from Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, whi
w ch required us to devote additional resources to handle those requests. Events of
this type could impa
m ct Etsy sellers’ ability to continue producing goods for sale in our markets. These events may also impa
m ct consumer perceptions of wellbeing and security, which may adversely impa
m ct consumer discretionary spending. If any of these events occurs, our business could be adversely affe
f cted.
If sensitive information about members of our community is misused or disclosed, or if we or our third-party
t providers are subject to cyber attacks,
members of our community may curtail use of our platform, we may be exposed to liability
t and our reputation could suffer.
Like all online services, our platform is vulnerable to power outages, telecommunications failures and catastrophic events, as well as computer viruses, breakins, phishing attacks, denial-of-service attacks and other cyber attacks. Any of these incidents could lead to interruptions or shutdowns
w of our platform, loss
of data or unauthorized disclosure of our members' personal or financial information. Cyber attacks could also result in the theft
f of our intellectual property.
As we gain greater public visibility, we may face a higher risk of being targeted by cyber attacks. Although we rely on a variety of security measures,
including encrypt
r ion and authentication technology licensed from third parties, we cannot assure you that such measures will provide absolute security,
particularly given the increasingly sophisticated tools and methods used by hackers and cyber terrorists. Security breaches can also occur as a result of nontechnical issues, including intentional or inadvertent breaches by our empl
m oyees or empl
m oyees of our third-party service providers.
Additionally, some of our third party service providers, such as identify
f verification and payment processing providers, regularly have access to some
confid
f ential and sensitive member data. If these third parties fail to adhere to adequate security practices, or experience a breach of their networks
r , our
m
y accessed, used or disclosed.
members' data may be improperl

22

Cyber attacks aimed at disrupt
r ing our and our third-party service providers’ services have occurred regularly
r in the past, and we expect they will continue to
occur in the future. If we or our third-party
r service providers experience security breaches that result in marketplace performance or availability problems or
the loss or unauthoriz
r ed disclosure of sensitive information, or if we fail to respond appropria
r tely to any security breaches that we may experience, people
may become unwilling to provide us the information necessary to set up an account with us. Existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may stop listing new items
for sale, decrease their purchases or close their accounts altogether. We could also face potential liability, regulatory investigation, costly remediation effo
f rts
and litigation, which may not be adequately covered by insurance. Any of these results could harm our growth
w prospects, our business and our reputation for
maintaining trus
r ted markets.
We face intense competition and may not be able to compete effe
f ctively.
Our industry
r is highly competitive and we expect competition to increase in the future. To be successful
f , we need to attract and retain both Etsy sellers and
Etsy buyers. As a result, we face competition from a wide range of online and offl
f ine competitors.
We compete for Etsy sellers with both retailers and companies that sell software and services to small businesses. In addition to listing her goods for sale on
Etsy, an Etsy seller can list her goods with other online retailers, such as Amazon, eBay or Alibaba, or sell her goods through local consignment and vintage
stores and other venues or marketplaces, including through commerce channels on social networks
r like Facebook and Instagram. She may also sell wholesale
directly to traditional retailers, including large national retailers, who discover her goods in our markets or otherwise. We also compete with companies that
sell software and services to small businesses, enabling an Etsy seller to sell from her own
w website or otherwise run her business independently of our
platform, such as Square, Intuit and Shopify.
We compete to attract, engage and retain Etsy sellers based on many factors, including:
•

our brand awareness;

•

the extent to which our Seller Services can ease the administrative tasks that an Etsy seller might encounter in running her business, wherever she
chooses to pursue commerce;

•

the global scale of our markets and the breadth of our online presence;

•

the numbe
m r and engagement of Etsy buyers;

•

our seller education resources and tools;

•

our policies and fees;

•

the ability to scale her business through Pattern, Etsy Wholesale or Etsy Manufact
f urin
r g;

•

our mobile apps;

•

the strength of our community; and

•

our values.

In addition, we compete with retailers for the attention of the Etsy buyer. An Etsy buyer has the choice of shopping with any online or offl
f ine retailer, whether
large marketplaces, such as Amazon, eBay or Alibaba, or national retail chains, such as West Elm or Target, or local consignment and vintage stores or other
venues or marketplaces. Many of these competitors offe
f r low-cost or free shipping, fast shipping times, favorable return policies and other features that may
be difficult or impos
m sible for Etsy sellers to match.
We compete to attract, engage and retain Etsy buyers based on many factors, including:
•

the breadth of unique goods that Etsy sellers list in our markets;

•

our brand awareness;

•

the person-to-person commerce experience;

•

our reputation for trus
r tworth
r iness;
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•

our mobile apps;

•

ease of payment; and

•

the availability and reliability of our platform.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater resources, better name recognition or more customers than we do.
They may invest more to develop and promote their services than we do, and they may offe
f r lower fees to sellers than we do. Further, our competitors could
obtain prefer
f ential rates or shipping services, causing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to pay higher shipping costs or find alternative delivery
r services.
Additionally, we believe that it is relatively easy for new businesses to create online commerce offe
f rings or tools or services that enable entrepreneurship.
Local companies or more established companies based in markets where we operate outside of the United States may also have a better understanding of local
customs, providing them a competitive advantage. For exampl
m e, in certa
r in markets outside the United States, we compete with smaller, but similar, local
online marketplaces with a focus on unique goods that are attempting to attract sellers and buyers in those markets.
If we are unable to compete successful
f ly, or if competing successful
f ly requires us to expend significant resources in response to our competitors’ actions, our
business could be adversely affe
f cted.
We rely on Etsy sellers to provide a fulfillin
f
g experience to Etsy buyers.
A small portio
r n of Etsy buyers complain to us about their experience with our platform. For exampl
m e, Etsy buyers may report
r that they have not received the
items that they purchased, that the items received were not as represented by an Etsy seller or that an Etsy seller has not been responsive to their questions.
Although our Case System provides a way for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to communicate with each other to resolve disputes, negative publicity and
sentiment generated as a result of these types of complaints could reduce our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers or damage our
reputation. A perception that our levels of responsiveness and support
r for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are inadequate could have similar results. In some
situations, we may choose to reimbur
m se Etsy buyers for their purchases to help avoid harm to our reputation, but we may not be able to recover the funds we
expend for those reimbursements.
Anything that prevents the timely processing of orders or delivery
r of goods to Etsy buyers could harm Etsy sellers. Service interruptions and delivery delays
r tion disrupt
r ions, natural
may be caused by events that are beyond the control of Etsy sellers, such as interruptions in order or payment processing, transporta
disasters, inclement weather, terrorism, public health crises or political unrest. Disrupt
r ions in the operations of a substantial numbe
m r of Etsy sellers could also
result in negative experiences for a substantial numbe
m r of Etsy buyers, which could harm our reputation and adversely affe
f ct our business.
Our reputation may be harmed if members of our community use illegal or unethical business practices.
Our empha
m
sis on our values makes our reputation particularly sensitive to allegations of illegal or unethical business practices by Etsy sellers or other
members of our community. Our policies promote legal and ethical business practices, such as encouraging Etsy sellers to work only with manufacturers who
do not use child or involuntary
r labor, who do not discriminate and who promote sustainability and humane working conditions. However, we do not control
Etsy sellers or other members of our community or their business practices and cannot ensure that they comply with our policies. If members of our
community engage in illegal or unethical business practices or are perceived to do so, we may receive negative publicity and our reputation may be harmed.
Failure to deal effe
f ctively with fraud could harm our business.
Although we have measures in place to detect and reduce the occurrence of fraudulent activity in our markets, those measures may not always be effe
f ctive.
For exampl
m e, Etsy sellers occasionally receive orders placed with fraudulent or stolen credit card data. Under current credit card practices, we could be held
liable for orders placed through Direct Checkout with fraudulent credit card data even if the associated financial institution approved the credit card
transaction. Although we attempt
m to detect or challenge fraudul
a
ent
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transactions, we may not be able to do so effe
f ctively. As a result, our business could be adversely affe
f cted. We could also incur signifi
f cant fines or lose our
ability to give the option of paying with credit cards if we fail to follow payment card industry
r data security standards or fail to limit fraudulent transactions
conducted in our markets.
Negative publicity and sentiment resulting from fraudulent or deceptive conduct by members of our community or the perception that our levels of
responsiveness and support
r for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are inadequate could reduce our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and
damage our reputation.
Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the internet and mobile networks.
Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers rely on access to the internet or mobile networks
r to access our markets. Internet service providers may choose to disrupt
r
or
degrade access to our platform or increase the cost of such access. Mobile network
r operators or operating system providers could block or place onerous
restrictions on the ability to downl
w oad and use our mobile apps.
Internet service providers or mobile network
r operators could also attempt to charge
r us for providing access to our platform. In 2015, rules approved by the
Federal Communications Commission went into effe
f ct that prohibit internet service providers from chargi
r ng content providers higher rates in order to deliver
their content over certain “fas
f t traffi
f c” lanes; however, the rules are subject to pending legal challenges and if they are overturne
r d, or if the current Federal
Communications Commission revokes or changes the rules, our business could be adversely impa
m cted. Outside of the United States, government regulation
of the internet, including the idea of network
r neutrality, may be developing or non-existent. As a result, we could face discriminatory or anti-competitive
practices that could impe
m de both our and Etsy sellers’ growth
w prospects, increase our costs and harm our business.
Our business depends on network and mobile infrastructure provided by third parties and on our ability to maintain and scale the technology
underlying our platform.
The reliability of our platform
r is impor
m rtant to our reputation and our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. As the numbe
m r of Etsy sellers
and Etsy buyers, volume of traffi
f c, numbe
m r of transactions and the amount of information shared on our platform grow, our need for additional network
r
capacity and computing power will also grow. The operation of the technology underlying our platform
r is expensive and complex, and we could experience
operational failures. If we fail to accurately predict the rate or timing of the growth
w of our platform, we may be required to incur signific
f ant additional costs to
maintain reliability. The investments we make in our platform are designed to grow our business and to impr
m ove our operating results in the long term, but
these investments could also delay our ability to achieve profita
f bility or reduce profita
f bility in the near term.
We also depend on the development and maintenance of the internet and mobile infrastructure. This includes maintenance of reliable internet and mobile
networks
r with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, as well as timely development of complementary
r products.
Third-party providers host much of our technology infrastructure. Any disrupt
r ion in their services, or any failure of our providers to handle the demands of
our markets could significantly harm our business. We exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to their financial
conditions and to problems with the services they provide. If we experience failures in our technology infrastructure or do not expand our technology
infrastructure successful
f ly, then our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers could be adversely affe
f cted, which could harm our growth
w
prospects and our business.
Our ability to recruit and retain employees is important to our success.
We strive to attract, retain and motivate empl
m oyees, from our offi
f ce administrators to our management team, who share our dedication to our community and
our mission. As we continue to grow, we cannot guarantee we will continue to attract the empl
m oyees we need to maintain our competitive position.
Some of the challenges we face in attracting and retaining empl
m oyees include:
•

preserving our company culture as we grow;

•

continuing to attract and retain empl
m oyees who share our values;

•

promoting existing empl
m oyees into leadership positions to help sustain and grow our culture;
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•

hirin
r g empl
m oyees in multiple locations globally;

•

responding to competitive pressures and changing business conditions in ways that do not divert us from our values; and

•

integrating new personnel and businesses from acquisitions.

Our ability to attract, retain and motivate empl
m oyees, including our management team, is impor
m rtant to our success. In general, our empl
m oyees, including our
management team, work for us on an at-will basis. The unexpected loss of or failure to retain one or more of our key empl
m oyees, such as our CEO or CFO,
could adversely affe
f ct our business. Other companies, including our competitors, may be successful
f in recrui
r ting and hiring our empl
m oyees, and it may be
difficult for us to find suitable replacements on a timely basis or on competitive terms.
Filling engineerin
r g, product management and other technical positions in the New York City area is particularly
r challenging, especially in light of our
distinctive technology philosophy and engineerin
r g culture. Qualifie
f d individuals are limited and in high demand, and we may incur signific
f ant costs to
attract, develop and motivate them. Even if we were to offe
f r higher compensation and other benefits, people with suitable technical skills may choose not to
join us or to continue to work for us. In addition, job candidates and existing empl
m oyees ofte
f n consider the value of the stock awards they receive in
connection with their empl
m oyment. If the perceived value of our stock awards declines, it may adversely affe
f ct our ability to recrui
r t and retain highly skilled
empl
m oyees. If we are not able to maintain our engineerin
r g culture and broader company culture, then our ability to recrui
r t and retain empl
m oyees could suffer
and our business would be harmed.
The growth
w of our business may strain our management team and our operational and financial infrastructure.
We have experienced rapid growth
w in our business, such as in headcount, the number of Etsy sellers and the numbe
m r of countrie
r s in which we have Etsy
sellers and Etsy buyers and we plan to continue to grow in the future, both in the United States and abroad. For exampl
m e, our headcount has grown
w from 251
empl
m oyees on Decembe
m r 31, 2011 to 1,043 empl
m oyees on December 31, 2016. The growth
w of our business places significant demands on our management
team and pressure to expand our operational and financial infrastructure. For exampl
m e, we may need to continue to develop and impr
m ove our operational,
financial and management controls and enhance our reporting systems and procedures. As we continue to grow, our operating expenses will increase. If we do
not manage our growth
w effe
f ctively, the increases in our operating expenses could outpace any increases in our revenue and our business could be harmed.
We may expand our business through acquisitions of other businesses, which may divert management’s attention and/or prove to be unsuccessful
f .
We have acquired a numbe
m r of other businesses in the past and may acquire additional businesses or technologies in the future. For exampl
m e, in Septembe
m r
2016 we acquired Blackbird Technologies, Inc. Acquisitions may divert management’s time and focus from operating our business. Acquisitions also may
require us to spend a substantial portio
r n of our available cash, issue stock, incur debt or other liabilities, amortiz
r e expenses related to intangible assets or
incur write
r -offs of goodwill or other assets. In addition, integrating an acquired business or technology is risky. Completed and future acquisitions may result
in unfor
f eseen operational difficulties and expenditures associated with:
•

integrating new businesses and technologies into our infrastructure;

•

consolidating operational and administrative functions;

•

coordinating outreach to our community;

•

maintaining morale and culture and retaining and integrating key empl
m oyees;

•

maintaining or developing controls, procedures and policies (including effe
f ctive internal control over financial reportin
r g and disclosure controls and
procedures); and

•

assuming liabilities related to the activities of the acquired business before and afte
f r the acquisition, including liabilities for violations of laws and
regulations, commercial disputes, cyber attacks, taxes and other matters.

Moreover, we may not benefit from our acquisitions as we expect, or in the time frame we expect. We also may issue additional equity securities in
connection with an acquisition, which could cause dilution to our stockholders. Finally, acquisitions could be viewed negatively by analysts, investors or
the members of our community.
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Our business is subject to a large number of U.S. and non-U.S. laws, many of which are evolving.
We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and around the world, including those relating to traditional businesses, such as
empl
m oyment laws and taxation, and laws and regulations focused on internet service providers and online commerce, such as online payments, priv
r acy, antispam, data security and protection, online platform liability, intellectual property and consumer protection. In light of our international operations, we need
to comply with various laws associated with doing business outside of the United States, including anti-money laundering, sanctions, anti-corruption and
export
r control laws. These laws and regulations are continuously evolving, and compliance is costly and can require changes to our business practices and
significant management time and effo
f rt.
Additionally, it is not always clear how existing laws apply to the interne
r t as many of these laws do not address the unique issues raised by interne
r t service
providers or online commerce. For exampl
m e, laws relating to online privacy are evolving differently in different jurisdictions. Federal, state and non-U.S.
governmental authorities, as well as courts
r interpr
r eting the laws, continue to evaluate and assess the privacy requirements relating to the use of third-party
“cookies,” “web beacons” and other methods of online tracking. The United States, the European Union and other governments have enacted or are
considering legislation that could (i) significantly restrict the ability of companies and individuals to collect and store user information, such as by
regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required before a company can empl
m oy cookies or other electronic tracking tools and (ii) require internet
service providers to disclose user informa
r tion to regulatory authorities.
Some providers of consumer devices and web browsers have impl
m emented, or have announced plans to impl
m ement, ways to block tracking technologies
which, if widely adopted, could also result in online tracking methods becoming signific
f antly less effe
f ctive. Any reduction in our ability to make effe
f ctive
use of such technologies could harm our ability to personalize the experience of Etsy buyers, increase our costs and limit our ability to attract and retain Etsy
sellers and Etsy buyers on cost-effective terms. As a result, our business could be adversely affe
f cted.
In some cases, non-U.S. privacy, data security and protection, consumer protection, e-commerce and other laws and regulations are more restrictive than those
in the United States and are actively enforced. For exampl
m e, the European Union traditionally has impos
m ed stricter obligations and provided for more onerous
penalties under such laws than the United States. Consequently, the expansion of our operations internationally may require changes to the ways we display,
collect and use consumer informa
r tion and may necessitate unfav
f orable product changes for our non-U.S. users.
Existing and future laws and regulations enacted by federal, state or non-U.S. governments could impe
m de the growth
w of internet service providers or online
commerce. It is also possible that governm
r ents of one or more countries may seek to censor content available on our platform or may even attempt to block
access to our platform.
r If we are restricted from operating in one or more countries, our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may be
adversely affe
f cted and we may not be able to grow our business as we anticipate.
We strive to comply with all applicable laws, but they may conflic
f t with each other, and by complying with the laws or regulations of one jurisdiction, we
may find that we are violating the laws or regulations of another jurisdiction. Despite our effo
f rts, we may not have fully complied in the past and may not in
the future. If we become liable under laws or regulations applicable to us, we could be required to pay significant fines and penalties, our reputation may be
harmed and we may be forced to change the way we operate. That could require us to incur significant expenses or to discontinue certa
r in services, which
could negatively affe
f ct our business.
Additionally, if third parties with whom we work violate applicable laws or our policies, those violations could result in other liabilities for us and could
harm our business.
We may be subject to claims that items listed in our markets are counterfei
f t, infringing or illegal.
Although we do not create or take possession of the items listed in our markets by Etsy sellers, we frequently receive communications alleging that items
listed in our markets infringe third-party copyrights, trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights. We have intellectual property complaint and
take-down
w procedures in place to address these communications, and we believe such procedures are impor
m rtant to promote confid
f ence in our markets. We
follow these procedures to review complaints and relevant facts to determine the appropriate action, which may include removal of the item from our markets
and, in certa
r in cases, closing the shops of Etsy sellers who repeatedly violate our policies.
Our procedures may not effe
f ctively reduce or eliminate our liability. In particular, we may be subject to civil or criminal liability for activities carri
r ed out by
Etsy sellers on our platform, especially outside the United States where we may be less protected under local laws than we are in the United States. Under
current U.S. copyright law and the Communications Decency Act, we may benefit from statutory
r safe harbor provisions that protect us from copyright
liability for content posted on
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our platform
r by Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. However, trademark and patent laws do not include similar statutory provisions, and liability for these forms
r of
intellectual property is often determined by court decisions. These safe harbors and court rulings may change unfavorably. In that event, we may be held
secondarily liable for the intellectual property infringement of Etsy sellers.
Regardless of the validity of any claims made against us, we may incur significant costs and effort
f s to defend against or settle them. If a governmental authority
determines that we have aided and abetted the infringement or sale of counterfeit goods or if legal changes result in us potentially being liable for actions by Etsy
sellers on our platform,
r we could face regulatory, civil or criminal penalties. Successful claims by third-party rights owners could require us to pay substantial
damages or refrain from permitting any further listing of the relevant items. These types of claims could force us to modify
f our business practices, which could
lower our revenue, increase our costs or make our platform less user-friendly. Moreover, public perception that counterfei
f t or other unauthorized items are common
in our markets, even if factually incorrect, could result in negative publicity and damage to our reputation.
We may be subject to intellectual property claims, which are extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay signific
f ant damages and could limit our
ability to use certain technologies in the future.
f
Companies in the internet and technology industries are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights. We periodically receive communications that claim we have infringed, misappropriated or misused others’ intellectual
t
property rights. To the
extent we gain greater public recognition, we may face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property claims. Third-parties may have intellectual
property rights that cover signific
f ant aspects of our technologies or business methods and prevent us from expanding our offeri
f ngs. Any intellectual property claim
against us, with or without merit, could be time consuming and expensive to settle or litigate and could divert the attention of our management. Litigation
regarding intellectual property rights is inherently uncertain due to the compl
m ex issues involved, and we may not be successful
f in defending ourselves in such
matters.
In addition, some of our competi
m tors have extensive portfolios of issued patents. Many potential litigants, including some of our competi
m tors and patent holding
companies,
m
have the ability to dedicate substantial resources to enforcing their intellectual property rights. Any claims successfull
f y brought against us could subject
us to significant liability for damages and we may be required to stop using technology or other intellectual property alleged to be in violation of a third party’s
rights in one or more jurisdictions where Etsy does business. We also might be required to seek a license for third-party intellectual property. Even if a license is
available, we could be required to pay significant royalties or submit to unreasonable terms, which would increase our operating expenses. We may also be
required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant time and expense. If we cannot license or develop technology for any
allegedly infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit our servi
r ce and may be unable to compet
m e effectively. Any of these results could harm our
business.
We may be involved in litigation matters that are expensive and time consuming.
In addition to intellectual property claims, we may become involved in other litigation matters, including class action lawsuits. For exampl
m e, as described further in
“Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies—Legal Proceedings” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, three purported securities class action
lawsuits have been filed naming Etsy and certain of our officers and/or directors as defendants. Under certain circumstances, we have contractual
t and other legal
obligations to indemnify and to incur legal expenses on behalf of current and forme
r r directors, officers and underwriters, in connection with the litigation described
in this Annual Report and in connection with any fu
f ture lawsuits. Any lawsuit to which we are a party, with or without merit, may result in an unfavorable
judgment. We also may decide to settle lawsuits on unfavorable terms. Any such negative outcome could result in payments of substantial damages or fines,
damage to our reputation or adverse changes to our offerings or business practices. Any of these results could adversely affect
f our business. In addition, defending
claims is costly and can impose a significant burden on our management.
We may be unable to protect our intellectual property adequately.
Our intellectual property is an essential asset of our business. To establ
a ish and protect our intellectual property rights, we rely on a combi
m nation of trade secret,
copyright, trademark and, to a lesser extent, patent laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual
t
provisions. The efforts we have taken to protect our
intellectual property may not be suffi
f cient or effect
f ive. We generally do not elect to register our copyrights, relying instead on the laws protecting unregistered
intellectual property, which may not be suffic
f ient. We rely on both registered and unregistered trademarks, which may not always be comprehensi
m
ve in scope. In
addition, our copyrights and trademarks,
r whether or not registered, and patents may be held invalid or unenforceable if challenged, and may be of limited territoria
r
l
reach. While we have obtained or applied for patent protection with respect to some of our intellectual property, we generally do not rely on patents as a principal
means of protecting intellectual property. To
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the extent we do seek patent protection, any U.S. or other patents issued to us may not be sufficiently broad to protect our proprietary technologies.
In addition, we may not be effect
f ive in policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property and authorized uses may not have the intended effect
f . Even if we do
detect violations, we may need to engage in litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights. Any enforcement effort
f s we undertake, including litigation, could
be time-consuming and expensive and could divert our management’s attention. In addition, our efforts may be met with defenses and counterclaims challenging
the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights or may result in a court determining that our intellectual property rights are unenforceable. The
legal framework surrounding protection of intellectual property changes frequently throughout the world, and these changes may impact our ability to protect our
intellectual property and defend against third party claims. If we are unable to cost-effect
f ively protect our intellectual property rights, then our business could be
harmed.
Our software is highly complex and may contain undetected errors.
The software underlying our platform is highly complex and may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code
has been released. We rely heavily on a software engineering practice known as “continuous deployment,” meaning that we typi
y cally release softw
f are code many
times per day. This practice may result in the more frequent introduction of errors or vulnerabilities into the software underlying our platform. Any errors or
vulnerabilities discovered in our code after release could result in damage to our reputation, loss of our community members, loss of revenue or liability for
damages, any of which could adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.
We are subject to the terms of open source licenses because our platform
f
incorporates open source software.
The software powering our markets incorporates software covered by open source licenses. In addition, we regularly contribute source code to open source
software projec
o ts and release interna
r l software projec
o ts under open source licenses, and we anticipate doing so in the future.
t
The terms of many open source
licenses relied upon by Etsy and the internet and technology industries generally have not been interprete
r
d by U.S. courts and there is a risk that the licenses could
be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to operate our markets. Under certain open source licenses, if certain
conditions were met, we could be required to publicly release aspects of the source code of our software or to make our software available
a under open source
licenses. To avoid the public release of the affect
f ed portions of our source code, we could be required to expend substantial time and resources to re-engineer some
or all of our software. In addition, use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party
r commercial software because open source licensors
generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Use of open source software may also present additional security risks becaus
a e the
publi
u c availability of such software may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to determine how to comprom
m
ise our platform. Additionally, because any
software source code we contribute to open source projects is publicly available, while we may benefit from the contributions of others, our ability to protect our
intellectual property rights in such software source code may be limited or lost entirely, and we will be unable to prevent our compet
m itors or others from using such
contributed software source code. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage and, if not addressed, could adversely affect
f our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Our business and our Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may be subject to sales and other taxes.
The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, provincial taxes, goods and services tax, business tax and gross receipt tax, to
businesses like ours and to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers is a complex
m
and evolving issue. Significant judgment is required to evaluate applicable tax obligations and
as a result amounts recorded are estimates and are subject to adjustments. In many cases, the ultimate tax determi
r nation is uncertain because it is not clear how new
and existing statut
t es might apply to our business or to Etsy sellers’ businesses. One or more states, the federal government or other countries may seek to impose
additional reporting, record-keeping or indirect tax collection obligations on businesses like ours that facilitate online commerce. For exampl
m e, taxing authorities in
the United States and other countries have identifie
f d e-commerce platforms
r as a means to calculate, collect and remit indirect taxes for transactions taking place
over the internet, and are considering related legislation. New legislation could require us or Etsy sellers to incur substantial costs in order to compl
m y, including
costs associated with tax calculation, collection, remittance and audi
a t requirem
q
ents, which could make selling in our markets less attractive and could adversely
affect
f our business.
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We may experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate.
We are subject to taxation in the United States and in numerous other jurisdictions. We record tax expense based on current tax payments and our estimates of
future tax payments, which may include reserves for estimates of probable settlements of tax audits. At any one time, multiple tax years could be subject to audit by
various taxing jurisdictions. As a result, we expect that throughout the year there could be ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as taxable events occur and
exposures are re-evaluated. Further, our effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be adversely impacted by changes in tax laws, changes in the
mix of revenue among different
f
jurisdictions, changes to accounting rules and changes to our ownership or capital structure. Fluctuati
t ons in our tax obligations and
effective tax rate could adversely affect our business.
In January 2015, we implem
m
ented a revised corporate structure
t
to more closely align our structure
t
with our global operations and future
t
expansion plans outside of
the United States. Our new corporate structure
t
changed how we use our intellectual property and implemented certain intercompany
m
arrangements. We believe this
may result in a reducti
d on in our overall effective tax rate over the long term and other operational effi
f ciencies; however, the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which
we operate are subject to interpreta
r
tion, and their application may depend on our ability to operate our business in a manner consistent with our corporate structure.
t
Moreover, these tax laws are subject to change. Tax authorities may disagree with our position as to the tax treatment of our transfer of intangible assets or
determine that the manner in which we operate our business does not achieve the intended tax consequences. If our new corporate structure
t
does not achieve our
expectations for any of these or other reasons, we may be subject to a higher overall effect
f ive tax rate and our business may be adversely affect
f ed.
If our insurance coverage is insufficient or our insurers are unable to meet their obligations, our insurance may not mitigate the risks facing our business.
Our insurance policies cover a number
m of risks and potential liabilities, such as general liability, property coverage, errors and omissions liability, employment
liability, business interrupt
r ions, data breaches, crime, product
d liability and directors’ and offic
f ers’ liability. For certain types of business risk, we may not be able to,
or may choose not to, acquire insurance. In addition, we may not obtain enough insurance to adequately mitigate the risks we face or we may have to pay high
premiums and/or deductibles for the coverage we do obtain. Additionally, if any of our insurers becomes insolvent, it would be unable to pay any claims that we
make.
Operating as a public company requires us to incur substantial costs and requires substantial management attention. In addition, our management team
has limited experience managing a public company.
As a pub
u lic company,
m
we incur substantial legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
m
For exampl
m e, we are subject to the
reporting requi
q rements of the Exchange Act, the appl
a icable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley
r
Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley
r
Act, and the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC. The rules and regulations of Nasdaq also apply to us. As part of these
requirements, we have established and maintained effective disclosure and financial controls and made changes to our corporate governance practices. We expect
that continued compl
m iance with these requir
q ements will increase our legal and financial compl
m iance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming. In
addition, as a public company,
m
we may be subject to stockholder activism, which can lead to additional substantial costs, distract management and impact the
manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.
Most of our management and other personnel have little experience managing a public company
m
and preparing public filings. In addition, our management and
other personnel divert attention from other business matters to devote substantial time to the reporting and other requirements of being a public company.
m
In
particular, we have incurred
r
significant expense and devoted substantial management effort to complyi
m
ng with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarba
r nesOxley Act. We may need to continue to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropri
a
ate public company
m
experience and technical accounting
knowledge.
If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy of our financial reports.
As a pub
u lic company,
m
we are requi
q red to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such interna
r l controls. Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determi
r ne the effecti
f veness of our internal control over financial reporting. It also requires our
independent registered public accounting firm to attest to our evaluation of our internal
r controls over financial reporting. Although our management has
determined, and our independent registered publi
u c accounting firm has attested, that our internal control over financial reporting was effect
f ive as of

30

Decembe
m r 31, 2016, we cannot assure you that we or our independent registered public accounting firm will not identify
f a material weakness in our internal
control in the future.
If we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reportin
r g in the future, we may not detect erro
r rs on a timely basis. If we are not able to
comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if we identify
r l control over financial reportin
f a material weakness in our interna
r g
in the future, it could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet our SEC reportin
r g obligations or Nasdaq listing requirements , adversely affe
f ct our
reputation, cause our stock price to decline or result in inaccurate financial reporting or material misstatements in our annual or interim financial statements.
Further, if there are material weaknesses or failures in our ability to meet any of the requirements related to the maintenance and reportin
r g of our internal
controls, such as Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, investors may lose confid
f ence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports
r and that
could cause the price of our common stock to decline. We could become subject to investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory
r authorities, which
could require additional management attention and which could adversely affe
f ct our business.
In addition, our internal control over financial reportin
r g will not prevent or detect all erro
r rs and fraud. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to erro
r r or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and
instances of fraud will be detected.
The terms of our debt instruments may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.
We do not currently have any obligations outstanding under our credit facility. However, our credit facility requires us to comply with various covenants that
limit our ability to take actions such as:
•

disposing of assets;

•

compl
m eting mergers or acquisitions;

•

incurri
r ng additional indebtedness;

•

encumbe
m ring our properties or assets;

•

paying dividends or making other distributions;

•

making specifie
f d investments; and

•

engaging in transactions with our affi
f liates.

These restrictions could limit our ability to pursue our business strategies. If we default under our credit facility and if the default is not cured or waived, the
lenders could terminate their commitments to lend to us and cause any amounts outstanding to be payable immediately. Such a default could also result in
cross defaults under other debt instruments. Moreover, any such default would limit our ability to obtain additional financing, which may have an adverse
effe
f ct on our cash flow and liquidity.
We may need additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and shortr term investments, together with cash generated from operations and available borro
r wing
capacity under our credit facility, will be enough to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. However, we may require additional cash
resources due to changed business conditions or other developments, such as acquisitions or investments we may decide to pursue. We may seek to borro
r w
funds under our credit facility or sell additional equity or debt securities. The sale of additional equity securities could result in dilution to our existing
stockholders. Borrowing funds would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in additional operating and financial covenants that would
limit our operations. It is also possible that financing may not be available to us in amounts or on terms acceptabl
a e to us, if at all.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile and declines in the price of common stock could subject us to litigation.
The pric
r e of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. For exampl
m e, since January 1, 2016, our common stock's daily closing pric
r e
on Nasdaq has ranged from a low of $6.36 to a high of $15.81 through Februa
r ry 24, 2017. The pric
r e of our common stock may fluctuate significantly for
numerous reasons, many of which are beyond our control, such as:
•

varia
r tions in our operating results and other financial and operational metric
r s, including the key financial and operating metric
r s disclosed in this Annual
Report,
r as well as how those results and metric
r s compare to analyst and investor expectations;

•

for
f rward-looking statements related to our financial guidance or projections, our failure to meet or exceed our financial guidance or projections or
changes in our financial guidance or projections;

•

fai
f lure of analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in their estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by
analysts that follow our common stock or a negative view of our financial guidance or projections;

•

announcements of new services or enhancements, strategic alliances or significant agreements or other developments by us or our competitors;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of mergers or acquisitions or rumors of such transactions involving us or our competitors;

•

changes in our board of directors, management or other key personnel;

•

disruptions in our markets due to hardware, software or network
r problems, security breaches or other issues;

•

the strength of the global economy or the economy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, currency fluctuations, and market conditions in our industry
r
and those affe
f cting members of our community;

•

the trading activity of our largest stockholders;

•

the numbe
m r of shares of our common stock that are available for public trading;

•

litigation or other claims against us;

•

stockholder activism;

•

the performance of the equity markets in general and in our industry;
r

•

the operating performance of other similar companies;

•

changes in legal requirements relating to our business; and

•

any other factors discussed in this Annual Report.
r

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confid
f ence, the price of our common stock could
decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations or financial condition. Stock prices of many technology companies have historically been
highly volatile. Some companies that have experienced volatility in the trading price of their stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation.
For exampl
m e, as described further in “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies—Legal Proceedings” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
three purpor
r rted securities class action lawsuits have been filed naming Etsy and certa
r in of our offi
f cers and/or directors as defendants. We may experience
more such litigation following future periods of volatility or declines in our stock price. Any securities litigation, could result in substantial costs and divert
our management’s attention and resources, which could adversely affect our business.
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If analysts do not publish research about our business, or if they publish inaccurate or unfavor
f
able research, our stock price and trading volume could
decline.
The trading market for
f our common stock depends in part on the research and reports
r that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any control
over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgr
w ade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If few analysts cover us, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock
price and trading volume may decline. Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports
r on us
regularly.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our capital stock, so any returns will be limited to increases in the value of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earni
r ngs for the operation and
expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends on our
capital stock is restricted by the terms of our credit facility. As a result, stockholders will not receive dividends or other distributions and may only receive a
return on their investment if the trading price of our common stock increases.
Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock could result in additional dilution to our stockholders and could
cause the price of our common stock to decline.
We may issue additional common stock, convertible securities or other equity in the future. We also issue common stock to our empl
m oyees, directors and
other service providers pursuant to our equity incentive plans. Such issuances could be dilutive to investors and could cause the price of our common stock
to decline. New investors in such issuances could also receive rights senior to those of current stockholders.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, could limit
attempts to make changes in our management and could depress the price of our common stock.
Provisions in our certific
f ate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effe
f ct of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company or limiting
changes in our management. Among other things, these provisions:
•

provide for a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time;

•

permi
r t our board of directors to establish the numbe
m r of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorships;

•

provide that directors may only be removed for cause;

•

require super-majorit
r y voting to amend some provisions in our certif
r ficate of incorporation and bylaws;

•

authoriz
r e the issuance of “blank check” prefe
f rred stock that our board of directors could use to impl
m ement a stockholder rights plan;

•

eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by writte
r n consent, which means all stockholder actions must be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that our board of directors is expressly authoriz
r ed to amend or repeal any provision of our bylaws;

•

restric
r t the forum for certa
r in litigation against us to Delaware; and

•

require advance notice for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual
stockholder meetings.

These provisions may delay or prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace members of our management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our
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management. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, may delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
m
Section 203
of the DGCL impo
m ses certain restrictions on mergers, business combi
m nations and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.
Anti-takeover provisions could depress the price of our common stock by acting to delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
m
Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between
us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, offic
f ers or
employees.
Our certificate of incorporat
r
ion provides that the Court of Chancery
r of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
r
for any derivative action or proceeding brought
on our behalf,
f any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our certific
f ate of incorporation
or our bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s
ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum
r
that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other empl
m oyees and may discourage these types
y
of
lawsuits. Alternat
r ively, if a court were to find the choice of forum
r
provision contained in our certific
f ate of incorporation to be inappli
a
cable or unenforceable in an
action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our headquarters are located in Brooklyn, New York where we occupy approximately 198,635 square feet under a lease that expires in 2026. We use these
facilities for our principal administration, technology and development and engineering activities. Our European headquarters are located in Dubl
u in, Ireland. We
also have other offic
f es, including offices in San Francisco, Hudson (New York) and London.
We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our ongoing needs and that, if we require additional space, we will be able to obtain
additional facilities.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
See “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies—Legal Proceedings” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicabl
a e.
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PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market for Etsy's Common Stock
Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “ETSY” since April 16, 2015. Prio
r r to that date, there was no public
trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales pric
r e per share of our common stock as reported by
Nasdaq:
2015
High
First Quarter
Second Quarter (beginning April 16, 2015)

Low
N/A
A

$

2016

35.74

High
N/A
/A

$

13.78

$

Low
9.40
10.10

$

6.04
7.60

Third Quarter

23.44

11.85

15.70

9.08

Fourth Quarter

15.11

7.91

16.05

10.84

Holders of Record
As of the close of business on Februa
r ry 24, 2017, there were approximately 261 stockholders of record of our common stock. The numbe
m r of stockholders of
record is based upon the actual numbe
m r of holders registered on this date and does not include holders of common stock in “street name” by brokers or other
entities on behalf of stockholders.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain all available funds and future earni
r ngs and do not anticipate paying
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future decision to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to
applicable laws and will depend on a numbe
m r of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions,
general business conditions and other fact
f ors that our board of directors thinks are relevant. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is limited by the
terms of our Credit Agreement. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Credit Facility” for additional information about our Credit Agreement.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
On May 5, 2016, we issued and sold an aggregate of 80,011 shares of our common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 97,931 shares of our
common stock. The shares of common stock were issued pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act.
On Septembe
m r 19, 2016, we issued 685,749 shares of our common stock to the former stockholders of Blackbird Technologies, Inc. in connection with the
acquisition of Blackbird. This transaction was exempt
m from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and
Regulation D.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The table below provides information with respect to repurchases of shares of our common stock during the three months ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016:

(a) Total Number of Shares
r
Purchased

Period

(b) Averag
r e Price Paid per
Share
r

(d) Maximum Number of
Shares
r that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plans
or Program
r s

October 1 - 31, 2016(1)

45,058

14.28

—

November 1 - 30, 2016

—

—

—

—

December 1 - 31, 2016

—

—

—

—

14.28

—

—

45,058

Total

$

(c) Total Number of Shares
r
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced Plans
or Program
r s

$

—

(1) Represents shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of empl
m oyee restricted stock units.
Perfor
f mance Graph
The following graph shows a comparis
r on from April 16, 2015 (the date our common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq) through Decembe
m r 31, 2016, of the
cumulative total returns for our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The graph assumes $100 was invested at the market
close on April 16, 2015 in the common stock of Etsy, Inc. Such returns are based on historic
r al results and are not intended to suggest future performance. The
Nasdaq Composite Index and Russell 2000 Index assume reinvestment of any dividends.
COMPARISON OF 20 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Etsy, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Russell 2000 Index
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This perfor
f mance graph shall not be deemed “fil
f ed” with the SEC for purpos
r es of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by refe
e rence into any of
our other
t
filings
g under the Securities
e Act or the Exchange Act.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data.
The following tables show selected consolidated financial data. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014, 2015 and 2016, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and 2016, are derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the
year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2012 and 2013, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of Decembe
m r 31, 2013 and 2014 is derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes not included in this Annual Report.
r
The following tables also show certa
r in unaudited operational and non-GAAP financial measures as well as a reconciliation between certa
r in GAAP
A and nonGAAP
A measures. See the accompanying footnotes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—NonGAAP
A Financial Measures” below for more informa
r tion. Our historic
r al results and key metric
r s are not necessarily indicative of future results, and results for
any interim period presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any annual period.
The following selected consolidated financial data and key metric
r s should be read together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
r
Year Ended December 31,
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

(in thousands except share
r and per share
r amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Markets

$

55,330

Seller Services

$

15,863

Other

78,544

$

42,817

108,732

$

82,502

132,648

$

136,608

158,204
200,857

3,409

3,661

4,357

4,243

5,906

74,602

125,022

195,591

273,499

364,967

Cost of revenue(1)

24,493

47,779

73,633

96,979

123,328

Gross profit

50,109

77,243

121,958

176,520

241,639

Marketing(1)

10,902

17,850

39,655

66,771

82,799

Product development(1)

18,653

27,548

36,634

42,694

55,083

General and administrative(1)

21,909

31,112

51,920

68,939

86,180

Total operating expenses

51,464

76,510

128,209

178,404

224,062

Total revenue

Operating expenses:

(Loss) income from operations
Other expense, net
(Loss) income before income taxes

(1,355)

733

(6,251)

(1,884)

17,577

(1,175)

(675)

(4,009)

(26,110)

(20,453)

58

(10,260)

(27,994)

(2,876)

(854)

(4,983)

(26,069)

(27,025)

(2,530)

Benefit (provision) for income taxes
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Net loss

$

(2,385)

$

(796)

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders—
basic and diluted

$

(0.09)

$

(0.02)

$

(0.38)

$

(0.59)

$

(0.26)

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and
diluted

30,281,842

32,667,242

40,246,663

91,122,291

113,562,738

(1) Includes total stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

Marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

166

$

$

1,113

$

871

$

1,057

57

79

216

560

971

436

785

1,461

2,860

5,079

3,435
$

200

4,094

2,770
$

37

3,834

7,260
$

10,050

6,550
$

10,841

8,794
$

15,901

Year Ended December 31,
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

(in thousands except percentages)
Other Operational and Financial Data(2):
GMS

$

895,152

$

1,347,833

$

1,931,981

$

2,388,387

$

2,841,985

Adjusted EBITDA

$

10,669

$

16,947

$

23,081

$

31,007

$

57,124

Active sellers

830

1,074

1,353

1,563

1,748

Active buyers

9,317

14,032

19,810

24,046

28,566

Percent mobile visits

N/A
/

41%

54%

60%

Percent mobile GMS

N/A
/A

30%

37%

43%

48%

Percent international GMS

28.4%

28.4%

30.9%

29.8%

30.4%

64%

(2) See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Operating and Financial Metric
r s” for the
definitions of the following terms: “active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,” “interna
r tional GMS,” “mobile visits” and “mobile
GMS.”
Year Ended December 31,
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Net loss

$

(2,385)

$

(796)

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Excluding:
Interest and other non-operating expense, net
(Benefit) provision for income taxes

438

256

549

1,202

5,502

(145)

854

4,983

26,069

27,025

Depreciation and amortization

7,930

12,380

17,223

18,550

22,525

Stock-based compensation expense

4,094

3,834

5,920

8,981

13,168

Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions

—

—

4,130

1,860

2,733

Loss on asset impairment

—

—

—

—

551

737

419

411

3,133

—

Foreign exchange loss

—

—

3,049

21,775

14,951

Acquisition-related expenses

—

—

2,059

—

570

Contribution to Good Work Institute (for
f merly Etsy.org)

—

—

—

3,500

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

Adjusted EBITDA

$

10,669

$

16,947

$

23,081

$

—

31,007

$

57,124

As of December 31,
2013

2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
Net working capital
Total assets

$

54,870

$

88,843

$

292,864

$

282,086

55,764

85,608

278,932

287,024
581,193

104,900

246,203

553,061

Deferred revenue

2,760

3,452

4,712

5,648

Long-term liabilities

1,466

57,450

142,441

152,428

80,212

80,212

—

—

4,003

67,088

330,498

344,757

Convertible prefer
f red stock
Total stockholders’ equity
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
l is of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
You should read the following discussion and analys
statements and related notes and other financial info
n rmation included elsewhere in this Annual Repor
e t on Form 10-K.
- This discussion, particularly
info
n rmation with respect to our outlook,
k our plans and strategy for our business and our perfor
f mance and future success, includes forward-looking
statements that involve risks
k and uncertainties. Our actual results could diffe
i r materially from those discussed below. Factors
r that could cause or contribute
to these diffe
i rences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Repor
e t, particularly in the “Risk Factors”
r section.

Overview
Etsy offe
f rs markets, services and technology that empow
m
er creative entrepreneurs and shape a positive future for business.
Our mission is to reimagine commerce in ways that build a more fulfil
f ling and lasting world. We believe we are creating a new economy, the Etsy Economy,
f work
r and both global and local markets for their goods and where thoughtful consumers discover and buy
where creative entrepreneurs find meaningful
unique goods and build connections with the people who sell them. We have a seller-aligned business model: we make money when our Etsy sellers make
money, so we continue to invest in building the platform they depend on.
Our markets provide creative entrepreneurs with access to consumers around the world. Buyers come to Etsy.com to find what they are looking for among
nearly 45 million unique items across more than 50 retail categories. We also offe
f r a wide range of Seller Services and tools that are specifically designed to
help creative entrepreneurs start,
r manage and scale their businesses.
Our revenue is diversifie
f d, generated from a mix of markets activities and Seller Services. Our largest market is Etsy.com. In 2017, we plan to launch a
dedicated craft
f supplies market called Etsy Studio. We also own
w A Little Market, or ALM, a handmade and supplies market for sellers and buyers in France.
Markets revenue is primarily made up of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction on Etsy.com and the $0.20 listing
fee she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Seller Services revenue includes the fees Etsy sellers pay us for services, which include Direct Checkout, our
payment processing service; Promoted Listings, our ad service for prominent placement in on-site search results; Shipping Labels, which allow Etsy sellers to
purchase shipping labels through our platform; and Pattern, launched in April 2016, which enables sellers to easily create their own
w custom website. Other
revenue typically includes revenue generated from commercial partnerships.
As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, our platform, which includes our markets, our services and our technology, connected 1.7 million active Etsy sellers and 28.6
million active Etsy buyers, in nearly every
r country in the world. In 2016, Etsy sellers generated GMS of $2.8 billion, of which approximately 48% came from
purchases made on mobile devices. We are a global company: 30.4% of our 2016 GMS came from transactions where either an Etsy seller or an Etsy buyer
were located outside of the United States.
Our business has grown
w in significant ways:
•

Our GMS was $2.8 billion in 2016, up 19.0% over 2015, and was $2.4 billion in 2015, up 23.6% over 2014.

•

Our revenue was $365.0 million in 2016, up 33.4% over 2015. In 2016, our Markets revenue was $158.2 million, up 19.3% over 2015, and our Seller
Services revenue was $200.9 million, up 47.0% over 2015. Our revenue was $273.5 million in 2015, up 39.8% over 2014. In 2015, our Markets revenue
was $132.6 million, up 22.0% over 2014, and our Seller Services revenue was $136.6 million, up 65.6% over 2014.

•

As of December 31, 2016, our numbe
m r of active sellers was 1.7 million, up 11.8% since December 31, 2015, and our numbe
m r of active buyers was 28.6
million, up 18.8% since Decembe
m r 31, 2015. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2015, our numbe
m r of active sellers was 1.6 million, up 15.5% since Decembe
m r 31, 2014,
and our numbe
m r of active buyers was 24.0 million, up 21.4% since Decembe
m r 31, 2014.

•

Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers have transacted across borders since our first year of business, and our international community continues to grow.
International GMS was 30.4% as a percentage of total GMS in 2016, compared to 29.8% of GMS in 2015 and 30.9% of GMS in 2014. In 2016, GMS
generated between a non-U.S. buyer and a non-U.S. seller both located in the same country increased approximately 47% from 2015. In 2015, this
r lly due to the acquisition of ALM in June 2014. Curre
r ntly, Etsy sellers and Etsy
component of GMS increased approximately 58% fro
f m 2014, partia
buyers are based in nearly
r every
r country in the world and our Etsy.com market is available in 10 languages.
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•

Durin
r g 2016, we continued to enhance our mobile offe
f rings. Mobile visits represented approximately 64% of visits in 2016, 60% of visits in 2015 and
54% of visits in 2014. Mobile GMS represented approximately 48% of GMS in 2016, increasing from approximately 43% of GMS in 2015 and
approximately 37% of total GMS in 2014. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, our mobile apps have been downloaded 41 million times.

•

We have continued to enhance our Seller Services offe
f rings, most recently including the launch of Pattern in 2016. Seller Services revenue has increased
as a percentage of total revenue in the past six years from less than 3% in 2011 to approximately 55% in 2016. Seller Services increased as a percentage
of total revenue to 55% in 2016, up from approximately 50% in 2015 and 42% in 2014.

•

In 2016, we incurred a net loss of $29.9 million, compared to $54.1 million in 2015 and $15.2 million in 2014. In 2016, we reporte
r d Adju
d sted EBITDA
of $57.1 million compared to $31.0 million in 2015 and $23.1 million in 2014.

See “—No
— n-GAAP
A Financial Measures” for more information and for a reconciliation of Adju
d sted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial
measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.
A

Key Operating and Financial Metrics
We collect and analyze operating and financial data to evaluate the health of our ecosystem, allocate our resources (such as capital, people and technology
investments) and assess the performance of our business. The unaudited key operating metric
r s, unaudited non-GAAP financial measure and key financial
metric
r s we use are:
Year Ended December 31,
2014

2015

2016

(in thousands except percentages)
GMS

$

1,931,981

$

2,388,387

$

2,841,985

Revenue

$

195,591

$

273,499

$

364,967

Markets revenue

$

108,732

$

132,648

$

158,204

Seller Services revenue

$

82,502

$

136,608

$

200,857

Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Adjusted EBITDA

$

23,081

$

31,007

$

57,124

Active sellers

1,353

1,563

1,748

Active buyers

19,810

24,046

28,566

Percent mobile visits

54%

60%

Percent mobile GMS

37%

43%

48%

30.9%

29.8%

30.4%

Percent international GMS

64%

GMS
Gross merchandise sales, or GMS, is the dollar value of items sold in our markets within the applicable period, excluding shipping fees and net of refunds
r d by Etsy. GMS is largely driven by transactions in our Marke
r ts and is not
associated with canceled transactions. GMS does not represent revenue earne
directly impacted by Seller Services activity. However, because our revenue and cost of revenue depend significantly on the dollar value of items sold in our
markets, we believe that GMS is an indicator of the success of Etsy sellers, the satisfaction of Etsy buyers, the health of our ecosystem and the scale and
growth
w of our business.
Adju
d sted EBITDA
Adju
d sted EBITDA represents our net loss adju
d sted to exclude: interest and other non-operating expense, net; provision for income taxes; depreciation and
amortiz
r ation; stock-based compensation expense; loss on asset impa
m irme
r nt; net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities; foreign exchange loss;
acquisition-related expenses and contributions to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org). See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for information regarding
our use of Adju
d sted EBITDA, including its limitations as a financial measure, and for a reconciliation of Adju
d sted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly
comparabl
m
e financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.
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Active Sellers
An active seller is an Etsy seller who has incurred at least one charge from us in the last 12 months. Charges include transaction fees, listing fees and fees for
Direct Checkout, Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels, Pattern, Google Shopping and Etsy Wholesale enrollment. An Etsy seller is identifie
f d by a unique e-mail
address; a single person can have multiple Etsy seller accounts. We succeed when Etsy sellers succeed, so we view the number
m
of active sellers as a key indicator
of the awareness of our brand, the reach of our platform, the potential for growth in GMS and revenue and the health of our ecosystem.
Active Buyers
An active buyer is an Etsy buyer who has made at least one purchase in the last 12 months. An Etsy buyer is identified by a unique e-mail address; a single person
can have multiple Etsy buyer accounts. We generate revenue when Etsy buyers order items from Etsy sellers, so we view the number
m of active buyers as a key
indicator of our potential for growth in GMS and revenue, the reach of our platform, awareness of our brand, the engagement and loyalty of Etsy buyers and the
health of our ecosystem.
Mobile Visits
A visit represents activity from a unique browser or mobile app. A visit ends after 30 minutes of inactivity. A mobile visit is a visit that occurs on a mobile device,
such as a table
a t or a smartphone.
t
Etsy sellers are increasingly using mobile devices to manage their listings and track their business performance on our platform. In
addition, Etsy buyers increasingly use mobile devices to search, browse and purchase items on our platform. We view percent mobile visits as a key indicator of the
level of engagement of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers on our mobile website and mobile apps and of our ability to sustain GMS and revenue.
Mobile GMS
Mobile GMS is GMS that results from a transaction compl
m eted on a mobile device, such as a table
a t or a smartphone.
t
Mobile GMS excludes orders initiated on
mobile devices but ultimately completed on a desktop. We believe that mobile GMS indicates our success in converting mobile activity into mobile purchases and
demonstrates our ability to grow GMS and revenue.
International GMS
International GMS is GMS from transactions where either the billing address for the Etsy seller or the shipping address for the Etsy buyer at the time of sale is
outside of the United States. We believe that international GMS shows the level of engagement of our community outside the United States and demonstrates our
ability to grow GMS and revenue.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adju
d sted EBITDA
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we provide Adjusted
d
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure that represents our net loss adjusted to exclude: interest and
other non-operating expense, net; provision for income taxes; depreciation and amortization; stock-based compensat
m
ion expense; loss on asset impairment; net
unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities; foreign exchange loss; acquisition-related expenses and contributions to Good Work Institut
t e (forme
r rly Etsy.org).
Below is a reconciliation of Adju
d sted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparabl
m
e GAAP financial measure.
We have included Adjuste
d
d EBITDA because it is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to evaluate our operating perform
f
ance and trends,
allocate internal resources, prepare and approve our annual budget, develop short- and long-term operating plans, determi
r ne incentive compe
m nsation and assess the
health of our business. As our Adjuste
d
d EBITDA increases, we are able to invest more in our platform.
We believe that Adjuste
d
d EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period compari
m
sons of our business as it removes the impact of certain non-cash
items and certain variable charges.
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Adju
d sted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reporte
r d
under GAAP.
A Some of these limitations are:
•

although depreciation and amorti
r zation are non-cash charge
r s, the assets being depreciated and amortiz
r ed may have to be replaced in the future, and
Adju
d sted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impa
m ct of stock-based compensation expense or changes in the fair value of warrants;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impa
m ct of foreign exchange loss;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impa
m ct of loss on asset impa
m irme
r nt;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect acquisition-related expenses;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect other non-operating expenses, net of other non-operating income, including net interest expense;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impa
m ct of our contributions to Good Work Institute (formerly
r Etsy.org); and

•

other companies, including companies in our industry,
r may calculate Adju
d sted EBITDA differently, which reduces its useful
f ness as a comparative
measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider Adju
d sted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including net loss and our other GAAP
A
results.
The following table reflects the reconciliation of net loss to Adju
d sted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Excluding:
Interest and other non-operating expense, net(1)
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization(1)

549

1,202

5,502

4,983

26,069

27,025

17,223

18,550

22,525

Stock-based compensation expense

5,920

8,981

13,168

Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions

4,130

1,860

2,733

—

—

551

411

3,133

—

Foreign exchange loss

3,049

21,775

14,951

Acquisition-related expenses

2,059

—

570

—

3,500

Loss on asset impairment
Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

Contribution to Good Work Institute (for
f merly Etsy.org)(2)
Adjusted EBITDA

$

23,081

$

31,007

—
$

57,124

(1) Included in interest and depreciation expense amounts above, interest and depreciation expense related to our new headquarters under build-to-suit
accounting requirements, which commenced in May 2016, for the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Interest expense

$

Depreciation

—
—

$

—

$

—

(2) Etsy made a one-time contribution of 188,235 shares of common stock totaling $3.2 million and $0.3 million to Good Work Institute (formerly
r
Etsy.org) durin
r g the first and second quarters of 2015, respectively.
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5,337
2,186

Key Factors Affe
f cting Our Performance
We believe that our perfor
f rmance and future success depend on a numbe
m r of factors that present significant opportu
r nities for us but also pose risks and
challenges, including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors.”
Growth and Retention of Active Sellers and Active Buyers
Our success depends in part on the growth
w and retention of our active sellers and active buyers. Our revenue is driven by the number of active sellers, seller
engagement, the number of active buyers, buyer engagement and our ability to maintain trus
r ted markets. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, our markets had grown
w to
1.7 million active sellers and 28.6 million active buyers, up from 1.6 million active sellers and 24.0 million active buyers as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015. We
believe two of our most significant opportu
r nities to drive growth
w within our markets are to bring new buyers to Etsy and to encourage existing buyers to
return more frequently. Repeat purchases demonstrate the loyalty of Etsy buyers. In 2016, approximately 41.0% of our active buyers made purchases on two
or more days in the previous 12 months, up from 40.6% in 2015. To analyze our retention rates, we measure repeat activity by Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers.
Cohort of 2011, 2012 and 2013 Active Sellers
We refer to active sellers as of Decembe
m r 31, 2011 as “2011 Active Sellers,” as of Decembe
m r 31, 2012 as “2012 Active Sellers” and as of Decembe
m r 31, 2013 as
“2013 Active Sellers.” Of total 2011 Active Sellers, 32.3% remained active sellers through their fourth
r year on the platform, compared to 32.3% for 2012
Active Sellers and 31.5% for 2013 Active Sellers. The average annual GMS per 2011 Active Seller during their fourth
r year on the platform was over five
times higher than their first year, compared to over four times higher for 2012 Active Sellers and almost four times higher for 2013 Active Sellers.
2011 Active Sellers
100%

2012 Active Sellers
2013 Active Sellers
80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
Year 1

AVG. GMS PER SELLER

Year 2

Year 3

Year 4

2011

$817

$2,241

$3,314

2012

$1,079

$2,598

$3,935

$4,299
$4,557

2013

$1,260

$3,110

$4,190

$4,620

Cohort
r of 2011, 2012 and 2013 Active Sellers

This cohort data demonstrates our success in retaining sellers over a multi-year period, with the sellers that remain on our platform maintaining consistent
GMS growth
w .
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Cohort of 2011, 2012 and 2013 Active Buyer
u rs
We refer to active buyers as of Decembe
m r 31, 2011 as “2011 Active Buyers,” as of Decembe
m r 31, 2012 as “2012 Active Buyers” and as of Decembe
m r 31, 2013
as “2013 Active Buyers.” Of total 2011 Active Buyers, 44.7% remained active buyers through their fourth
r year on the platform, compared to 42.5% for 2012
Active Buyers and 41.1% for
r year on the platform was 89.2% higher
f 2013 Active Buyers. The average annual GMS per 2011 Active Buyer during their fourth
than their first year, compared to 88.3% for 2012 Active Buyers and 80.5% for 2013 Active Buyers. We note that 2013 was the first year we starte
r d to
significantly invest in our paid acquisition marketing effo
f rts to grow our buyer base.
2011 Active Buyers
100%

2012 Active Buyers
2013 Active Buyers
80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
Year 1

AVG. GMS PER BUYER

Year 2

Year 3

Year 4

2011

$103

$177

$186

2012

$96

$163

$173

$195
$181

2013

$96

$161

$168

$174

Cohort
r of 2011, 2012 and 2013 Active Buyers
r

This cohort
r data demonstrates our ability to consistently retain buyers over a multi-year period and reflects the loyalty of our buyer base. We have identifie
f d
our ability to increase purchase frequency among these long-term buyers as one of our significant opportu
r nities for growth
w and we are focused on impr
m oving
search and recommendations to better match our buyers with the nearly 45 million items listed on Etsy.com, driving buyer growth
w and retention.
Seller Services Growth
Our business model is based on shared success: we make money when Etsy sellers make money, so we continue to invest in building the platform they
depend on. Over the long term, our goal is to become the central hub for creative entrepreneurs and to support
r them wherever they choose to pursue
commerce. To achieve this, we continue to invest our resources to develop in-house a cohesive platform of Seller Services and tools that help sellers start,
r
manage and scale their businesses. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, 51.7% of active sellers used one or more of our Seller Services compared to 48.1% of active
sellers as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015. For Decembe
m r 31, 2016, this included 45.5% of active sellers using Direct Checkout, 15.9% of active sellers using Promoted
Listings, 26.3% of active sellers in the United States and Canada using Shipping Labels and 2.5% of active sellers using Pattern (includes eight months of
paid seller activity since the launch of this service in April 2016). Additionally, in 2016 approximately 78% of GMS was processed through Direct Checkout
compared to 62% in 2015. We expect continued revenue growth
w in 2017 from our existing Seller Services, albeit at a slower pace than 2016, driven by both
adoption and product enhancements, with the aim, over time, of re-investing this revenue to build a suite of services that form a cohesive platform for the best
place to run a business.
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Investment in Marketing
We are focusing on initiatives to shape perceptions of Etsy’s markets as go-to shopping destinations for unique items that consumers use in their everyday lives by
investing in both acquisition and brand marketing. Within acquisition marketing, we align our investments with a model that is guided by our two-year lifetime
value model and makes conservative assumptions about how paid traffic will perform
f
compared
m
with organic traffic. We remain committed to achieving positive
return on investment at the aggregate company
m
level on our marketing spend and maintaining a marketing payback period that continues to outper
t form our twoyear lifetime value model. Over time, we believe this will help us attract a larger audience and also encourage existing buyers to make more frequent
q
purchases.
We launched
a
our first global brand marketing campaign, called “Difference
f
Makes Us,” in September 2016 to showcase the breadth and depth of items available
within the Etsy.com market. In 2016, we spent $82.8 million on marketing expenses, or 22.7% of revenue, up 24.0% over 2015. In 2015, we spent $66.8 million
on marketing expenses, or 24.4% of revenue, up 68.4% over 2014. In the upcoming year, we expect marketing expenses to increase as a percentage of total
revenue as we continue to increase our investment in brand-related marketing following the launch of our global brand campaign
m
in 2016.
Investment in Technology
Our widely-respected engineering team has built a sophisticated platform that enabl
a es millions of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to smoothly transact across borders,
languages and devices. We have made, and will continue to make, significant investments in our platform to attract buyers and sellers to our markets and enhance
their experience. In September 2016, we acquired Blackbird, a machine learning company,
m
which we believe will augment our ability to surface the most relevant
and personalized search results going fo
f rward. In 2016, we spent $55.1 million on product development expenses, or 15.1% of revenue, up 29.0% over 2015 and
in 2015, we spent $42.7 million on product development expenses, or 15.6% of revenue, up 16.5% over 2014. In addition, we capitalized website development and
internalr
use software, including stock-based compensati
m
on, of $12.6 million and $10.2 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively. We plan to continue to invest in
innovation to address the needs of our community. In the upcoming year, we expect product development expenses to increase as a percentage of total revenue as
we continue to recognize expenses related to the acquisition of Blackbird.
Investment in Connected Experience—Mobile and Desktop
We want to engage Etsy buyers wherever they are and to provide an enjoyable and connected shopping experience no matter what device they use to access any
of the Etsy markets. We are a mobile-first company,
m
meaning mobile is integrated into everything that we do, and have focused on expanding our mobile
capabilities in recent years. Our mobile website and our “Buy on Etsy” mobile app for Etsy buyers include search, discovery, curation, personalization and social
shopping features
t
, optimized for a personal mobile experience. Mobile visits represented 64% of total visits in 2016 compared
m
to 60% of total visits in 2015. In
addition, mobile GMS was 48% of total GMS in 2016, up from 43% of total GMS in 2015. We are focused on continuing to narrow the gap between mobile visits
and mobile GMS in 2017.
International Growth
Our growth will depend in part on international Etsy sellers and international Etsy buyers constituting an increasing portion of our community. Our vision is
global and local, and our platform
r supports buyers and sellers in nearly every country in the world. International GMS was 30.4% of GMS in 2016 compared
m
to
29.8% in 2015. We expect international GMS to grow faster than U.S. domestic GMS in 2017, driven by our efforts to build local communities and foster local
connections and assuming that curren
r cy remains stable compared
m
to average levels in December
m
2016. In 2016, 33.3% of Etsy sellers were located outside the
United States, and Etsy.com is available in 10 languages, with our platform supporting buyers and sellers in nearly every country in the world. Cross-border
transactions is the largest component
m
of international GMS and we remain committed to reducing barriers such as language and currency so that sellers and buyers
from different
f
countries can easily connect and transact. We are also focused on building and deepening local Etsy communities around the world, each with its
own ecosystem of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. GMS generated between a non-U.S. buyer and a non-U.S. seller both in the same country grew approximately 47%
in 2016 compared
m
with 2015, making it the fastest growing category of international GMS. We continue to believe that we can grow internat
r ional GMS, over
time, to represent 50% of our total GMS. To meet our goals, we plan to continue to invest in local marketing and other locally-relevant tools and enhancements
around the world to encourage these connections.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists of Markets revenue, Seller Services revenue and Other revenue.
Markets. Markets revenue is primarily made up of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction on Etsy.com, exclusive of
shipping fees charged, and the listing fee of $0.20 she pays for each item she lists (for up to four months) on Etsy.com. Revenue from completed Wholesale
transactions through Etsy.com and transaction and listing revenue for other markets, including ALM and Etsy Studio, launching in 2017, are a smaller
contribution to Markets revenue.
Seller Services revenue. Seller Services revenue consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us for the Seller Services she uses, including Direct Checkout, Promoted
Listings, Shipping Labels and Pattern.
•

Revenue from Direct Checkout consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Direct Checkout fees vary
between 3-4% of the item’s total sale pric
r e plus a flat fee per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Direct Checkout fees
are based on an item’s total sale pric
r e, including shipping.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays us for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated
by Etsy buyers in our markets.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us when she purchases shipping labels directly through our platform, net of the cost
we incur in purchasing those shipping labels. We are able to provide our sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada
Post at discounted pric
r ing due to the volume of purchases through our platform.

•

Revenue from Pattern by Etsy consists of monthly subscrip
r tion and annual domain registration fees, an optional add-on, an Etsy seller pays to use our
custom website services.

Other revenue. Other revenue includes the fees we receive from Paypal for transactions that occur outside of Direct Checkout, funds we receive from a thirdparty for unused Etsy Gift Cards and revenue from commercial partnerships.
Our revenue recognition policies are discussed under “—Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates.”
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of the cost of interchange and other fees for credit card processing services, credit card verification service fees and credit
card chargebacks to support
r Direct Checkout revenue along with costs of refunds made to Etsy buyers that we are not able to collect from Etsy sellers. Cost of
revenue also includes expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of our platform
r and data centers, including depreciation and amortiz
r ation,
empl
m oyee-related costs and hosting and bandwidth costs. Our cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue may change over time as our revenue mix changes;
f example, to the extent that Direct Checkout revenue increases as a percentage of revenue, there may be a dampening
for
m
effect
f on our gross margin.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of marketing, product development and general and administrative expenses. Direct and indirect empl
m oyee-related expenses are the
most significant component
m
of the product development and general and administrative expense categories, and we expect these costs to increase as we continue to
hire new empl
m oyees in order to support our anticipated growth. We include stock-based compensat
m
ion expense in the applicable operating expense category based
on the respective equity award recipient’s function.
Marketing. Marketing expenses consist primarily of digital marketing and brand-related marketing expenses. Digital marketing largely consists of targeted
promotional campaigns
m
through electronic channels, such as product listing ads, search engine marketing and affil
f iate marketing, focused on buyer acquisition.
Our brand marketing effo
f rts use channels such as display and video to support campai
m gns focused on raising brand awareness and improving brand perception.
Marketing expenses also include employee-related expenses for our empl
m oyees involved in digital marketing, brand marketing and design, seller development and
growth, public relations and communications, product marketing and marketing research activities. Marketing expenses are primarily driven by investments to
grow and retain members on our platform.
r
Product development. Product development expenses consist primarily of emplo
m yee-related expenses for our empl
m oyees involved in engineering, product
management, product design and product research activities. Additional expenses include consulting costs related to the development, quality assurance and testing
of new technology and enhancement of our existing technology.
General and administ
i trative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the use of facilities and equipment, including
depreciation and amortization, rent, offic
f e overhead and certain professional services expenses. General and administrative expenses also include emplo
m yee-related
expenses for our employees involved in general corporate functions. General and administrative expenses are primarily driven by increases in headcount required
q
to support business growth.
Other (Expense) Income, net
Other (expense) income, net consists of interest expense, interest and other income, foreign exchange loss and net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities.
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Results of Operations
The following tables show our results of operations for the periods presented and express the relationship of certa
r in line items as a percentage of revenue for
those periods. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Revenue:
Markets

$

Seller Services
Other
Total revenue
Cost of revenue

108,732

$

132,648

$

158,204

82,502

136,608

4,357

4,243

200,857
5,906

195,591

273,499

364,967

73,633

96,979

123,328

121,958

176,520

241,639

Marketing

39,655

66,771

82,799

Product development

36,634

42,694

55,083

General and administrative

51,920

68,939

86,180

128,209

178,404

224,062

Gross profit
Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

(6,251)

(1,884)

17,577

Other expense, net

(4,009)

(26,110)

(20,453)

Loss befor
f e income taxes

(10,260)

(27,994)

(2,876)

Provision for income taxes

(4,983)

(26,069)

(27,025)

Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

Revenue:
Markets

55.6 %

48.5 %

43.3 %

Seller Services

42.2

49.9

55.0

2.2

1.6

1.6

100.0

100.0

100.0

Cost of revenue

37.6

35.5

33.8

Gross profit

62.4

64.5

66.2

Other
Total revenue

Operating expenses:
Marketing

20.3

24.4

22.7

Product development

18.7

15.6

15.1

General and administrative

26.5

25.2

23.6

65.5

65.2

61.4

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

(3.2)

(0.7)

4.8

Other expense, net

(2.0)

(9.5)

(5.6)

Loss befor
f e income taxes

(5.2)

(10.2)

(0.8)

Provision for income taxes

(2.5)

(9.5)

(7.4)

Net loss

(7.8)

(19.8)

(8.2)
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mparison of Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2016
Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Revenue:
Markets

$

Percentage of total revenue
Seller Services

$

136,608

$

4,243

$

273,499

$

25,556

19.3%

200,857

$

64,249

47.0%

$

1,663

39.2%

$

91,468

33.4%

55.0%
$

1.6%
$

158,204
43.3%

49.9%

Percentage of total revenue
Total revenue

$

48.5%

Percentage of total revenue
Other

132,648

5,906
1.6%

$

364,967

GMS increased $453.6 million, or 19.0%, to $2.8 billion in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. On a
currency-neutral basis (excluding the direct impa
m ct of currency translation on GMS from goods that are not listed in U.S. dollarsGMS growth
w for the year
ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 would have been 20.0%, or approximately one percentage point higher than the reporte
r d 19.0% growth
w . Supportin
r g this growth
w in
GMS, active sellers increased 11.8% to 1.7 million and active buyers increased 18.8% to 28.6 million at Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to Decembe
m r 31, 2015.
During the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, percent mobile visits increased as a percentage of total visits to approximately 64%, up from approximately 60%
for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and mobile GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to approximately 48%, up from approximately 43% for the
year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. These increases were a result of increased mobile traffi
f c and, to a lesser extent, continued impr
m ovements in our mobile
offe
f rings for Etsy buyers. Mobile GMS continued to grow faster than mobile visits and, as a result, the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS narrowed
slightly. Year-over-year, mobile app and mobile web GMS and conversion rates each continued to grow faster than desktop GMS. We anticipate conversion
rate gains across both mobile and desktop in 2017 that reflect impr
m ovements in our search and recommendations capabilities. We believe that we will
continue to see the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS narrow over time.
For the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, international GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to 30.4%, from 29.8% for the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2015. The impr
m oved performance in percent international GMS was largely driven by GMS growth
w between U.S. buyers and international sellers and GMS
growth
w between buyers and sellers outside of the U.S., both in the same country and cross-border. We continue to believe the decline of GMS between U.S.
sellers and international buyers, which decreased 8% for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, is indicative of the indirect impa
m ct of fluctuating currency
exchange rates on international buyer behavior, which is difficult to estimate. Finally, GMS growth
w between international buyers and sellers in the same
country remains the fastest growing category
r of international GMS. GMS between international buyers and sellers in the same country grew approximately
47% year-over-year during the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 and has grown
w from our smallest category
r historically to be more similar in size to GMS
between international buyers and sellers in different countries. We believe the robust growth
w in this GMS category
r demonstrates the progress we are making
on our strategy to build and deepen local Etsy communities around the world.
Revenue increased $91.5 million, or 33.4%, to $365.0 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, of
which 55.0% consisted of Seller Services revenue and 43.3% consisted of Markets revenue.
Markets revenue increased $25.6 million, or 19.3%, to $158.2 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015.
This growth
w corresponded with a 19.0% increase in GMS to a total of $2.8 billion for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016. As our GMS increased, our Markets
revenue increased, primarily due to growth
w in transaction fee revenue and, to a lesser extent, an increase in listing fee revenue.
Seller Services revenue increased $64.2 million, or 47.0%, to $200.9 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2015. The growth
w in Seller Services revenue was primarily driven by an increase in revenue from Direct Checkout, which continued to benefit from the
integration of Paypal through the anniversary
r of this integration at the end of the fourth
r quarter. As this integration was a substantial driver of year-over-year
Seller Services revenue growth
w , we expect Direct Checkout and Seller Services revenue growth
w to decelerate in 2017. Seller Services revenue also benefited
from
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the growth
w in revenue from Promoted Listings and Shipping Labels and, to a lesser extent, a modest contribution from Pattern by Etsy. The increase in
Promoted Listings revenue was due to higher click volume and overall product enhancements. The increase in Shipping Label revenue reflects a combination
of an increase in label volume and an increase in average margin per label. Seller Services revenue continued to outpace growth
w in Markets revenue durin
r g
2016. As of December 31, 2016, 51.7% of active sellers use one or more of our Seller Services compared to 48.1% of active sellers as of December 31, 2015.
At December 31, 2016, 45.5% of active sellers used Direct Checkout, 15.9% of active sellers used Promoted Listings, 26.3% of active sellers in the United
States and Canada used Shipping Labels and 2.5% of active sellers used Pattern. We expect modest contributions to revenue from recently launched Seller
Services and tools in 2017.
Other revenue increased $1.7 million, or 39.2%, to $5.9 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, mainly
due to the recognition of $1.7 million in revenue from accumulated unused gift card funds received from our third-party
r service provider. This represents the
three-year cumulative value of gift cards that the third-party service provider has concluded are not likely to be redeemed. Future unused gift card revenue
will be recognized monthly as earne
r d and is not anticipated to be signifi
f cant in future periods. This increase was partially offs
f et by a reduction of processing
fees from Paypal, a third-party
r payment processor, as a result of its integration into Direct Checkout.

Cost of Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Cost of revenue

$

96,979

Percentage of total revenue

$

123,328

35.5%

$

26,349

27.2%

33.8%

Cost of revenue increased $26.3 million, or 27.2%, to $123.3 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015,
prim
r arily
r as a result of additional costs to support
r the increase in Direct Checkout revenue and, to a lesser extent, an increase in empl
m oyee-related costs. Cost
of revenue decreased as a percentage of revenue due to the leverage we achieved in costs related to our technology infrastructure and empl
m oyee-related costs.
Operating Expenses
There were 1,043 total empl
m oyees on Decembe
m r 31, 2016, compared with 819 on Decembe
m r 31, 2015.
Marketing
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Marketing
Percentage of total revenue

$

66,771
24.4%

$

82,799

$

16,028

24.0%

22.7%

Marketing expenses increased $16.0 million, or 24.0%, to $82.8 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2015, primarily as a result of an increased spend on brand marketing campa
m igns and affi
f liate marketing related to buyer acquisition, as well as an increase in
empl
m oyee-related expenses in our marketing team, which includes our public relations, communi
m cations and seller development teams.
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Product development
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Product development

$

42,694

Percentage of total revenue

$

55,083

15.6%

$

12,389

29.0%

15.1%

Product development expenses increased $12.4 million, or 29.0%, to $55.1 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended
Decembe
m r 31, 2015, prim
r arily
r as a result of an increase in empl
m oyee-related expenses in our product and engineerin
r g teams, including additional expenses
resulting from the acquisition of Blackbird Technologies in Septembe
m r 2016.
General and administrative
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
General and administrative

$

68,939

Percentage of total revenue

$

86,180

25.2%

$

17,241

25.0%

23.6%

General and administrative expenses increased $17.2 million, or 25.0%, to $86.2 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 compared to the year ended
Decembe
m r 31, 2015, prim
r arily
r driv
r en by an increase in empl
m oyee-related expenses, overhead related to our new offi
f ce locations, including depreciation
expense related to our new Brooklyn headquarters, and profes
f sional services mainly related to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This increase was
partially offs
f et by a one-time contribution of $3.5 million to Good Work Institute (formerly
r Etsy.org) during the first half of 2015. Removing the impa
m ct of
this contribution, general and administrative expenses would have increased 31.7%. We expect general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue to decline in 2017.
Other Expense, net
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Other expense, net
Percentage of total revenue

$

(26,110)
(9.5)%

$

(20,453)

$

5,657

(21.7)%

(5.6)%

Other expense, net was $26.1 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, mainly due to a foreign currency loss due to intercompa
m ny debt in connection
with the revised global corporate structure that we impl
m emented on January 1, 2015. The loss was in addition to the markr to-marke
r t loss related to convertible
warrants. As a result of the IPO, the convertible warrants are now classified as equity instruments and do not require additional mark-to-market adju
d stments.
Other expense, net was $20.5 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, primarily as a result of a currency exchange loss related to the intercompa
m ny debt
and cash settlements resulting in realized currency loss as well as interest expense largely associated with the build-to-suit lease accounting for our new
corporate headquarters.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Provision for income taxes

$

(26,069)

Percentage of total revenue

$

(27,025)

(9.5)%

$

(956)

3.7%

(7.4)%

Our income tax provision for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016 was $26.1 million and $27.0 million, respectively.
The prim
r ary
r driv
r er of the income tax provision was tax expense related to our updated corporate structure of $17.1 million for the years ended Decembe
m r 31,
2015 and 2016. For both periods, other driv
r ers include the mix of income and losses in jurisdictions with a wide range of tax rates, the disallowance of the
benefit of losses in certain foreign jurisdictions and the amount of non-deductible stock-based compensation expense.
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2015
Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Revenue:
Markets

$

Percentage of total revenue
Seller Services

$

82,502

$

4,357

$

195,591

$

23,916

22.0 %

136,608

$

54,106

65.6 %

49.9%
$

2.2%
$

132,648
48.5%

42.2%

Percentage of total revenue
Total revenue

$

55.6%

Percentage of total revenue
Other

108,732

4,243

$

(114)

(2.6)%

1.6%
$

273,499

$

77,908

39.8 %

GMS increased $456.4 million, or 23.6%, to $2.4 billion in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014. On a
currency-neutral basis (excluding the direct impa
m ct of currency translation on GMS from goods that are not listed in U.S. dollarsGMS growth
w for the year
ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 would have been 25.2%, or approximately 1.6 percentage points higher than the reporte
r d 23.6% growth
w . Supporting this growth
w ,
active sellers increased 15.5% to 1.6 million and active buyers increased 21.4% to 24.0 million for at Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to Decembe
m r 31, 2014.
During the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, percent mobile visits increased as a percentage of total visits to approximately 60%, up from approximately 54%
m r 31, 2014 and mobile GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to approximately 43%, up fro
f m 37% for
f the year ended
for the year ended Decembe
Decembe
m r 31, 2014. These increases were a result of increased mobile traffi
f c and, to a lesser extent, impr
m ovements in our mobile offe
f rings for Etsy buyers.
For the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, interna
r tional GMS decreased as a percentage of total GMS to 29.8%, from 30.9% for the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014. We believe that the impa
m ct of currency exchange rates contributed to the year-over-year decline in percent international GMS for the reasons described
below. In addition, we believe weaker local currencies in key international markets continued to dampen the demand for U.S. dollar-denominated goods
during the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, impa
m cting both GMS growth
w and percent international GMS. In light of these factors, we estimate that the impa
m ct
of currency translation on goods not listed in U.S. dollars and the impa
m ct of currency exchange rates on international buyer behavior reduced our year-overyear GMS growth
w rate by approximately two to four percentage points for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015.
Revenue increased $77.9 million, or 39.8%, to $273.5 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, of
which 49.9% consisted of Seller Services revenue and 48.5% consisted of Markets revenue.

52

Markets revenue increased $23.9 million, or 22.0%, to $132.6 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014.
This growth
w corresponded with a 23.6% increase in GMS to a total of $2.4 billion for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. As our GMS increased, our Markets
revenue increased, primarily due to growth
w in transaction fee revenue and, to a lesser extent, an increase in listing fee revenue.
Seller Services revenue increased $54.1 million, or 65.6%, to $136.6 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014. The growth
w in Seller Services revenue was primarily driven by an increase in revenue from Promoted Listings, as well as increases in Direct Checkout
and Shipping Labels revenue. The increase in Promoted Listings revenue was due to the re-launch of the product at the end of the third quarter of 2014. The
fourth
r quarter of 2015 was the first full quarter following the anniversary
r of the re-launch of Promoted Listings. The increase in Direct Checkout revenue
reflects an increase in the number of Etsy sellers using the service and the increase in overall GMS. Additionally, Direct Checkout revenue benefited from our
integration of PayPal during the fourth
r quarter of 2015. The increase in Shipping Label revenue reflects a combination of an increase in the number of Etsy
sellers using the service and enhancements to the product. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2015, 48.1% of active sellers use one or more of our Seller Services compared
to 46.1% of active sellers as of Decembe
m r 31, 2014. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2015, 40.2% of active sellers used Direct Checkout, 16.7% of active sellers used
Promoted Listings and 23.9% of active sellers in the United States and Canada used Shipping Labels.
Other revenue decreased $0.1 million, or 2.6%, to $4.2 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, mainly
the result of a decrease in processing fees received from Paypal, a third-party
r service provider, due to the integration of PayPal into Direct Checkout late in
the fourth
r quarter of 2015.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Cost of revenue

$

73,633

Percentage of total revenue

$

96,979

37.6%

$

23,346

31.7%

35.5%

Cost of revenue increased $23.3 million, or 31.7%, to $97.0 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014,
prim
r arily
r as a result of additional costs to support
r the increase in Direct Checkout revenue. To a lesser extent, the increase was due to increases in
depreciation and amortiz
r ation, empl
m oyee-related costs and hosting and bandwidth costs associated with ongoing maintenance of our technology
infrastructure. Cost of revenue decreased as a percentage of revenue due to moderate growth
w in empl
m oyee-related costs and costs related to our technology
infrastructure as compared to the growth
w in higher-margi
r n revenue streams such as Promoted Listings.
Operating Expenses
There were 819 total empl
m oyees on Decembe
m r 31, 2015, compared with 685 on Decembe
m r 31, 2014.
Marketing
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Marketing
Percentage of total revenue

$

39,655
20.3%

$

66,771

$

27,116

68.4%

24.4%

Marketing expenses increased $27.1 million, or 68.4%, to $66.8 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014, primarily as a result of an increase in spending on product listing ads and empl
m oyee-related expenses in our marketing team, which includes our public
relations, communications and seller development teams. The increase in marketing expenses was also impa
m cted by business changes and reorganizations
that occurred at the end of the third quarter in 2014, moving certain teams that were previously focused on product-related projects into marketing.
Excluding the
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impa
m ct of these changes, comparable marketing expenses in the year ended December 31, 2015 grew 57.4% compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014.
Product development
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Product development

$

36,634

Percentage of total revenue

$

42,694

18.7%

$

6,060

16.5%

15.6%

Product development expenses increased $6.1 million, or 16.5%, to $42.7 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended
Decembe
m r 31, 2014, prim
r arily
r as a result of an increase in empl
m oyee-related expenses in our product and engineerin
r g teams. The increase in product
development expenses was also impa
m cted by business changes and reorga
r nizations that occurred at the end of the third quarte
r r in 2014, moving certa
r in teams
to marketing that were previously focused on product-related projects. Excluding the impa
m ct of these changes, comparable product development expenses in
the year ended December 31, 2015 grew 22.5% compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014.
General and administrative
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
General and administrative

$

51,920

Percentage of total revenue

$

68,939

26.5%

$

17,019

32.8%

25.2%

General and administrative expenses increased $17.0 million, or 32.8%, to $68.9 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended
Decembe
m r 31, 2014, prim
r arily
r as a result of an increase in empl
m oyee-related expenses, the $3.5 million expense related to the one-time contribution of cash
and shares of our common stock to Good Work Institute (formerly
r Etsy.org), an increase in general offi
f ce and maintenance expenses and increased
profes
f sional services.
Other Expense, net
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

%

$

(in thousands except percentages)
Other expense, net
Percentage of total revenue

$

(4,009)
(2.0)%

$

(26,110)

$

(22,101)

NM

(9.5)%

Other expense, net increased $22.1 million to $26.1 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 compared to the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, primarily
as a result of as a result of a non-cash currency exchange loss of $21.8 million largely due to intercompa
m ny debt in connection with the revised global
corporate structure that we impl
m emented on January
r 1, 2015. The increase in other expense also reflects the mark-to-market loss related to convertible
warrants of $3.1 million. As a result of the IPO, the convertible warrants are now classified as equity instruments and do not require additional mark-to-market
adjustments in future
t
periods.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Provision for income taxes
Percentage of total revenue

$

(4,983)
(2.5)%

$

(26,069)

$

(21,086)

NM

(9.5)%

Our income tax provision was $26.1 million for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. The primary
r driver of the income tax provision was the $17.1 million
impa
m ct of our updated global corporate structure impl
m emented on January 1, 2015. Additional drivers of the income tax provision include the mix of income
and losses in jurisdictions with a wide range of tax rates, the disallowance of the benefit of losses in certa
r in foreign jurisdictions, tax benefit for a research and
development tax credit, the amount of non-deductible stock-based compensation expense, non-deductible charitable contributions and unrealized loss on
our warrant liability.
Our income tax provision was $5.0 million for the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014. Rate drivers included the establishment of a valuation allowance against
certa
r in of our deferred tax assets of $2.1 million, the mix of income and losses in jurisdictions with a wide range of tax rates, the amount of non-deductible
stock-based compensat
m
ion expense and the unrealized loss on our warrant liability.
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Quarterly Results of Operations
The following tables show selected unaudited quarterly results of operations and other unaudited operational and non-GAAP financial data for the eight
quarters ended December 31, 2016, as well as the percentage that each line item in the following results of operations data represents of revenue. The results
of operations data for each of these quarters have been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report
r on Form 10-K and includes all adju
d stments, which include only norma
r l recurring adju
d stments, necessary for the fair statement of our results of
operations for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.
r Our quarterly
r results of operations and operational and non-GAAP
A financial data will vary in the future. These quarte
r rly operating results are
not necessarily indicative of our operating results for any future quarter or year.
Three
r Months Ended
Mar. 31,
2015

June 30,
2015

Sept. 30,
2015

Dec. 31,
2015

Mar. 31,
2016

June 30,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

Dec. 31,
2016

(in thousands except share
r and per share
r amounts)
Revenue:
Markets

$

Seller Services
Other

30,151 $

30,469 $

32,232 $

39,796 $

35,730 $

37,405 $

38,133 $

46,936

27,279

29,770

32,329

47,230

43,533

47,069

48,511

61,744

1,113

1,126

1,135

869

2,584

875

918

1,529

58,543

61,365

65,696

87,895

81,847

85,349

87,562

110,209

Cost of revenue

20,709

21,909

24,165

30,196

27,911

29,098

29,314

37,005

Gross profit

37,834

39,456

41,531

57,699

53,936

56,251

58,248

73,204

Marketing

12,210

15,543

16,542

22,476

15,847

17,205

18,736

31,011

Product development

10,009

10,072

11,406

11,207

12,230

11,840

14,897

16,116

Total revenue

Operating expenses:

General and administrative

20,457

17,632

15,250

15,600

19,076

22,537

21,942

22,625

42,676

43,247

43,198

49,283

47,153

51,582

55,575

69,752

(4,842)

(3,791)

(1,667)

8,416

6,783

4,669

2,673

Other (expense) income, net

(21,019)

2,346

(1,129)

(6,308)

8,023

(7,719)

(Loss) income befor
f e income taxes

(25,861)

(1,445)

(2,796)

2,108

14,806

(3,050)

1,964

Provision for income taxes

(10,725)

(4,909)

(4,095)

(6,340)

(13,614)

(4,261)

(4,363)

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

(709)

3,452
(20,048)
(16,596)
(4,787)

Net (loss) income

$

(36,586) $

(6,354) $

(6,891) $

(4,232) $

1,192 $

(7,311) $

(2,399) $

(21,383)

Net (loss) income per share attributable to
common stockholders—basic and diluted

$

(0.84) $

(0.07) $

(0.06) $

(0.04) $

0.01 $

(0.06) $

(0.02) $

(0.19)

Weighted average common shares
outstanding—basic

43,703,508

96,503,149

111,329,917

111,677,599

112,129,470

113,045,888

113,757,212

115,296,380

Weighted average common shares
outstanding—diluted

43,703,508

96,503,149

111,329,917

111,677,599

115,368,566

113,045,888

113,757,212

115,296,380
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Three
r Months Ended
Mar. 31,
2015

June 30,
2015

Sept. 30,
2015

Dec. 31,
2015

Mar. 31,
2016

June 30,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

Dec. 31,
2016

Revenue:
Markets

51.5 %

49.7 %

49.1 %

45.3 %

43.7 %

43.8 %

43.5 %

42.6 %

Seller Services

46.6

48.5

49.2

53.7

53.2

55.1

55.4

56.0

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.0

3.2

1.0

1.0

1.4

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

Cost of revenue

35.4

35.7

36.8

34.4

34.1

34.1

33.5

33.6

Gross profit

64.6

64.3

63.2

65.6

65.9

65.9

66.5

66.4

Marketing

20.9

25.3

25.2

25.6

19.4

20.2

21.4

28.1

Product development

17.1

16.4

17.4

12.8

14.9

13.9

17.0

14.6

Other
Total revenue

Operating expenses:

General and administrative
Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

34.9

28.7

23.2

17.7

23.3

26.4

25.1

20.5

72.9

70.5

65.8

56.1

57.6

60.4

63.5

63.3

(8.3)

(6.2)

(2.5)

9.6

8.3

5.5

3.1

3.1

Other (expense) income, net

(35.9)

3.8

(1.7)

(7.2)

9.8

(9.0)

(0.8)

(18.2)

(Loss) income befor
f e income taxes

(44.2)

(2.4)

(4.3)

2.4

18.1

(3.6)

2.2

(15.1)

Provision for income taxes

(18.3)

(8.0)

(6.2)

(7.2)

(16.6)

(5.0)

(5.0)

(4.3)

Net (loss) income

(62.5)

(10.4)

(10.5)

(4.8)

1.5

(8.6)

(2.7)

(19.4)

Sept. 30,
2015

Dec. 31,
2015

June 30,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

Three
r Months Ended
Mar. 31,
2015

June 30,
2015

Mar. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2016

(in thousands except percentages)
Other financial and operations data(1):
GMS

$

531,915

$

546,197

$

568,787

$

741,488

$

629,853

$

669,704

$

677,221

$

865,207

Revenue

$

58,543

$

61,365

$

65,696

$

87,895

$

81,847

$

85,349

$

87,562

$

110,209

Markets revenue

$

30,151

$

30,469

$

32,232

$

39,796

$

35,730

$

37,405

$

38,133

$

46,936

Seller Services revenue

$

27,279

$

29,770

$

32,329

$

47,230

$

43,533

$

47,069

$

48,511

$

Net (loss) income

$

(4,232) $

1,192

$

(7,311) $

(2,399) $

Adjusted EBITDA

$

14,751

$

14,040

13,056

(36,586) $
6,673

$

(6,354) $
4,061

$

(6,891) $
6,224

$

14,049

$

$

$

61,744
(21,383)
15,277

Active sellers

1,428

1,484

1,533

1,563

1,603

1,654

1,706

1,748

Active buyers

20,837

21,697

22,603

24,046

25,027

26,104

27,140

28,566

Percent mobile visits

58%

60%

60%

61%

63%

64%

65%

65%

Percent mobile GMS

41%

43%

44%

44%

47%

47%

49%

49%

30.5%

30.2%

29.3%

29.2%

30.3%

30.7%

30.4%

30.4%

Percent international GMS

(1) See “—Key Operating and Financial Metric
r s” for the definitions of the following terms: “active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,”
“interna
r tional GMS,” “mobile visits” and “mobile GMS.”
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The following table reflects the reconciliation of net (loss) income to Adju
d sted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
Three
r Months Ended
Mar. 31,
2015

June 30,
2015

Sept. 30,
2015

Dec. 31,
2015

Mar. 31,
2016

June 30,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

Dec. 31,
2016

(in thousands)
Net (loss) income

$

(36,586) $

(6,354) $

(6,891) $

(4,232) $

1,192 $

(7,311) $

(2,399) $

(21,383)

Excluding:
Interest expense, net

178

308

453

263

97

1,333

2,046

2,026

10,725

4,909

4,095

6,340

13,614

4,261

4,363

4,787

Depreciation and amortization

4,341

4,732

4,968

4,509

4,731

5,103

5,786

6,905

Stock-based compensation
expense

2,133

2,222

2,204

2,422

2,581

3,452

2,975

4,160

Stock-based compensation
expense—acquisitions

1,841

598

719

656

816

1,110

151

—

—

—

—

—

—

551

Provision for income taxes

Loss on asset impairment
Net unrealized (gain) loss on
warrant and other liabilities

(12)

Foreign exchange loss (gain)

20,853

Acquisition-related expenses

—

Contribution to Good Work Institute
(for
f merly Etsy.org)
Adjusted EBITDA

3,200
$

6,673 $

3,151
(5,805)
—
300
4,061 $

(3)

(1,298)
—
(3)

679

6,048

—

—

—
(8,120)
—

—
6,386
—

—
(1,337)
512

—

—

—

—

—

6,224 $

14,049 $

14,751 $

14,040 $

13,056 $

—
18,022
58
—
15,277

Seasonality
Etsy sellers experience increased sales and use more Seller Services during the fourth
r -quarter holiday shopping season. This has resulted in increased revenue
for us during the fourth
r quarter of each fiscal year, which can compare to lower revenue in the first quarter of the following fiscal year. For exampl
m e, revenue
in the first quarter of 2016 decreased slightly when compared with revenue in the fourth
r quarter of 2015. We expect this seasonality to continue in future
years. Our cost of revenue and marketing expenses also follow this trend, with the highest costs corresponding with the fourth
r quarter and lower costs in the
first quarter of each fiscal year. As our growth
w rates moderate, the impa
m ct of these seasonality trends on our results of operations may become more
pronounced.
Our quarterly revenue increased sequentially quarter-to-quarter for all periods presented above, other than the first quarter of 2016, corresponding to our GMS
performance in the same periods. We cannot assure you that this pattern of sequential revenue growth
w will continue. We believe that it is generally more
meaningful to compare
m
year-over-year results than sequential quarter-over-quarter results.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following tables show our cash and cash equivalents, shortr term investments, accounts receivable and net working capital as of the dates indicated:
As of December 31,
2015

2016
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

$

Short-term investments

271,244
21,620

Accounts receivable, net
Net working capital

$

181,592
100,494

20,275

26,426

278,932

287,024

As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents, a majo
a rity of which were held in cash deposits and money market funds, were held for future capital
investments and working capital purpos
r es. Through Decembe
m r 31, 2016, we have invested approximately $40 million into the new Brooklyn, New York
headquarters, and do not expect any further significant cash outlays related to this build-out.
During the first quarter of 2016, our shortr term investments, a majo
a rity of which were held in fixed-income funds and AAA-rated U.S. Government and agency
securities, increased as the result of our investment of excess working capital funds into shortr term instruments aligned with our investment strategy. These
investments are intended to allow us to preserve
r our principal, maintain the ability to meet our liquidity needs, deliver positive yields and continue to
provide us with direct fiduciary control. In accordance with our investment policy, all investments have maturities no longer than 24 months, with the
average maturity of these investments maintained at 12 months or less.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and shortr term investments, together with cash generated from operations and available borro
r wing
capacity under our Credit Agreement (described below under “Credit Facility”, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12
months. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including those described in “—Key Factors
Affe
f cting Our Performance” above and in our “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K.
Sources of Liquidity
On Apr
A il 21, 2015, we completed our initial public offe
f ring, or IPO, in which we issued and sold 13,333,333 shares of common stock at a public offe
f ring price
of $16.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $194.4 million afte
f r deducting underwri
w ting discounts of $13.9 million and other offe
f ring expenses of
approximately $5.1 million. These expenses were recorded against the proceeds received from the IPO. In addition, we incurred approximately $0.3 million
in IPO-related expenses not deductible from IPO proceeds.
Credit Facility
t
In May 2014, we entered into a $35.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility pursuant to a Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement with several
lenders, or the Credit Agreement. In March 2015, we amended the Credit Agreement to increase the credit facility to $50.0 million. In Decembe
m r 2015, we
amended the Credit Agreement to clarify
f certa
r in provisions relating to permitted investments and to make other immaterial updates. As amended, the Credit
Agreement will mature in May 2019. The amended Credit Agreement includes a letter of credit sublimit of $10.0 million and a swingline loan sublimit of
$15.0 million. A description of the terms of the Credit Agreement is included in “Note 7—Debt” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
As of February 28, 2017, no amounts have been drawn under the credit facility.
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Historical Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2014

2015

2016

(in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

12,087

$

29,211

Investing activities

(20,723)

(23,283)

Financing activities

45,237

199,608

$

46,759
(135,430)
5,810

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Our cash flows from operations are largely dependent on the amount of revenue generated on our platform. Net cash provided by operating activities in each
period presented has been influenced by changes in accounts receivable, funds receivable and customer accounts, prepaid expenses and other current assets,
accounts payable and accrue
r d liabilities, funds payable and amounts due to customers and other liabilities.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $46.8 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, as a result of the net loss of $29.9 million, depreciation
and amortiz
r ation expense, stock-based compensation expense, foreign exchange loss, amortiz
r ation of deferred tax charges and other non-cash charges of
$77.2 million and changes in our operating assets and liabilities that used $0.5 million in cash.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $29.2 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015 as a result of the net loss of $54.1 million, depreciation and
amortiz
r ation expense, stock-based compensation expense, foreign exchange loss, amortiz
r ation of deferred tax charges and other non-cash charges of $74.0
million and changes in our operating assets and liabilities that provided $9.3 million in cash.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $12.1 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, as a result of the net loss of $15.2 million, depreciation
and amortiz
r ation expense, stock-based compensation expense and other non-cash charges of $27.9 million and changes in our operating assets and liabilities
that used $0.6 million in cash.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
During the first quarter of 2016, we made a significant investment of our excess cash balances into shortr term marketable securities. Our other primary
r
investing activities consisted of capital expenditures, including purchases of property and equipment, largely related to the build-out of our new Brooklyn
headquarters, and investments in website development and internal-use software and cash paid in the acquisition of Blackbird, a machine learni
r ng company,
both to support
r our overall business growth
w . Investments in website development and internal-use software and purchases of property and equipment may
vary from period to period due to timing of the expansion of our operations.
Net cash used in investing activities was $135.4 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016. This was primarily attributable to $47.7 million in capital
expenditures, including $36.0 million for purchases of property
r and equipment and $11.7 million for website development and internal-use software, net
purchases of marketable securities of $79.8 million and, $7.9 million in cash paid to acquire Blackbird.
Net cash used in investing activities was $23.3 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. This was primarily attributable to capital expenditures of $20.8
million, including $11.1 million for purchases of property and equipment and $9.7 million for website development and internal-use software and net
purchases of marketable securities of $2.5 million.
Net cash used in investing activities was $20.7 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014. This was primarily attributable to capital expenditures of $9.6
million, including $8.3 million for website development and internal-use software and $1.3 million for purchases of property and equipment, $5.3 million in
restricted cash associated with the lease of our Brooklyn, New York
r headquarters, $4.7 million in cash paid to acquire businesses and net purchases of
marketable securities of $1.1 million.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $5.8 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016. This was primarily attributable to proceeds from the
exercise of stock options of $10.6 million and the excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock
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options of $3.2 million, offs
f et by payments on capitalized lease obligations of $6.1 million, stock repurchase of $1.3 million and a deferred payment related
to the acquisition of ALM of $0.6 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $199.6 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015. This was primarily attributable to proceeds from our
initial public offe
f ring of $199.5 million, the excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock options of $3.9 million and proceeds from the exercise of stock
options of $3.6 million, offs
f et by payments related to our public offe
f ring of $4.0 million and payments on capitalized lease obligations of $3.3 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $45.2 million in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014. This was prim
r arily
r attrib
r utable to net proceeds from a
common stock financing of $35.0 million, proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $8.0 million and the excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock
options of $4.9 million, offs
f et by payments related to our public offe
f ring of $1.0 million and payments on capitalized lease obligations of $1.5 million.

Off-B
f alance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-b
f alance sheet arra
r ngements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K, in 2014, 2015 or 2016.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our future fixed contractual obligations as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016:
Less than 1
Year

Total

1–3
Years
r

3–5
Years
r

More than
5 Years
r

(in thousands)
Capital lease obligations

$

Operating lease obligations

12,125

$

6,829

27,294

Long-term obligations

$

5,258

$

38

3,026

7,604

6,189

$

—
10,475

474

232

242

—

—

1,615

1,140

475

—

—

Facility financing obligations

93,425

5,883

18,832

19,876

48,834

Purchase obligations

11,089

6,005

4,437

647

Interest payments

Total contractual obligations

$

146,022

$

23,115

$

36,848

$

26,750

—
$

59,309

Capital lease obligations consist of obligations under capital leases for computer equipment.
Operating lease obligations consist of obligations under non-cancelable operating leases for our headquarters in Brooklyn, New York and for our offi
f ces in
San Francisco, Hudson (New York,
k London, Dublin, Paris and Berlin.
Long-term obligations consist of commitments we assumed in connection with our 2014 acquisition of ALM.
Interest payments consist of interest due in connection with our capital leases.
Facility financing obligations consist of the portio
r n of our obligations for our headquarters in Brooklyn, New York that is accounted for as a build-to-suit
lease.
Purchase obligations consist of commitments for our co-location and other support
r services. For those agreements with variable terms, we do not estimate
what the total obligation may be beyond any minimum quantities and/or pricing.
In addition, we have uncerta
r in tax positions of $23.6 million and non-income tax related contingency reserves of $0.3 million, which are not reflected in the
table as the ultimate resolution and timing are uncerta
r in.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affe
f ct
the reporte
r d amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our
estimates are based on
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historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these
estimates.
We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, income taxes, website development costs and internal-use software,
purchase price allocations for business combinations, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, leases and stock-based compensation have the greatest
potential impa
m ct on our consolidated financial statements. Therefor
f e, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. For further
information on all of our significant accounting policies, see “Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenue is diversifie
f d, generated from a mix of markets activities and the Seller Services provided to Etsy sellers to help them start,
r manage and scale
their business. Our largest market is Etsy.com. We also own
w A Little Market, a handmade and supplies market for sellers and buyers in France. Markets
revenue is primarily made up of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction on Etsy.com and the $0.20 listing fee she
pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Seller Services revenue includes the fees Etsy sellers pay for services, which include Direct Checkout, a payment
processing service; Promoted Listings, an ad service for prominent placement in on-site search results; Shipping Labels, which allow Etsy sellers to purchase
shipping labels through our platform; and Pattern by Etsy, launched in April 2016, which enables sellers to easily create their own
w custom website. Other
revenue typically includes revenue generated from commercial partnerships.
We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are satisfie
f d: (1 there is persuasive evidence of an arra
r ngement; (2 the service has been provided
to the Etsy seller; (3 the collection of fees is reasonably assured; and (4 the amount of fees to be paid by the Etsy seller is fixed or determinable. We evaluate
whether it is appropriate to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon our evaluation of whether we are the primary
r obligor in a transaction, have
inventory
r risk and have latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other factors. Based on our evaluation of these factors, revenue is
recorded net of gross merchandise values associated with the transaction.
Markets revenue. Markets revenue is primarily made up of two components: the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction
on Etsy.com, exclusive of shipping fees charged, and the listing fee of $0.20 she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Transaction fees are recognized
when the corresponding transaction is made. Listing fees are recognized ratably over a four-month listing period, unless the item is sold or the seller relists it,
at which time any remaining listing fee is recognized. Revenue from completed Wholesale transactions through Etsy.com and transaction and listing revenue
for other markets, including ALM, are also included in Markets revenue.
Seller Services revenue. Seller Services revenue consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us for the Seller Services she uses, including Direct Checkout, Promoted
Listings, Shipping Labels and Pattern.
•

Revenue from Direct Checkout consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Direct Checkout fees vary
between 3–4% of the item’s total sale pric
r e plus a flat fee per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Direct Checkout fees
are based on the item’s total sale pric
r e, including shipping. Revenue from Direct Checkout is recognized when the corresponding transaction is made.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays us for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated
by Etsy buyers in our markets. Revenue is recognized when the Promoted Listing is clicked.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us when she purchases shipping labels through our platform, net of the cost we incur
in purchasing those shipping labels. We provide our sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post at a
discounted pric
r e due to the volume of purchases through its platform. We recognize Shipping Label revenue when an Etsy seller purchases a shipping
label. We recognize Shipping Label revenue on a net basis as we are not the prim
r ary
r obligor in the delivery of these services.

•

Revenue from Pattern consists of monthly subscrip
r tion and annual domain registration fees, an optional add-on, an Etsy seller pays to use our custom
website services. We recognize revenue from Pattern ratably over the term of the subscrip
r tion.

Other revenue. Other revenue includes the fees we receive from Paypal for transactions that occur outside of Direct Checkout, which is recognized as
transactions are processed, funds we receive from a third-party for unused Etsy Gift Cards, which are
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recognized when the third-party approves the release of these funds and revenue from other commercial partnerships, which are recognized as earned over the term
of the contract.
Internal-use Software and Website Development Costs
Costs incurred to develop software for internal use and for our website are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three
years. In accordance with authoritative accounting guidance, we begin to capitalize our costs to develop software when preliminary development effort
f s are
successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding and it is probable that the project will be compl
m eted and the software will be
used as intended. We also capitalize costs related to upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the expenditures will result in additional functionality or will
extend the useful life of existing functionality. Costs related to the design or maintenance of internal
r -use softw
f are and website development are expensed as
incurred. We periodically review these assets to determine whether the projects will be compl
m eted, placed in serv
r ice, removed from service or replaced by other
internally-developed or third-party software. If an asset is not expected to provide any future
t
benefit, the asset is retired and any unamortized cost is expensed.
Leases
We lease offic
f e space and certain computer
m
equipment in multiple locations under non-cancelable lease agreements. The leases are reviewed for classific
f ation as
operating or capital leases. For operating leases, rent is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease period. For capital leases, we record the leased asset with a
corresponding liability. Payments are recorded as reductions to the liability with an appropriate interest charge recorded based on their outstanding remaining
liability.
We consider the nature
t
of the renovations and our involvement during the construction period of newly-leased offic
f e space to determine if we are considered to be
the owner of the construction project during the construction period. If we determine that we are the owner of the construction project, we are requi
q red to capitalize
a
the fa
f ir value of the building as well as the construction costs incurred on our consolidated balance sheet along with a corresponding financing liability (“build-tosuit accounting”). Upon occupancy for build-to-suit leases, we assess whether the circumstances qualify for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting
guidance. If the lease meets the sale-leaseback criteria, we will remove the asset and related financial obligation from the balance sheet and treat the building lease
as an operating lease. If upon compl
m etion of construction, the project does not meet the “sale-leaseback” criteria, the leased property will be treated as a capi
a tal
lease for financial reporting purpo
r ses.
In May 2016, we took possession of our corporate headquarters in Brooklyn upon substantial compl
m etion of the construction phase of the build-out. Upon
compl
m etion of the project, we performed a sale-leaseback analysis pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840 - Leases, to determine the
appropriateness of removing the previously capitalized assets from the consolidated balance sheets. We concluded that components of “continuing involvement”
were evident as a result of this review, precluding the derecognition of the related assets from the consolidated balance sheets. In conjunction with the lease, we
also recorded a facility financing obligation equal to the fair market value of the assets received from the landlord. At the end of the lease term, including exercise
of any renewal options, the net remaining facility financing obligation over the net carrying value of the fixed asset will be recognized as a non-cash gain on sale
of the property. We do not report rent expense for the lease. Rather, rental payments under the lease are recognized as a reducti
d on of the financing obligation and
interest expense, and the associated asset capitalized throughout the construction project is depreciated over its determined useful life.
Income Taxes
We account for the income tax benefit (provision) based on income (loss) before income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
f
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect
f for the year in which the differences
f
are expected to settle. The effe
f ct on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date. We assess the need for a valuation allowance on a quarterly basis to reduce
d
deferred tax assets to the amounts we expect to be realized.
We account for uncertainty in income taxes using a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of
tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
t
For benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50%likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate audit settlement.
We recognize interest and penalties, if any, associated with tax matters as part of the income tax provision and include accrued
r
interest and penalties with the
related tax liability in our consolidated balance sheet.
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Business Combinations, Intangible Assets and Goodwill
We have complet
m ed a number
m of acquisitions of other businesses in the past and may acqui
q re additional businesses or technologies in the future. The results of
businesses acquired in a business combinat
m
ion are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. We allocate the purchase price,
which is the sum of the consideration provided and may consist of cash, equity or a combi
m nation of the two, in a business combi
m nation to the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the acquired business at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the identifiable assets and
liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to use signific
f ant judgment
and estimates, including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future
t
revenues and cash flows, discount rates and selection of comparable
m
companies
m
.
When we issue stock-based or cash awards to an acquired company’s
m
stockholders, we evaluate whether the awards are contingent consideration or compensati
m
on
for post-combi
m nation services. The evaluation includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the awards is contingent on the continued empl
m oyment of the
acquired company’s
m
stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If continued empl
m oyment is required for vesting, the awards are treated as compensation for postcombi
m nation services and recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
We carry
r intangible assets at cost, and we amortize them on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, typically three years. When circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable, we review our identifia
f able amortizable intangible assets for impairment.
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combi
m nation over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the goodwill may be impaired.
We have the option to first assess qualitative factors (“Step Zero”) to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after
f assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determi
r nes
it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carryi
r ng amount, then additional impai
m rment testing is not required. However, if
we conclude otherwise, we are then requi
q red to perform the first of a two-step impairment test. The first step involves compari
m
ng the estimated fair value of the
reporting unit with its respective book value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no
additional steps are necessary. If, however, the fair value of the reporting unit is less than book value, then a second step is required that compares the carryi
r ng
amount of the goodwill with its impl
m ied fair value. The estimate of implied fair value of goodwill may require valuations of certain internally-generated and
unrecognized intangible and tangible net assets. If the carryi
r ng amount of goodwill exceeds the impli
m ed fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized
in an amount equal to the excess.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are awarded to emplo
m yees, members of our board of directors and non-empl
m oyee third parties are measured at fair
value at each grant date. Stock options generally vest over a four-year period with 25% of the shares underlying the options vesting after the first year of servi
r ce
and ratably each month over the remaining 36-month period, subject
u
to continued service with us through each vesting date. RSUs generally vest 25% afte
f r the first
year following the vesting commencement date, which is the first day of the fiscal quarter closest to the date of grant, and then vest ratabl
a y each quarter over the
remaining 12-quarter period contingent on continued empl
m oyment with us on each vesting date.
Stock-based compensat
m
ion cost is measured on the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award using a Black-Scholes pricing model and recognized
as an expense over the empl
m oyee’s or director’s requisite service period on a straight-line basis. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of
our common stock on Nasdaq on the grant date. Forfei
f tures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitur
t es
differ
f from those estimates. We expect to continue to grant stock options and RSUs in the future,
t
and, to the extent that we do, our stock-based compensat
m
ion
expense recognized in future
t
periods will likely increase.
We account for stock-based compensati
m
on arrangements with non-employees
m
using a fair value approach. The fair value of these options is measured using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model refle
f cting the same assumptions as applied to emplo
m yee options in each of the reported periods, other than the expected life,
which is assumed to be the contractual
t
life of the option. The compensat
m
ion costs of these arrangements are subject to remeasurement over the vesting terms as
earned.
We account for stock-based compensati
m
on arrangements in restricted shares, subject to a put option that allows the holder of the shares to put the shares back to us
for cash, as liability-classified stock awards. These awards are re-measured at each reporting
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period, with changes in fair value being charged to the statement of operations. Compensation expense is recognized using a graded vesting methodology for
each separately vesting tranche of the award as though the award were, in substance, multiple awards. Unless the put option is exercised, the restricted shares
will be reclassified from a liability to an equity classified award upon the termination of the put option.
Key
e Assumptions
Our Black-Scholes option-pric
r ing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the
expected volatility of the pric
r e of our common stock, risk-fr
f ee interest rates, the expected term of the option and the expected dividend yield of our common
stock. These estimates involve inherent uncerta
r inties and the application of management’s judgment. If factors change and different assumptions are used,
our stock-based compensation expense could be materially differ
f ent in the future.
•

Fair Value of Our Common Stock. Prio
r r to our initial public offe
f ring in April 2015, our board of directors considered numerous objective and subjective
factors to determine the fair value of our common stock at each meeting at which awards were approved. The factors included: contempor
m aneous thirdparty valuations of our common stock; the pric
r es, rights, prefer
f ences and priv
r ileges of our prefe
f rred stock relative to those of our common stock; the
pric
r es of prefer
f rred stock sold by us to third-party investors in arms
r -length transactions; the pric
r es of common stock sold to third-party investors by us
and in secondary transactions or repurchased by us in arms
r -length transactions; the lack of marketability of our common stock; our operating and
financial results; current business conditions and projections; and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offe
f ring or sale
of our company, given then prevailing market conditions. Since our initial public offe
f ring, we have used the market closing pric
r e for our common stock
as reported on the Nasdaq to determine the fair value of our common stock.

•

Expe
x cted Volatility. As we do not have a sufficient trading history
r for our common stock, the expected stock pric
r e volatility for our common stock is
estimated by taking the average historic
r al pric
r e volatility for industry
r peers based on daily pric
r e observa
r tions over a period equivalent to the expected
term of the stock option grants. Industry
r peers, which we have selected, consist of several public companies in the industry
r similar in size, stage of life
f
cycle and financial leverage. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient
amount of historic
r al information regarding the volatility of our own
w common stock share pric
r e becomes available, or unless circumstances change such
that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case more suitable companies whose share pric
r es are publicly available would be used
in the calculation.

•

Risk-fre
f e Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of U.S. Treasury
r securities with maturities similar to the expected term of the
options for each option group.

•

Expe
x cted Term. The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. As we do not have sufficient
historic
r al experience for determining the expected term of the stock option awards granted, we base our expected term for awards issued to empl
m oyees or
members of our board of directors on the simplifie
f d method, which represents the average period from vesting to the expiration of the stock option. For
grants to non-empl
m oyees, the expected term is equal to the contractual term, which is generally ten years.

•

Exp
E ected Dividend Yield. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends to common stockholders and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero.

In determining the fair value of stock options granted, the following weighted average assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option-pric
r ing model for
awards granted in the periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

43.0% - 49.0%

40.4% - 45.0%

38.6% - 44.6%

1.7% - 2.1%

1.3% - 1.9%

1.1% - 2.1%

5.5 - 6.1

5.5 - 6.1

5.5 - 6.3

—%

—%

—%

Assumptions:
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Dividend rate
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For information regarding our recently issued accounting pronouncements and recently adopted accounting pronouncements, please see “Note 1—Bas
— is of
Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We have operations both within the United States and internationally and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including the
effect
f s of interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuat
t ions. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about
a
these market risks is
described below.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
t
As of December
m
31, 2016, the majority
a
of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were held in cash deposits, money market funds, fixed-income
funds and AAA-rated U.S. Government and agency securities. The fair value of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments would not be signific
f antly
affect
f ed by either an increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature
t
of these instruments. As of December
m
31, 2016, no amounts were
outstanding under our credit facility. Any future
t
borrowings incurred under the credit facility would accrue interest at a floating rate based on a formul
m a tied to
certain market rates at the time of incurrence (as described above). The majority
a
of our current interest expense is attributable to our facility financing obligation
related to our build-to-suit lease and is not impacted by external factors on interest rates. A 10% increase or decrease in our current interest rate would not have a
significant impact on our interest expense.
Currency Risk
Approximately 88% of our GMS is denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, the resulting revenue is not subject to foreign currency risk. However, in the year
ended December
m
31, 2016, approximately 12% of GMS was from goods that were not listed in U.S. dollars and, as a result, was imp
m acted by currency exchange
fluctuations. On a currency-neutral basis, GMS growth for the year ended December
m
31, 2016 would have been 20.0%, or approximately one percentage point
higher than the reported 19.0% growth. In addition, we believe weaker local currencies in key international markets continued to dampen the demand for U.S.
dollar-denominated goods during the year ended December
m
31, 2016, impacting both GMS growth and percent international GMS.
Our operating expenses are denominated in the currencies of the countries in which our operations are located, and may be subject to fluctuat
t ions due to changes in
currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Pound Sterling and Euro. Fluctuat
t ions in currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains
and losses in our statement of operations. On January 1, 2015, we imple
m mented a revised corporate structure
t
to more closely align our struct
r ture with our global
operations and future
t
expansion plans outside of the United States, which resulted in a U.S. dollar-denominated intercompany
m
debt on a Euro-denominated ledger
that may be subject to continued currency exchange rate risk. A 10% increase or decrease in current exchange rates could result in an increase or decrease to
currency exchange (loss) gain of $41.2 million.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The supplementary fin
f ancial infor
f rmation required by this item is included in “Management’s Discussion and Ana
A lysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”
Etsy, Inc.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Etsy, Inc.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of changes in
convertible prefe
f rred stock and stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Etsy, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at Decembe
m r 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decembe
m r
31, 2016 in confor
f rmi ty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effe
f ctive internal control over financial reportin
r g as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework
r (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible
for these financial statements, for maintaining effe
f ctive internal control over financial reportin
r g and for its assessment of the effe
f ctiveness of internal control
over financial reportin
r g, included in Management’s Report
r on Internal Control Over Financial Reportin
r g appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reportin
r g based on our audits (which was an integrated
audit in 2016). We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Uni
U ted States). Those
standards require that we plan and perfor
f rm the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement
and whether effe
f ctive internal control over financial reportin
r g was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportin
r g the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reportin
r g
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reportin
r g, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effe
f ctiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reportin
r g is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reportin
r g
and the preparation of financial statements for external purpos
r es in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reportin
r g includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
f on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reportin
r g may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effe
f ctiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Pricewaterhous
r
eCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 28, 2017
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
As of December 31,
2015

2016

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

271,244

$

181,592

Short-term investments

21,620

100,494

Accounts receivable, net

20,275

26,426

9,521

15,571

Deferred tax charge—current

17,132

17,132

Funds receivable and seller accounts

19,262

29,817

359,054

371,032

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax charge—net of current portion
Other assets

5,341

5,341

105,021

126,407

27,752

35,657

2,871

7,507

51,396

34,264

1,626

Total assets

985

$

553,061

$

581,193

$

14,382

$

10,978

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

31,253

Capital lease obligations—current

24,179

5,610

6,829

19,262

29,817

Deferred revenue

4,712

5,648

Other current liabilities

4,903

6,557

80,122

84,008

Funds payable and amounts due to sellers

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations—net of current portion

7,571

5,296

Deferred tax liabilities

61,420

65,068

Facility financing obligation

51,804

57,360

Other liabilities

21,646

24,704

222,563

236,436

Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock ($0.001 par value, 1,400,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2015 and 2016;
112,563,354 and 115,973,039 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2016, respectively)

113

116

Additional paid-in capital

406,020

442,510

Accumulated deficit

(86,440)

(116,341)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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10,805

18,472

330,498

344,757

553,061

$

581,193

Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
ar Ended
December 31,
2014
Revenue

$

Cost of revenue

2015

195,591

$

2016

273,499

$

364,967

73,633

96,979

123,328

121,958

176,520

241,639

Marketing

39,655

66,771

82,799

Product development

36,634

42,694

55,083

General and administrative

51,920

68,939

86,180

128,209

178,404

224,062

Gross profit
Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operations

(6,251)

(1,884)

17,577

(590)

(1,526)

(7,204)

Other (expense) income:
Interest expense and amortization of defer
f red financing costs
Interest and other income

41

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities
Foreign exchange loss
Total other expense

324

1,702

(411)

(3,133)

(3,049)

(21,775)

(14,951)
(20,453)

—

(4,009)

(26,110)

Loss befor
f e income taxes

(10,260)

(27,994)

(2,876)

Provision for income taxes

(4,983)

(26,069)

(27,025)

Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

$

(0.38)

$

(0.59)

$

(0.26)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

40,246,663

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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91,122,291

113,562,738

Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Net loss

$

2015

(15,243)

$

2016

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Cumulative translation adjustment

(4,091)

Unrealized losses on marketable securities, net of tax

14,746

(3)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

(4,094)

Comprehensive loss

$

(19,337)

The accompan
m ying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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7,675

(7)

(8)

14,739
$

(39,324)

7,667
$

(22,234)

Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Prefer
f red Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
Series A and A-1
Convert
v ible
Pref
r erred
r
Stock
Shares
Balance as of Dec ember 31,
2013

Amount

Series B
Convert
v ible
Pref
r erred
Stock
Shares

Series C
Convert
v ible
Pref
r erred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Series D and D-1
Convert
v ible
Pref
r erred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

Series E
Conver
v rti ble
Pref
r erred
r
Stock
Shares

Series 1
Conver
v rti ble
Pref
r erred
r
Stock

Amount

Shares

Series F
Convert
v ible
Pref
r erred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Common
Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

2,363,786

$ 808

1,128,425

$ 865

1,222,282

$ 3,361

4,215,610

$ 27,870

396,727

$ 6,201

203,399

$ 1,322

11,594,203

$ 39,785

33,082,948

$

33

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,215,628

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,301,887

Is s uanc e of stoc
t k at ac quis ition
date
t

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n—
acquis itions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Exc es s tax benefit
f from the
exerc is e of options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,363,786

808

1,128,425

865

1,222,282

3,361

4,215,610

27,870

396,727

6,201

203,399

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Exerc is e of warrants
t , net of
s hares withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Common s ttoc k is s ued through
f ring
public offe

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Contri
t butio
t n of s ttoc k to Good
Work Ins tit
t tutte (for
f merly
Ets
t y .org)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n—
acquis itions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Convers ion of liability
t - c lass ified
res tri
t c ted
t s hares upon v es ttin g

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$

20,944

Accumulate
a d
Deficit

Accumulate
a d
Other
Comprehensive(
v Loss)
Income

$

$

(17,134)

160

Total
$

4,003

Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n
6,110

—

—

6,110

4

7,952

—

—

7,956

3

34,997

—

—

35,000

3,580,476

4

27,719

—

—

27,723

—

—

756

—

—

756

—

—

—

4,877

—

—

4,877

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(15,243)

1,322

11,594,203

39,785

44,180,939

44

103,355

(32,377)

—

—

—

—

—

9,444

—

—

9,444

—

—

—

—

1,315,735

2

3,624

—

—

3,626

—

—

—

—

—

96,869

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

13,333,333

14

194,347

—

—

194,361

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

188,235

—

3,200

—

—

3,200

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,122

—

—

1,122

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,755

—

—

1,755

53,448,243

53

80,159

—

—

80,212
5,070

Exerc is e of v ested optio
t ns
Is s uanc e of common s ttoc k

Other
t
c omprehensive los s
—

(4,094)

(4,094)

Net loss
Balance as of Dec ember 31,
2014

—
(3,934)

(15,243)
67,088

Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n
Exerc is e of v ested optio
t ns

Convers ion of prefer
f red s ttoc k
upon public offe
f ring

(2,363,786)

(808)

(1,128,425)

(865)

(1,222,282)

(3,361)

(4,215,610)

(27,870)

(396,727)

(6,201)

(203,399)

(1,322)

(11,594,203)

(39,785)

Convers ion of liability
t - c lass ified
warrants
t upon public offe
f ring

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,070

—

—

Exces s tax benefit
f from the
exerc is e of options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,944

—

—

3,944

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

14,739

14,739

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(54,063)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

112,563,354

113

406,020

(86,440)

10,805

330,498

Other
t
c omprehensive inc ome
Net loss
Balance as of Dec ember 31,
2015

(54,063)

Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

13,960

—

—

13,960

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,535,620

3

10,565

—

—

10,568

Ves tin
t g of restri
t cted
t s toc
t k units,
net of s hares withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

144,651

—

(1,258)

—

—

(1,258)

Exerc is e of warrants
t , net of
s hares withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

80,011

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(36,346)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

685,749

—

6,966

—

—

6,966

Exerc is e of v ested optio
t ns

—

Retirement of res ttricted
t s hares
Is s uanc e of common s toc
t k at
acquis ition date
t
Stoc
t k -bas ed c ompensatio
t n—
acquis itions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,080

—

—

1,080

Convers ion of liability
t - c lass ified
res tri
t c tted s hares upon v es tin
t g

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,942

—

—

1,942

Exc es s tax benefit
f from the
exerc is e of options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,235

—

—

3,235

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

7,667

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(29,901)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

115,973,039

116

$ 442,510

$ (116,341)

Other
t
c omprehensive inc ome
7,667

Net loss
Balance as of Dec ember 31,
2016

—

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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—
$

18,472

(29,901)
$ 344,757

Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Stock-based compensation expense

5,920

8,981

13,168

Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions

4,130

1,860

2,733

—

3,200

—

17,223

18,550

22,525

Contribution of stock to Good Work Institute (for
f merly Etsy.org)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Bad debt expense

1,881

1,780

1,770

Foreign exchange loss

3,049

21,775

14,951

Amortization of debt issuance costs

68

167

184

Non-cash interest expense

—

—

5,337
914

Interest on marketable securities

—

—

411

3,133

—

Loss on disposal of assets

79

1,319

1,143

Loss on asset impairment

—

—

551

Amortization of defer
f red tax charge

—

17,132

17,132

(4,877)

(3,944)

(3,235)

Accounts receivable

(6,197)

(6,739)

(8,192)

Funds receivable and seller accounts

(3,975)

(9,025)

(10,910)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

(5,820)

(266)

(6,186)

Other assets

(1,446)

225

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Funds payable and amounts due to sellers
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

438

1,046

6,728

(3,585)

11,463

12,395

11,193

3,880

9,025

10,910

693

1,279

(198)

(4,301)

4,855

29,211

46,759

12,087

964

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

(4,688)

Purchases of property and equipment

(1,304)

Development of internal-use software

—

(7,880)

(11,116)

(35,981)

(8,280)

(9,719)

(11,769)

(21,698)

(26,040)

(160,504)

Sales of marketable securities

20,588

23,592

80,704

Net increase in restricted cash

(5,341)

Purchases of marketable securities

Net cash used in investing activities

—

(20,723)

—

(23,283)

(135,430)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from public offe
f ring
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Repurchase of stock

—

199,467

35,000

—

—

—

—
—
(1,258)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

7,956

3,626

Excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock options

4,877

3,944

3,235

(1,480)

(3,377)

(6,086)

Payments on capitalized lease obligations
Deferred payments on acquisition of business

(75)

Payments relating to public offe
f ring

—

(1,041)

Net cash provided by financing activities

10,568

(649)

(4,052)

45,237

—

199,608

5,810

Effe
f ct of exchange rate changes on cash

(3,737)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

32,864

201,585

(89,652)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

36,795

69,659

271,244

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

73

$

69,659

(3,951)

$

271,244

(6,791)

$

181,592

Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest

$

342

$

1,346

$

2,000

Cash paid for income taxes

$

217

$

7,604

$

10,559

Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations

$

5,564

$

11,657

$

5,030

Stock-based compensation capitalized in development of capitalized software

$

190

$

463

$

792

Non-cash additions to development of internal-use software and property and equipment

$

2,510

$

12,721

$

2,239

Non-cash addition to construction in progress related to build-to-suit lease and facility financing obligation

$

50,320

$

1,484

$

—

Non-cash addition to capitalized public offe
f ring costs

$

1,413

$

13

$

—

Fair value of common stock issued in acquisition

$

27,723

$

—

$

6,966

Supplemental non-cash disclosures:

The accompan
m ying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Etsy, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Signific
f ant Accounting Policies
Descript
i ion of Business
Etsy, Inc. (the “Compa
m ny” or “Etsy” was incorporated in Delaware in Februa
r ry 2006. Etsy offe
f rs markets, services and technology that empo
m wer creative
entrepreneurs and shape a positive future for business. The Company generates revenue primarily from transaction and listing fees, Direct Checkout fees,
Promoted Listing fees and Shipping Label sales.
Initial Public Offe
f ring
On April 21, 2015, the Company completed an initial public offe
f ring (the “IPO” in which it issued and sold 13,333,333 shares of common stock at a public
offe
f ring price of $16.00 per share. The Company received net proceeds of $194.4 million afte
f r deducting underwri
w ting discounts of $13.9 million and other
offe
f ring expenses of approximately $5.1 million. These expenses were recorded against the proceeds received from the IPO.
Certain selling stockholders sold an additional 5,833,332 shares of common stock in the IPO. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of
shares sold by the selling stockholders.
Upon the closing of the IPO, all outstanding shares of prefer
U
f rred stock of the Company converted into 53,448,243 shares of common stock. In addition, all
outstanding warrants for prefer
f rred stock converted into warrants for 203,030 shares of common stock.
The Company effe
f cted a 1-for-2 reverse split of its common stock on March 25, 2015. The reverse split combined each two shares of the Company’s issued
and outstanding common stock into one share of common stock and correspondingly adju
d sted the conversion prices of its convertible prefe
f rred stock. No
fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse split, and fractional shares resulting from the reverse split were rounded down
w to the nearest whole
share. All share, per share and related information presented in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been retroactively
adju
d sted, where applicable, to reflect the reverse stock split.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Etsy and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompa
m ny balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in confor
f rmi ty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP
A ” requires management to make estimates and judgments that affe
f ct the reporte
r d amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reporte
r d amounts of revenues and expenses during the reportin
r g period. The
accounting estimates that require management’s most difficult and subjective judgments include revenue recognition, income taxes, website development
costs and internal-use software, purchase price allocations for business combinations, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, leases and stock-based
compensation. The Company evaluates its estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis and revises them when necessary. Actual results may differ from the
original or revised estimates.
Revenue Recognition
The Company's revenue is diversifie
f d, generated from a mix of market activities and the Seller Services provided to Etsy sellers to help them start,
r manage
and scale their business. The Company's largest market is Etsy.com. The Company also owns
w A Little Market, a handmade and supplies market for sellers and
buyers in France. Markets revenue is primarily made up of the 3.5% transaction fee an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction on Etsy.com and the
$0.20 listing fee she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Seller Services revenue includes the fees Etsy sellers pay for services, which include Direct
Checkout, a payment processing service; Promoted Listings, an ad service for prominent placement in on-site search results; Shipping Labels, which allow
Etsy sellers to directly purchase shipping label
a s through the Company'
m
s platform; and Pattern by
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Etsy, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Etsy, launched in April 2016, which enables sellers to easily create their own
w custom website. Other revenue typically includes revenue generated from
commercial partnerships and processing fees we receive from Paypal.
The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arra
r ngement; (2) the service has
been provided to the Etsy seller; (3) the collection of fees is reasonably assured; and (4) the amount of fees to be paid by the Etsy seller is fixed or
determinable. The Company evaluates whether it is appropria
r te to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon its evaluation of whether it is the
prim
r ary
r obligor in a transaction, has inventory
r risk and has latitude in establishing pric
r ing and selecting suppliers, among other factors. Based on its
evaluation of these factors, revenue is recorded net of gross merchandise values associated with the transaction.
Markets
t revenue. Markets revenue is prim
r arily
r made up of two components: the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction
on Etsy.com, exclusive of shipping fees charge
r d, and the listing fee of $0.20 she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Transaction fees are recognized
when the corresponding transaction is made. Listing fees are recognized ratably over a four-month listing period, unless the item is sold or the seller relists it,
at which time any remaining listing fee is recognized. Revenue from completed Wholesale transactions through Etsy.com and transaction and listing revenue
for other markets, including ALM are also included in Markets revenue.
Seller Services revenue. Seller Services revenue consists of fees an Etsy seller pays the Company for the Seller Services she uses, including Direct Checkout,
Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels and Pattern.
r
•

Revenue from Direct Checkout consists of fees an Etsy seller pays the Company to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Direct Checkout
fees vary between 3-4% of the item’s total sale pric
r e plus a flat fee per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Direct
Checkout fees are based on the item’s total sale pric
r e, including shipping. Revenue from Direct Checkout is recognized when the corresponding
transaction is made.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated by
Etsy buyers in the Company's markets. Revenue is recognized when the Promoted Listing is clicked.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays the Company when she purchases shipping labels through its platform, net of the cost
the Company incurs in purchasing those shipping labels. The Company provides its sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx
and Canada Post at a discounted pric
r e due to the volume of purchases through its platform. The Company recognizes Shipping Label revenue when an
Etsy seller purchases a shipping label. The Company recognizes Shipping Label revenue on a net basis as it is not the prim
r ary
r obligor in the delivery of
these services.

•

Revenue from Pattern consists of monthly subscrip
r tion and annual domain registration fees, an optional add-on, an Etsy seller pays to use our custom
website services. The Company recognizes revenue from Pattern ratably over the term of the subscrip
r tion.

Other revenue. Other revenue includes the fees the Company receives from Paypal for transactions that occur outside of Direct Checkout, which is recognized
as transactions are processed, funds the Company receives from a third-party for unused Etsy Gift Cards, which are recognized when the third-party approves
the release of these funds and revenue from other commercial partnerships, which are recognized as earne
r d over the term of the contract.
The following table summarizes revenue by type of service (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Markets

$

Seller Services

108,732

2015
$

82,502

Other
$

76

195,591

2016
$

136,608

4,357

Revenue

132,648
4,243

$

273,499

158,204
200,857
5,906

$

364,967

Etsy, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists prim
r arily
r of the cost of interchange and other fees for credit card processing services, credit card verification service fees and credit
card charge
r backs to support
r Direct Checkout revenue and costs of refunds made to Etsy buyers that the Company is not able to collect from Etsy sellers. Cost
of revenue also includes expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of the Company’s platform and data centers, including depreciation and
amortiz
r ation, empl
m oyee-related costs and hosting and bandwidth costs.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful
f Accounts
The Company’s trade accounts receivable are recorded at amounts billed to Etsy sellers and are presented on the consolidated balance sheet net of the
allowance for doubtful
f accounts. The allowance is determined by a numbe
m r of factors, including age of the receivable, current economic conditions, historic
r al
losses and management’s assessment of the financial condition of Etsy sellers. Receivables are writte
r n off
f once they are deemed uncollectible, which may
aris
r e when Etsy sellers file for bankrupt
r cy or are otherwise deemed unable to repay the amounts owed to the Company. Estimates of uncollectible accounts
receivable are recorded to general and administrative expense.
The following table summarizes the allowance activity durin
r g the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

Bad debt expense

1,279

2015
$

1,881

Write-offs
f , net of recoveries and other adjustments
$

1,841

2016
$

1,780

(1,319)

Balance as of the end of period

1,841
(1,550)

$

2,071

2,071
1,770
(1,842)

$

1,999

Funds
d Receivable and Seller Accounts and Funds
d Paya
a ble and Amounts
t due to Sellers
The Company records funds receivable and seller accounts and funds payable and amounts due to sellers as current assets and liabilities, respectively, on the
consolidated balance sheet. Funds receivable and seller accounts represent amounts received or expected to be received from Etsy buyers via third-party
credit card processors, which flow through an Etsy bank account for payment to Etsy sellers. This cash and related receivable represent the total amount due
to sellers, and as such a liability for the same amount is recorded to funds payable and amounts due to Etsy sellers.
Property
t and Equipm
i ent
Property and equipment, consisting principally of building, computer equipment and leasehold impr
m ovements, are recorded at cost. The Company capitalizes
construc
r tion in progress for build-to-suit lease agreements where we are the owne
w r, for accounting purpos
r es only, during the construc
r tion period.
Depreciation and amortiz
r ation begin at the time the asset is placed into service and are recognized using the straight-line method in amounts sufficient to
relate the cost of depreciable and amortiz
r able assets to operations over their estimated useful
f lives. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as
incurred. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortiz
r ation are removed from the balance sheet and the
resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations.
When events or changes in circumstances require, the Company assesses the likelihood of recovering the cost of tangible long-lived assets based on its
expectations of future profita
f bility, undiscounted cash flows and management’s plans with respect to operations to determine if the asset is impaired and
subject to write-off.
f Measurement of any impa
m irme
r nt loss is based on the excess of the carry
r ing value of the asset over the fair value.
Internal-u
l se Soft
o ware and Website Development Costs
t
Costs incurred to develop software for internal use and the Company’s website are capitalized and amortiz
r ed over the estimated useful
f life
f of the software,
generally three years. In accordance with authoritative accounting guidance, capitalization of costs to develop software begin when preliminary
r development
effort
f s are successfully compl
m eted, management has authorized and
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committed project funding and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. The Company also capitalizes costs
related to upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the expenditures will result in additional functionality or will extend the useful
f life of existing
functionality. Costs related to the design or maintenance of internal-use software and website development are expensed as incurred. The Company
periodically reviews internal-use software and website development costs to determine whether the projects will be completed, placed in service, removed
from service or replaced by other internally developed or third-party software. If the asset is not expected to provide any future benefit, the asset is retired and
any unamortized cost is expensed. These costs are included in property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets.
Leases
The Company leases offi
f ce space and certain computer equipment in multiple locations under non-cancelable lease agreements. The leases are reviewed for
classification as operating, capital or build-to-suit leases. For operating leases, rent is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease period. For capital
leases, the Company records the leased asset with a corresponding liability. Payments are recorded as reductions to the liability with an appropriate interest
charge recorded based on the then-outstanding remaining liability.
The Company considers the nature of the renovations and the Company’s involvement during the construc
r tion period of newly leased offi
f ce space to
determine if it is considered, for accounting purpos
r es only, to be the owne
w r of the construc
r tion project durin
r g the construc
r tion period. If the Company
determines that it is the owne
w r of the construc
r tion project, it is required to capitalize the fair value of the building as well as the construc
r tion costs incurred on
its consolidated balance sheet along with a corresponding financing liability (“build-to-suit accounting”. Upon occupancy for build-to-suit leases, the
Company assesses whether the circumstances qualify
f for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting guidance. If the lease meets the sale-leaseback
criteria, the Company will remove the asset and related financial obligation from the balance sheet and treat the building lease as an operating lease. If upon
completion of construc
r tion, the project does not meet the sale-leaseback criteria, the leased property will be treated as a capital lease for financial reportin
r g
purpos
r es.
In May 2016, the Company took possession of its corporate headquarters in Brooklyn, New York
r upon substantial completion of the construc
r tion phase of
the build-out. Upon completion of the project, the Company perfor
f rmed a sale-leaseback analysis pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”
840 - Leases, to determine the appropriateness of removing the previously capitalized assets from the consolidated balance sheets. The Company concluded
that components of “continuing involvement” were evident as a result of this review, precluding the derecognition of the related assets from the consolidated
balance sheets. In conjunction with the initiation of the lease in May 2014, the Company also recorded a facility financing obligation equal to the fair market
value of the assets received from the landlord. At the end of the lease term, including exercise of any renewal options, the remaining value of the net facility
financing obligation over the net carry
r ing value of the fixed asset will be recognized as a non-cash gain on sale of the property. The Company does not report
r
rent expense for the lease. Rather, rental payments under the lease are recognized as a reduction of the financing obligation and interest expense, and the
associated asset capitalized throughout the construc
r tion project is depreciated over its estimated useful
f life.
f
Income Taxes
The income tax benefit (provision is based on income (lossbefore income taxes and is accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effe
f ct for the year in which the differences are expected to settle. The effe
f ct on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date. Management assesses the need for a
valuation allowance on a quarterly basis to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
The Company accounts for uncerta
r inty in income taxes using a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50%
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate audit settlement.
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The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, associated with income tax matters as part of the income tax provision and includes accrue
r d interest
and penalties with the related income tax liability in the consolidated balance sheet.
Business Combinations
The Company has completed a numbe
m r of acquisitions of other businesses in the past and may acquire additional businesses or technologies in the future.
The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
The Company allocates the purchase price, which is the sum of the consideration provided and may consist of cash, equity or a combination of the two, in a
business combination to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase price
over the amount allocated to the identifia
f ble assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed requires management to use significant judgment and estimates, including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue and
cash flows, discount rates and selection of comparable companies.
When the Company issues stock-based or cash awards to an acquired company’s stockholders, the Company evaluates whether the awards are contingent
consideration or compensation for post-combination services. The evaluation includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the awards is contingent
on the continued empl
m oyment of the acquired company’s stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If continued empl
m oyment is required for vesting, the
awards are treated as compensation for post-combination services and recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
The Company initially recognizes intangible assets at fair value, and amortiz
r es them on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
f lives, typically three
years. When circumstances indicate that the carry
r ing value of these assets may not be recoverable, the Company reviews its identifia
f ble amortiz
r able
intangible assets for impa
m irme
r nt.
To date, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Company’s business combinations have primarily consisted of goodwill and finite-lived intangible
assets, consisting primarily of developed technologies, customer relationships and trademarks
r . The estimated fair values and useful
f lives of identifia
f ble
intangible assets are based on many factors, including estimates and assumptions of future operating performance and cash flows of the acquired business, the
nature of the business acquired and the specific characteristics of the identifie
f d intangible assets. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the fair
values and useful
f lives of identifie
f d intangible assets could change due to numerous factors, including market conditions, technological developments,
economic conditions and competition. In connection with determination of fair values, the Company may engage independent appraisal firms to assist with
the valuation of intangible and certa
r in tangible assets acquired and certa
r in assumed obligations.
Acquisition-related transaction costs incurred by the Company are not included as a component of consideration transfer
f rred, but are accounted for as an
expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transfer
f rred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets acquired,
net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortiz
r ed, but is subject to an annual impa
m irme
r nt test. Management has determined that the Company has a single
reportin
r g unit and performs its annual goodwill impa
m irme
r nt test during the fourth
r quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the goodwill may be impa
m ired.
Events or changes in circumstances which could trigger an impa
m irme
r nt review include significant changes in the manner of the Company’s use of the
acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant negative industry
r or economic trends, significant underperformance relative to
historical or projected future results of operations, a significant adverse change in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator,
unanticipated competition or a loss of key personnel.
The Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors (“Step Zero” to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a
determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reportin
r g unit is less than its carry
r ing amount. If,
f afte
f r assessing the totality of events or
circumstances, an entity determines it is not more likely than not
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that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carryi
r ng amount, then additional impa
m irme
r nt testing is not required. However, if an entity concludes
otherwise, then it is required to perfor
f rm the first of a two-step impa
m irme
r nt test.
The first step involves comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit with its respective book value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value
exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impa
m ired and no additional steps are necessary. If,
f however, the fair value of the reportin
r g unit is less
than book value, then a second step is required that compares the carry
r ing amount of the goodwill with its impl
m ied fair value. The estimate of impl
m ied fair
value of goodwill may require valuations of certa
r in internally-generated and unrecognized intangible and tangible net assets. If the carry
r ing amount of
goodwill exceeds the impl
m ied fair value of the goodwill, an impa
m irme
r nt loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
The Company completed a Step Zero analysis during the fourth
r quarter of 2016. No impa
m irme
r nt of goodwill was recorded at Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 or
2016.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are amortiz
r ed over the estimated useful
f life
f of the acquired technology, customer relationships and trademarks
r , generally three years.
Stock-Ba
- sed Compensation
For empl
m oyee stock-based awards, the Company calculates the fair value of the award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and
the expense is recognized over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. Prior to the IPO, the Company utilized equity valuations based on
comparable publicly-traded companies, discounted free cash flows, an analysis of the Company's enterprise value and other factors deemed relevant in
estimating the fair value of its common stock. Subsequent to the IPO, the Company has used the closing price of its common stock on Nasdaq as the fair value
of its common stock. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life
f of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury
r yield curve in effe
f ct at the time of
grant. Expected volatilities are based on impl
m ied volatilities from market comparisons of certa
r in publicly traded companies and other factors. The expected
term of stock options granted has been determined using the simplifie
f d method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the contractual term.
The requisite service period is generally four years from the date of grant. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of the Company's
common stock on Nasdaq on the grant date. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates.
We account for stock-based compensation arra
r ngements in restricted shares subject to a put option that allows the holder of the shares to put the shares back
to the Company for cash as liability-classified stock awards. These awards are re-measured at fair value each reportin
r g period, with changes in fair value being
charged to the statement of operations. Compensation expense is recognized using a graded vesting methodology for each separately vesting tranche as
though the award were, in substance, multiple awards. Unless the put option is exercised, the restricted shares will be reclassified from a liability to an equity
classified award upon the termination of the put option at the vesting of each separate tranche.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
t
The Company considers all investments with an original maturity of three months or less at time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash restricted by third
parties is not considered cash and cash equivalents.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and shortr term investments.
The Company reduces credit risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with majo
a r financial institutions with high credit ratings. At times, such amounts
may exceed federally insured limits.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
t
Management believes that the fair value of financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, shortr term investments, accounts receivable and
accounts payable, approximates carry
r ing value due to the immediate or shortr term maturity associated with its cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable
and accounts payable.
Marke
r ting
n
Marketing expenses consist primarily of acquisition and brand-related marketing costs, such as product listing ads, search engine marketing, affi
f liate
marketing, display marketing and other marketing expenses supportin
r g these initiatives. Marketing expenses also include empl
m oyee-related expenses for our
empl
m oyees involved in digital marketing, brand marketing and design, seller development and growth
w , public relations and communications, product
marketing and marketing research activities. Marketing expenses are primarily driven by investments to grow and retain members on the Company's platform.
N Income (Loss) Per Share
Net
Prior to the IPO, the Company followed the two-class method when computing net income (lossper share as the Company had issued shares that met the
definition of participating securities. The two-class method determined net income (lossper share for each class of common stock and participating securities
according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earni
r ngs. The two-class method required income available to
common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive
dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company’s convertible prefer
f rred stock contractually entitled the holders of such shares to
participate in dividends, but did not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in losses of the Company. Accordingly, the two-class
method did not apply for periods in which the Company reporte
r d a net loss or a net loss attributable to common stockholders resulting from dividends,
accretion or modifications to its convertible prefer
f rred stock.
Upon the closing of the IPO on April 21, 2015, all outstanding shares of convertible prefer
f rred stock were converted into shares of common stock. For current
and future periods, the two-class method is not applicable to the computation of net (lossincome per share until shares of authorized prefer
f rred stock become
issued and outstanding.
Basic net income (lossper share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (lossattrib
r utable to common stockholders by
the weighted average numbe
m r of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (lossattributable to common stockholders is computed by
adju
d sting net income (lossattributable to common stockholders to reallocate undistributed earni
r ngs based on the potential impa
m ct of dilutive securities,
including outstanding common stock options, convertible prefer
f rred stock and warrants to purchase common stock and convertible prefer
f rred stock. For
periods in which the Company has reporte
r d net losses, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, because dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effe
f ct is anti-dilutive.
Segm
e ent Data
The Company identifie
f s operating segments as compo
m nents of an entity for which discrete financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment. The Company
defines the term “chief operating decision maker” to be its chief executive offi
f cer. The Company has determined it operates in one operating segment and
one reportable segment, as its chief operating decision maker reviews financial information presented on only a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating
resources and evaluating financial performance.
Foreign Currency
c
The Company has determined that the functional currency for each of its foreign operations is the local currency in which the operation is located. All assets
and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effe
f ct at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated using average
exchange rates during the period. Foreign currency translation adju
d stments are reflected in stockholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive
income (loss). Transaction gains and
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losses including intercompa
m ny transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in foreign
exchange gain (losswithin other income (expense in the statement of operations.
Excess Tax Benefi
e ts from Exercise of Stock Options
The Company uses the “with and without” approach in determining the order in which tax attributes are utilized. As a result, the Company recognizes a tax
benefit from stock-based awards in additional paid-in capital only if an incremental tax benefit is realized afte
f r all other tax attributes currently available to
the Company have been utilized. When tax deductions from stock-based awards are less than the cumulative book compensation expense, the tax effe
f ct of
the resulting difference (“shortf
r fal l” is charged first to additional paid-in capital, to the extent of the Company’s pool of windfal
f l tax benefits, with any
remainder recognized in income tax expense. The Company determined that it had a suffic
f ient windfall pool available through Decembe
m r 31, 2016 to absorb
any shortf
r fal ls.
Recently Issued Accounting
n Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASU 2014-09, which replaces existing revenue recognition guidance. The new
guidance is effe
f ctive for the annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2017. Among other things, the updated guidance requires companies to
recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer
f of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company has performed a preliminary
r assessment over the Markets and Seller
Services revenue streams and does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impa
m ct on its consolidated financial statements.
In Februa
r ry 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which requires a reportin
r g entity to recognize right-of-u
f se assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet
for operating leases to increase transparency and comparability. The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15,
2018, and early adoption is permitted. Upon adoption of this standard, the Company expects to recognize, on a discounted basis, its minimum commitments
under noncancelable operating leases on the consolidated balance sheets resulting in the recording of right of use assets and lease obligations. The Company
is currently evaluating additional impa
m cts the guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09 for share-based payment transactions that require a reporting entity to recognize excess tax benefits and
deficiencies as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement. The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r
Decembe
m r 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted for financial statements as of the beginning of an interim or annual reportin
r g period. The Company will
adopt this standard in the first quarter of 2017 and anticipates increased volatility in the income statement upon recognition of excess tax benefits and
deficiencies within the tax provision rather than as an adju
d stment to equity. The Company has elected to account for forfeitures whe
w n they occur and does not
anticipate a material impa
m ct related to the change in forfei
f ture recognition.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16 which eliminated the exception that previously existed for the income tax consequences of intra-entity asset
transfer
f s other than inventory
r . The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted
in annual reportin
r g periods for which interim or annual financial statements have not been issued. The Company plans to adopt this standard during our
interim period ending March 31, 2017. The amendments in this update will be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effe
f ct
adju
d stment directly to retained earni
r ngs as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company has evaluated the effe
f ct of the adoption of this standard
and expects a cumulative effe
f ct adju
d stment to beginning retained earni
r ngs in the period of adoption of $51.4 million which represents the unamortized
amount of the deferred tax charge asset on the balance sheet. Consequently, the adoption of this standard is expected to eliminate the recognition in our tax
provision of $17.1 million in each year through 2019, the year through which the deferred tax charge was previously amortiz
r able.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18 which requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash,
cash equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. The new guidance is effe
f ctive for the annual and interim
periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2017 and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effe
f ct the guidance will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01 to clarify
f the definition of a business and provide guidance for evaluating whether transactions should be
accounted for as acquisitions (or disposalsof assets or businesses. The new guidance is to be applied on a prospective basis and is effe
f ctive for the annual
and interim periods beginning afte
f r December 15, 2017. As the adoption of this standard will only impa
m ct prospective acquisitions, the Company does not
anticipate this update to have a material impa
m ct on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04 to simplify
f the measurement of goodwill impa
m irme
r nt by eliminating step two from the goodwill impa
m irme
r nt
test. The new guidance requires goodwill impa
m irme
r nt to be measured as the amount by which a reportin
r g unit’s carry
r ing value exceeds its fair value, not to
exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reportin
r g unit. The new guidance is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after
Decembe
m r 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate the update to have a material impa
m ct on its consolidated financial
statements.
Recently Adopted Accounting
n Pronouncements
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, under which management will be required to assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
r and
provide related disclosures in certa
r in circumstances. The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods ending afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2016. The
Company adopted this guidance in the fourth
r quarter of 2016 noting no impa
m ct on the Company's consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, under which customers will apply the same criteria as vendors to determine whether a cloud computing
arra
r ngement contains a software license or is solely a service contract. The new standard is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r
15, 2015. The Company has adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2016 noting no material impa
m ct to the current period consolidated financial
statements.
In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15 to address the presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-c
f redit
arra
r ngements. The guidance affi
f rms the Company's treatment of such costs, which is to defer and present the debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently
amortiz
r e the costs over the term of the line-of-c
f redit arra
r ngement. The new standard is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15,
2015. The Company has adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2016 noting no impa
m ct to the current period consolidated financial statements.
In Septembe
m r 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, which eliminates the requirement that an acquirer in a business combination account for measurementperiod adju
d stments retrospectively. Instead, an acquirer will recognize a measurement-period adju
d stment during the period in which it determines the amount
of the adju
d stment. The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2015. The Company has adopted this guidance
in the first quarter of 2016 noting no impa
m ct to the current period consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15 to clarify
f how certa
r in cash receipts and payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows.
The new guidance is effe
f ctive for annual and interim periods beginning afte
f r Decembe
m r 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted for financial statements as
of the beginning of an interim or annual reportin
r g period. The Company has adopted this guidance in the fourth
r quarter of 2016 noting no material impa
m ct to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2—Business Combinations
On Septembe
m r 19, 2016, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Blackbird Technologies, Inc. (“Blackbird”), a machine learni
r ng
company, for $32.5 million. The Company completed this acquisition to impr
m ove the quality and relevance of search on Etsy.com. Total consideration for
the acquisition was approximately $15.0 million, consisting of $8.1 million in cash and 513,304 shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair value of
$6.9 million on the acquisition date. Additionally, the Company issued 184,230 shares of common stock and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) on the
acquisition date with a fair value of $2.5 million which are tied to continuous service with the Company as an empl
m oyee and are being accounted for as postcombination stock-based compensation expense over a three-year vesting period. The Company will pay up to an additional $8.8 million in cash and issue
up to an additional 460,575 shares of RSUs post-close with a fair value of $6.2 million, both of which are also tied to continuous service with the Company
as an empl
m oyee and are being accounted for as post-combination stock-based and other compensation expense over a three-year vesting period. A portio
r n of
the consideration and post-combination compensation is subject to indemnific
f ation provisions.
The below table summarizes the components of the Blackbird purchase pric
r e and allocation of the purchase pric
r e at fair value (in thousands):
Cash paid

$

8,050

$

15,016

Common shares

6,966

Total purchase consideration
Net working capital

$

81

Developed technology

7,200

Customer relationships

1,250

Goodwill

8,660

Deferred tax liability

(2,175)

Net assets acquired

$

15,016

Included in working capital is approximately $0.2 million of cash acquired.
The amounts allocated to developed technology and customer relationships (the acquired intangible assetstotal $8.5 million. The acquired identifia
f ble
intangible assets are being amortiz
r ed on a straight-line basis approximating the pattern in which the assets are utilized. Acquired technology intangible
assets will amortiz
r e over three years and acquired customer relationships will amortiz
r e over six months. The fair value assigned to developed technology was
determined primarily by using the cost approach, which estimates the cost to reproduce the asset, adju
d sted for loss due to functional and economic
obsolescence. The fair value of the Company’s customer relationships was determined primarily by using the income approach, which discounts expected
future cash flows to present value using estimates and assumptions determined by management. Goodwill recorded in connection with the Blackbird
acquisition is primarily attributed to the value of the acquired workforce and their future contribution to Etsy. None of the resulting goodwill is deductible
for tax purpos
r es.
The Company incurred approximately $0.6 million in acquisition-related costs in the Blackbird acquisition in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, included
in general and administrative expenses. This acquisition contributed $2.4 million to the Company’s consolidated net loss in the the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2016, respectively. The impa
m ct to net loss was primarily due to amortiz
r ation of intangibles of $1.4 million and stock-based and other compensation expenses
associated with the acquisition of $1.1 million, included in product development and marketing expenses.
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined operating results of the Company and Blackbird Technologies as if the
acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2015. The unaudited pro forma financial information includes the accounting effe
f cts of the business combination,
including adju
d stments to the amortiz
r ation of intangible assets, stock-based and other compensation expenses and profes
f sional fees associated with the
acquisition. The unaudited pro forma information does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have been achieved, nor is it necessarily indicative
of our future
t
consolidated results.
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The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented in the table below for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016 (in thousands except per
share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2015
Revenue

$

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

2016
273,616

$

365,786

(65,106)

(35,401)

(0.71)

(0.31)

On June 18, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of Incubart SAS, a societe par actions simplifiee orga
r nized under the laws of France, which
operates the online market A Little Market (“ALM”), for $37.1 million. Total consideration for the acquisition was $30.8 million, consisting of $5.3 million
in cash, of which $4.2 million was paid on the closing date, $0.3 million was paid on March 31, 2015 and $0.8 million was paid on Februa
r ry 18, 2016, and
2,439,847 shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair value of $25.5 million on the acquisition date. Because the Company was not publicly traded at
the time of the acquisition, the Company utilized equity valuations based on comparable publicly-traded companies, discounted cash flows, an analysis of
the Company’s enterprise value and other factors deemed relevant in estimating the fair value of its common stock for purpos
r es of calculating the fair value
of the purchase pric
r e. The terms of the purchase agreement provide for the sale of put options to certa
r in of the former shareholders of ALM. The put options
enable the holders of the options to sell up to all of their shares back to the Company, subject to certa
r in vesting and restrictions, at fair value, but not to
exceed $8.26 per share and not less than $4.00 per share. The put right terminates with respect to a share on the earlie
r r of one year from when such share is
vested or the liquidation date, as defined in the agreement containing the put option. The holders of the options paid an aggregate of $0.1 million cash to the
Company at the date of acquisition and the Company recorded a $0.1 million liability for the fair value of the put options at that time. Additionally, the
Company issued 599,497 shares of common stock, with a fair value of $6.3 million on the acquisition date, which are tied to continuous service with the
Company as an empl
m oyee or consultant and are being accounted for as post-combination stock-based compensation expense over the three-year vesting
period. Since the put options relate in part to these shares, these restricted shares will be recorded as liability-classified stock awards as earned.
The following table summarizes the components of the purchase pric
r e and allocation of the purchase pric
r e at fair value (in thousands):
Cash paid

$

Common shares

5,290
25,521

Total purchase consideration
Net working capital

$

30,811

$

625

Property and equipment and other assets

95

Developed technology

1,636

Customer relationships

1,693

Trademarks

775

Goodwill

27,309

Deferred tax liability

(757)

Other long-term liabilities

(565)

Net assets acquired

$

30,811

Included in worki
r ng capital is approximately $0.5 million of cash and cash equivalents acquired.
The amount allocated to developed technology, customer relationships and trademark
r (the acquired intangible assetstotal $4.1 million. The fair value
assigned to developed technology was determined primarily by using the cost approach and fair value of the Company’s customer relationships was
determined primarily by using the income approach. The fair value assigned to trademark
r was determined using the relief from royalty method, where the
owne
w r of the asset realizes a benefit from owni
w ng the intangible asset rather than paying a rental or royalty rate for use of the asset. The acquired identifia
f ble
intangible assets are being amortiz
r ed on a straight-line basis over three years, which approximates the pattern in which the assets are utilized. Goodwill of
$27.3 million, none of which is deductible for tax purpos
r es, was recorded in connection with the ALM acquisition, which is primarily attributed to synergies
arising from the acquisition and the value of the acqu
q ired workforce.
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On April 29, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of Jarvis Labs, Inc., owne
w rs of the “Gra
G nd St.” online technology marketplace, for $6.6 million.
Total consideration for the acquisition was approximately $3.2 million, consisting of $1.0 million in cash and 212,552 shares of the Company’s common
stock with a fair value of $2.2 million on the acquisition date. Additionally, the Company issued 328,580 shares of common stock, with a fair value of $3.4
million on the acquisition date, which are tied to continuous service with the Company as an empl
m oyee or consultant and are being accounted for as postcombination stock-based compensation expense over the three-year vesting period. Because the Company was not publicly traded at the time of the
acquisition, the Company utilized equity valuations based on comparable publicly-traded companies, discounted cash flows, an analysis of the Company’s
enterprise value and other factors deemed relevant in estimating the fair value of its common stock for purpos
r es of calculating the fair value of the purchase
pric
r e.
The following table summarizes the components of the Grand St. purchase pric
r e and the allocation of the purchase pric
r e at fair value (in thousands):
Cash paid

$

Common shares

1,040
2,202

Total purchase consideration

$

Net working capital

$

Developed technology

3,242
85
2,000

Customer relationships

600

Trademarks

200

Goodwill

991

Deferred tax liability

(634)

Net assets acquired

$

3,242

Included in working capital is approximately $0.1 million of cash acquired.
The amounts allocated to developed technology, customer relationships and trademark (the acquired intangible assetstotal $2.8 million. The fair value
assigned to developed technology was determined primarily using the cost approach, the fair value of the Company’s customer relationships was determined
primarily using the income approach and the fair value assigned to trademark was determined using the relief from royalty method. The acquired identifia
f ble
intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over three years, which approximates the pattern in wh
w ich the assets are utilized. None of the
goodwill recorded in the acquisition is deductible for tax purpos
r es.
The Company incurred approximately $2.1 million in acquisition-related costs in the ALM and Grand Street acquisitions in the year ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014, included in general and administrative expenses. These acquisitions increased revenue by $1.8 million and contributed $5.7 million to the Company’s
consolidated net loss in the year ended December 31, 2014. The impa
m ct to net loss was primarily due to amortiz
r ation of intangibles and stock-based
compensation associated with the acquisitions.
Note 3—Fair Value Measurements
The Company has characterized its investments in marketable securities, based on the priority of the inputs used to value the investments, into a three-level
fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1, and
lowest priority to unobserva
r ble inputs (Level 3. If the inputs used to measure the investments fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the categorization
is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the investment. Investments recorded in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet are categorized based on the inputs to valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1—These are investments where values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets in an active market that the Company has the
ability to access.
Level 2—These are investments where values are based on quoted market prices in markets that are not active or model derived valuations in which all
significant inputs
n
are observable in active marke
r ts.
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Level 3—These are liabilities where values are derived from techniques in which one or more signifi
f cant inputs are unobservable.
The following are the majo
a r categorie
r s of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and Decembe
m r 31, 2016 (in
thousands):
As of December 31, 2015
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Asset
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

$

212,390

U.S. Government bills

$

—

$

—

$

212,390

3

—

—

3

212,393

—

—

212,393

Short-term investments:
U.S. Government and agency bills

21,620
$

234,013

$
$

—
$

—

—

$

—

$

—

21,620

$

—

$

234,013

—

$

2,357

$

2,357

—

$

2,357

$

2,357

Liability
y
Post-combination compensation classified as liability

As of December 31, 2016
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Asset
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

$

U.S. Government bills
Commercial paper

98,161

$

—

$

—

$

98,161

1,950

—

—

—

2,997

—

1,950
2,997

100,111

2,997

—

103,108
17,146

Short-term investments:
Commercial paper

—

17,146

—

Corporate bonds

—

33,303

—

33,303

50,045

—

—

50,045

U.S. Government and agency bills

50,045

50,449

—

100,494

$

150,156

$

53,446

$

—

$

203,602

$

—

$

—

$

2,067

$

2,067

$

—

$

—

$

2,067

$

2,067

Liability
y
Post-combination compensation classified as liability

Level 1 instruments include money market funds and AAA-ra
A
ted U.S. Government and agency securities, which are valued based on inputs including quotes
from broker-dealers or recently executed transactions in the same or similar securities.
Level 2 instruments include fixed-income funds consisting of investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds, which are valued based on quoted
market prices in markets that are not active or model derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observa
r ble in active markets.
Level 3 instruments include post-combination compensation classified as a liability in connection with the acquisition of ALM and convertible warrants
classified as a liability. The post-combination compensation is classified as a liability due to its affi
f liation with a related put option, and its fair value is
determined based on the fair value of the Company's common stock at the period-end reportin
r g date, with adju
d stments included in general and administrative
expenses. The fair value of the warrants classified as a liability is determined using the period-end fair value of the Company's common stock, the risk-free
rate for periods within the contractual life
f of the warrant based on the U.S. Treasury
r yield curve in effe
f ct at the time of grant, impl
m ied volatilities from market
comparisons of certa
r in publicly traded companies and the contractual term, with adju
d stments included in net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities.
On the date of the IPO, the warrants converted from warrants for
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prefer
f rred stock to warrants for common stock and as a result are no longer classified as a liability or subject to further fair value adju
d stments.
The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobserva
r ble
inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
Balance at beginning of period

$

2016
5,310

Changes to liability-classified stock awards

$

2,357

739

Conversion of liability-classified instruments to equity

1,652

(6,825)

Net unrealized loss on warrants

(1,942)

3,133

Balance at end of period

$

2,357

—
$

2,067

Note 4—Marketable Securities
Shortr term investments consist of marketable securities that are available-for-sale. The cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities were as follows as of
the dates indicated (in thousands):
Gross
Unrealized
Holding Loss

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Holding Gain

Fair Value

December 31, 2015
U.S. Government and agency bills

$

21,636

$

(16)

$

—

$

21,620

$

21,636

$

(16)

$

—

$

21,620

$

17,146

$

—

$

—

$

17,146

December 31, 2016
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds

33,318

(16)

1

U.S. Government and agency bills

50,059

(15)

1

$

100,523

$

(31)

$

2

33,303
50,045
$

100,494

The Company’s investments in marketable securities consist primarily of investments in fixed-income funds and AAA-rated U.S. Government and agency
bills. When evaluating investments for other-than-temporary
r impa
m irme
r nt, the Company reviews factors such as length of time and extent to which fair value
has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time, which may
be sufficient fo
f r anticipated recovery in market value. The Company evaluates fair values for each individual security in the investment portfolio.
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Note 5—Property
t and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
As of
December 31,
Estimated useful lives

2015

2016

Computer equipment

3 years

Furniture and equipment

2 - 4 years

1,959

Software

1 - 3 years

1,427

856

Leasehold improvements

Shorter of life
f of asset or lease term

8,097

10,155

Construction in progress(1)

Not applicable

Building

25 years

Website development

3 years

$

27,054

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

$

30,378
5,920

71,106

—

—

81,957

33,469

43,294

143,112

172,560

38,091
$

105,021

46,153
$

126,407

(1) The Company capitalizes construction in progress and records a corresponding long-term liability for build-to-suit lease arrangements where it is considered the owner, for
accounting purposes, during the construction period. The Company completed construction on its new Brooklyn, NY headquarters in May 2016.

Depreciation and amortiz
r ation expense on property and equipment was $15.7 million, $16.3 million and $19.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, which includes amortiz
r ation expense for equipment acquired under capital leases of $1.5 million, $3.8 million and $6.3
million for the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. The gross balance of leased equipment as of Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and 2016 was
$17.2 million and $22.3 million, respectively. The related accumulated amortiz
r ation of equipment under capital leases was $4.6 million and $10.9 million at
Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and 2016, respectively.
The following table summarizes capitalized website development and internal-use software activities durin
r g the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
Balance as of the beginning of the period

$

Additions to website development, excluding stock-based compensation

2016
31,156

$

9,719

Additions to website development—stock-based compensation
Less: Retirements
Less: Accumulated amortization
$

33,469
11,769

463

792

7,869

2,736

33,469

43,294

19,676

24,155

13,793

$

19,139

For the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, the Company recorded amortiz
r ation expense relating to capitalized website development and
internal-use software of $8.1 million, $7.3 million and $6.3 million, respectively. The loss on write-off
f for website development and internal-use software
assets that were retired durin
r g the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 was $0.1 million, $1.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively.
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Note 6—Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the changes in the carry
r ing amount of goodwill for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
Balance as of the beginning of the period

$

2016
30,831

Acquisitions(1)

$

27,752
8,660

—

Currency and other adjustments(2)

(3,079)

Balance as of the end of the period

$

(755)

27,752

$

35,657

(1) Includes goodwill as a result of the Blackbird Technologies acquisition. See “Note 2—Business Combinations” for more information.
(2) Includes the effe
f ct of foreign currency translation and in 2015 includes an adju
d stment to purchase price allocation of $0.6 million.

The Company did not recognize any goodwill impa
m irme
r nts durin
r g the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016.
At December 31, 2015 and 2016, the gross book value and accumul
m ated amortiz
r ation of intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2015
Gross book
value (1)

Trademarks

$

Technology

$

3,882

Customer relationships
Intangible assets, net

822

Accumulated
amortization (1)

6,663

$

(1,024)
$

(3,792)

Gross book
value (1)

395

$

1,541

(2,341)

1,959
$

(427)

As of December 31, 2016
Net book
value

2,871

—

$

10,466

935
$

Accumulated
amortization (1)

11,716

$

(3,536)

1,250
$

—

Net book
value

(673)
$

(4,209)

—
6,930
577

$

7,507

(1) Excludes the gross book value and accumulated amortization of fully amortized intangibles.

The Company acquired intangible assets valued at $8.5 million in the Blackbird acquisition. See “Note 2—Business Combinations” for more information.
Amortiz
r ation expense for the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 was $1.5 million, $2.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively.
m irme
r nt loss durin
r g the year ended December 31, 2016, included in marketing expenses. During
The Company recognized a $0.6 million intangible asset impa
the fourth
r quarter of 2016, the Company determined that there were indicators present that carry
r ing amount of intangible assets acquired in the ALM and
Grand St. acquisitions may not be recoverable. The Company prepared an undiscounted cash flow analysis and determined that intangible assets for customer
relationships and trademarks
r acquired in the ALM and Grand St. acquisitions were not recoverable. The Company used the income approach to determine the
fair value of intangible assets and concluded that these assets were fully impa
m ired.
Based on amounts recorded at Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company will recognize intangible asset amortiz
r ation expense in each of the years ending Decembe
m r
31 as follows (in thousands):
2017

$

3,407

2018

2,400

2019

1,700

Thereafte
f r

—

Total amortization expense

$
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Note 7—Debt
Credit Agreement
In May 2014, the Company entered into a $35.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility pursuant to a Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement
with several lenders (the “Credit Agreement”. In March 2015, the Company amended the Credit Agreement to increase the credit facility to $50.0 million. In
December 2015, the Company amended the Credit Agreement to clarify
f certain provisions relating to permitted investments and to make other immaterial
updates. As amended, the Credit Agreement will mature in May 2019. The amended Credit Agreement includes a letter of credit sublimit of $10.0 million and
a swingline loan sublimit of $15.0 million.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement (other than swingline loansbear interest, at the Company’s option, at (i a base rate equal to the highest of (a the
prime rate, (b the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (c an adju
d sted LIBOR rate for a one-month interest period plus 1.00%, in each case plus a margin
ranging from 0.00% to 0.25% or (ii an adju
d sted LIBOR rate plus a margin ranging from 1.00% to 1.25%. Swingline loans under the Credit Agreement bear
interest at the same base rate (plus the margin applicable to borro
r wings bearing interest at the base rate.
e These margins are determined based on the total
leverage ratio for the preceding four-fiscal-quarter period. The Company is also obligated to pay other customary
r fees for a credit facility of this size and type,
including an unused commitment fee and fees associated with letters of credit. As amended, the Credit Agreement also permits the Company, in certa
r in
circumstances, to request an increase in the facility by an amount of up to $50.0 million (and in minimum amounts of $10.0 million at the same maturity,
pricing and other terms.
The amended Credit Agreement contains customary
r representations and warranties applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries and customary
r affi
f rmative
and negative covenants applicable to the Company and its restricted subsidiaries. The negative covenants include restrictions on, among other things,
indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, transactions with affi
f liates and dividends and other distributions. These restrictions do not prohibit a
subsidiary of the Company from making pro rata payments to the Company or any other person that owns
w an equity interest in such subsidiary. The amended
Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant that requires the Company and its subsidiaries to maintain a total leverage ratio (defin
f ed as net debt to
adju
d sted EBITDAnot to exceed 3.50 to 1.00.
As amended, the Credit Agreement includes customary
r events of default, including a change in control and a cross-default on the Company’s material
indebtedness. The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the Company and its subsidiaries’ assets, and its
obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certa
r in of the Company’s subsidiaries.
At Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company did not have any borro
r wings under the Credit Agreement.
Note 8—Warrants
In May 2016, the Company issued 80,011 shares of common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 97,931 shares of common stock with a
weighted-average exercise price of $1.62 per share and a weighted-average fair market value of common stock at the date of exercise of $8.88. The warrant
holders exercised this warrant in a cashless transaction and 17,920 shares were forfeited to the Company as payment of the exercise price.
As of Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company did not have any outstanding warrants.
During 2015 upon the closing of the IPO, all outstanding warrants for Prefer
f rred stock were converted into warrants for 203,030 shares of common stock. The
warrants were revalued at the opening stock price of $24.97 on April 21, 2015, the closing date of the IPO, and $5.1 million was reclassified from liabilities to
equity on that date.
In October 2015, the Company issued 96,869 shares of common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 105,099 shares of common stock with a
weighted-average exercise price of $1.03 per share and a weighted-average fair market value of common stock at the date of exercise of $12.90. The warrant
holders exercised this warra
r nt in a cashless transaction and 8,230 shares were forfeited to the Company
m
as payment of the exercise price.
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 11,373 shares of its Series C Prefer
f rred stock with an exercise pric
r e of $2.67 per
share, 24,510 shares of its Series D Prefer
f rred stock with an exercise pric
r e of $6.63 per share and 4,723 shares of its Series E Prefer
f rred stock with an exercise
pric
r e of $15.88 per share (see “Note 9—Stockholders’ Equity”). All of these warrants were orig
r inally issued in connection with previous lines of credit and
were fair valued on the date of issuance, with the fair value amount recognized as debt issuance costs and amortiz
r ed to interest expense over the orig
r inal life
f
of the line of credit. As these warrants were exercisable into shares of Prefer
f rred stock, which included certa
r in redemption rights that are outside of the control
of the Company, in accordance with ASC 480 - Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, the warrants were accounted for as liabilities and were revalued at
each balance sheet date. The warrants were fully vested at issuance.
For 2015, the Company determined the fair value of the convertible prefe
f rred stock warrants through April 21, 2015, the closing date of the IPO, utilizing the
opening stock pric
r e of $24.97 per share. For 2014, the Company determined the fair value of the convertible prefe
f rred stock warrants utilizing the BlackScholes model.The following weighted-average assumptions were utilized in determining the fair value of warrants for 2014:
Series C
December 31,
2014
Risk-free interest rate

1.1%

Expected term (in years)

3

Estimated dividend yield

—%

Weighted-average estimated volatility

43.1%

Fair value (in thousands)

$

579
Series D
December 31,
2014

Risk-free interest rate

0.5%

Expected term (in years)

0.5

Estimated dividend yield

—%

Weighted-average estimated volatility

38.9%

Fair value (in thousands)

$

1,156
Series E
December 31,
2014

Risk-free interest rate

1.1%

Expected term (in years)

3

Estimated dividend yield

—%

Weighted-average estimated volatility

43.1%

Fair value (in thousands)

$

185

During the years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014 and 2015, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $0.5 million and $3.1 million, respectively, from the
remeasurement of the warrants to fair value. The Company did not record any unrealized gains or losses from the remeasurement of the warrants to fair value
in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016.
Note 9—Stockholders’ Equity
A December 31, 2015 and 2016, the authorized capital stock of the Company included 1,400,000,000 shares of common stock. At Decembe
At
m r 31, 2015 and
2016 there were 25,000,000 shares of prefer
f rred stock authorized.
Common Stock
At December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 there were 44,180,939, 112,563,354 and 115,973,039 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.
Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of common stock are not
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entitled to receive dividends unless declared by the board of directors. No dividends have been declared through Decembe
m r 31, 2016. The common stock has
a $0.001 par value.
Convertible Prefer
f rred Stock
At December 31, 2014, the Company’s outstanding convertible prefer
f rred stock consisted of the following (in thousands except share data):
Shares
r
Authorized

Shares
r
Outstanding

Carrying
Values

Series A and A-1 prefer
f red stock

2,363,786

2,363,786

Series B prefer
f red stock

1,128,431

1,128,425

865

Series C prefer
f red stock

1,234,084

1,222,282

3,361

Series D and D-1 prefer
f red stock

27,870

$

808

4,240,120

4,215,610

Series E prefer
f red stock

401,450

396,727

6,201

Series 1 prefer
f red stock

203,399

203,399

1,322

Series F prefer
f red stock

11,594,203

11,594,203

Total convertible prefer
f red stock

21,165,473

21,124,432

39,785
$

80,212

At December 31, 2014, the holders of the convertible prefer
f rred stock had certa
r in voting rights and dividend and liquidity prefer
f ences. The liquidation
prefer
f ence provisions of the convertible prefe
f rred stock were considered contingent redemption provisions because there were certain elements that were not
solely within the control of the Company, such as a change in control of the Company. Accordingly, the Company presented the convertible prefer
f rred stock
within the mezzanine porti
r on of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Each outstanding share of convertible prefer
f rred stock was convertible, at the holder’s option or automatically upon certa
r in events as described below, into
shares of common stock at a conversion rate determined by dividing the orig
r inal issue pric
r e for such share by the then Conversion Pric
r e for such share. The
orig
r inal issue pric
r e, conversion pric
r e and liquidation prefer
f ence pric
r e of each series of prefe
f rred stock were as follows:
Price Per Share
r
Original Issue
Price
Series A prefer
f red stock

$

Series A-1 prefer
f red stock

0.2429

Conversi
r on
Price
$

0.04858

Liquidation
Pref
r eren
r ce
$

0.2429

0.3915

0.07830

0.3915

Series B prefer
f red stock

0.80

0.160

0.80

Series C prefer
f red stock

2.67

0.534

2.67

Series D prefer
f red stock

6.63

1.326

6.63

Series D-1 prefer
f red stock

6.63

1.326

6.63

Series E prefer
f red stock

15.88

3.176

15.88

Series 1 prefer
f red stock

6.45

1.290

6.45

Series F prefer
f red stock

3.45

6.90

3.45

The conversion price was subject to adju
d stment in the event of certa
r in anti-dilutive issuances of shares of common stock. The conversion price per share in
the table above reflects the adju
d stment for the 10-for-1 stock split of the Company’s common stock effe
f ctive in May 2011 and the 1-for-2 reverse split of the
Company's common stock, which was effe
f cted on March 25, 2015.
Upon the closing of the IPO on April 21, 2015, all outstanding shares of convertible prefer
f rred stock were converted into 53,448,243 shares of common stock.
As of December
m
31, 2015, there was no convertible prefer
f rred stock outstanding.
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Tender Offe
f rs
On January 13, 2014, certain investors participated in a tender offe
f r to purchase shares of common stock and prefer
f rred stock at a price of $10.60 per share (on
an as-converted basisfrom the Company’s empl
m oyees and existing stockholders with the maximum aggregate offe
f r price of up to $74.2 million. The terms of
the tender offe
f r were limited to a maximum of one-half of an empl
m oyee’s fully-vested stock and options and warrants to purchase stock and a minimum of
one-half of a forme
r r empl
m oyee’s or non-empl
m oyee’s fully-vested stock and options and warrants to purchase stock. At the close of the transaction, 3,154,219
shares were tendered for a total pric
r e of $33.4 million.
Common Stock Issuances
In April 2014, the Company issued 3,301,887 shares of common stock to certa
r in investors at $10.60 per share for an aggregate value of $35.0 million.
In the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2015, the Company issued a total of 3,580,476 shares of common stock in connection with the acquisitions of Grand St. and
ALM, of which 2,652,399 shares with an aggregate fair value of $27.7 million on the applicable acquisition dates are included in the purchase price and
928,077 shares with an aggregate fair value of $9.7 million on the applicable acquisition dates are tied to continued empl
m oyment with the Company and are
being accounted for as post-combination compensation expense.
Additionally, in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company issued a total of 685,749 shares of common stock in connection with the acquisition of
Blackbird Technologies, of which 513,304 shares with an aggregate fair value of $6.9 million on the applicable acquisition date is included in the purchase
price and 172,445 shares with an aggregate fair value of $2.3 million on the applicable acquisition date is tied to continued empl
m oyment with the Company
and is being accounted for as post-combination compensation expense.
Secondary
r Transactions
In the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, the Company recorded $0.5 million as compensation expense related to the excess of the selling pric
r e per share paid to
certa
r in of the Company’s former empl
m oyees over the fair value of the shares sold to an investor by these former empl
m oyees in secondary transactions.
Note 10—Stock-based Compensation
The Company's 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan” was adopted by its board of directors and approved by stockholders in March 2015. The 2015
Plan became effe
f ctive immediately upon adoption although no awards were made under it until the effe
f ctive date of the IPO. The 2015 Plan replaced the
2006 Stock Plan, and no further grants were made under the 2006 Stock Plan as of the effe
f ctive date of the IPO.
Under the 2006 Stock Plan, incentive and nonqualifie
f d stock options or rights to purchase common stock were granted to eligible participants. Options were
generally granted for a term of 10 years and generally vested 25% afte
f r the first year of service and ratably each month over the remaining 36-month period
contingent on continued empl
m oyment with the Company on each vesting date. At Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 24,252,967 shares were authorized under the 2006
Stock Plan and 1,518,002 shares were available for future grant.
The 2015 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory
r stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units
(“RSUs” and performance cash awards to empl
m oyees, directors and consultants. Beginning in 2016, the numbe
m r of shares available for issuance under the
2015 Plan may be increased annually by an amount equal to the lesser of 7,050,000 shares of common stock, 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock
as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or such other amount as determined by the Company's board of directors. The Board of Directors
approved an increase of 2,814,083 and 5,798,651 shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan as of January 4, 2016 and January 3, 2017, respectively.
Any awards issued under the 2015 Plan that are forfeited by the participant will become available for future grant under the 2015 Plan. The numbe
m r of shares
of the Company’s common stock initially reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan equaled the sum of 14,100,000 shares plus up to 12,653,075 shares
reserved fo
f r issuance or
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subject to outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan. At December 31, 2016, 17,549,262 shares were authoriz
r ed under the 2015 Plan and 13,486,596
shares were available for future grant.
In the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, we granted nonqualifie
f d stock options and RSUs to eligible participants. Options were generally granted for a term of
10 years. For both options and RSUs, vesting is typically over a four-year period and is contingent upon continued employment with the Company on each
vesting date. In general, for newly-hired empl
m oyees, options vest 25% afte
f r the first year of service and ratably each month over the remaining 36-month
period. In general, for current employees who receive an additional grant, options vest ratably each month over a 48-month period. In general, for newly-hired
employees, RSUs vest 25% afte
f r the first year following the vesting commencement date, which is the first day of the fiscal quarte
r r closest to the date of grant,
and then vest ratably each quarter over the remaining 12-quarter period. In general, for current employees who receive an additional grant, RSUs vest ratably
each quarter over a 16-quarter period following the vesting commencement date, which is the first day of the fiscal quarter closest to the date of grant.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pric
r ing model using the inputs below. Prior to the IPO,
the Company utilized equity valuations based on comparable publicly-traded companies, discounted free cash flows, an analysis of the Company's enterprise
value and other factors deemed relevant in estimating the fair value of its common stock. Subsequent to the IPO, the Company has used the closing pric
r e of
its common stock on Nasdaq as the fair value of its common stock. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life
f of the option is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effe
f ct at the time of grant for time periods that approximate the expected life of the option awards. Expected volatilities are based on
impl
m ied volatilities from market comparis
r ons of certa
r in publicly traded companies and other factors. The expected term of stock options granted has been
determined using the simplifie
f d method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the contractual term. The requisite service period is generally
four years from the date of grant. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing pric
r e of the Company's common stock on Nasdaq on the grant
date.
The fair value of options granted in each year using the Black-Scholes pric
r ing model has been based on the following assumptions:
Year Ended
December 31,
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Dividend rate

2014

2015

2016

43.0% - 49.0%

40.4% - 45.0%

38.6% - 44.6%

1.7% - 2.1%

1.3% - 1.9%

1.1% - 2.1%

5.5 - 6.1

5.5 - 6.1

5.5 - 6.3

—%

—%

—%

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company’s options (in thousands except share and per share amounts):
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfei
f ted/Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfei
f ted/Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfei
f ted/Canceled

13,190,420

$

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contract
Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

3.10

3,206,717

10.28

(4,215,628)

1.89

(656,230)

6.58

11,525,279

5.34

1,660,170

16.19

(1,315,735)

2.76

(800,855)

9.94

11,068,859

6.94

1,700,234

9.35

(2,535,620)

4.17

(893,906)

9.51

Outstanding at December 31, 2016

9,339,567

7.89

6.64

Total exercisable at December 31, 2016

6,352,071

6.29

5.76

38,257

Total vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2016

9,166,097

7.82

6.60

43,364
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The following table summarizes the weighted average grant date fair value of options granted, intrinsic value of options exercised and fair value of awards
vested in the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 (in thousands except per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2014
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted

$

Intrinsic value of options exercised

2015
4.86

2016

$

6.89

$

4.03

24,788

15,148

19,130

4,691

8,337

9,533

Fair value of awards vested

The total unrecognized compensation expense at Decembe
m r 31, 2016 was $14.5 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5
years.
The following table summarizes the activity for the Company’s unvested RSUs:
Weighted-Averag
r e
Fair Value

Shares
r
Unvested at December 31, 2014

—

Granted

$

—

407,368

Vested

13.78

—

Forfei
f ted/Canceled

—

(11,522)

Unvested at December 31, 2015
Granted

16.76

395,846

13.70

3,200,297

10.29

Vested

(255,868)

Forfei
f ted/Canceled

(205,094)

10.64
10.15

Unvested at December 31, 2016

3,135,181

10.70

Total vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2016

2,843,448

10.68

The total unrecognized compensation at Decembe
m r 31, 2016 was $31.0 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.29 years.
Total stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Cost of revenue

$

Marketing
Product development
General and administrative

2015

1,113

$

$

$

1,057

216

560

971

1,461

2,860

5,079

7,260

Total stock-based compensation expense

2016
871

10,050

6,550
$

10,841

8,794
$

15,901

The total stock-based compensation expense in years ended Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 includes $4.1 million, $1.9 million and $2.7 million in
acquisition-related stock-based compensation expense, respectively.
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Note 11—Income Taxes
The following are the domestic and foreign components of the Company’s income (lossbefore income taxes (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Domestic

$

International

2015

6,084

$

(16,344)

Loss befor
f e income taxes

$

(10,260)

2016

25,627

$

(53,621)
$

(27,994)

25,910
(28,786)

$

(2,876)

The income tax provision is comprised of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2015

2016

Current:
Federal

$

5,378

State

24,524

$

22,084

3,843

401

579

580

5,800

28,946

25,287

(2,863)

2,008

Foreign
Total current

$

21

2,623

Deferred:
Federal

(50)

State

(186)

108

Foreign

(581)

(122)

(817)

(2,877)

Total deferred
Total income tax provision

$

4,983

$

26,069

(247)
(23)
1,738
$

27,025

The current tax expense listed above does not reflect income tax benefits of $4.9 million, $3.9 million and $3.2 million for the years ended Decembe
m r 31,
2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, related to excess tax deductions on share-based compensation because we recorded these benefits directly to additional
paid-in capital.
A reconciliation of the income tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory
r income tax rate of 35% to the Company’s total income tax provision is as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate

$

State and local taxes net of federal benefit

2015

(3,488)

$

(109)

2016

(9,798)

$

(1,007)

2,575

1,545

Foreign income tax rate differential

3,255

11,584

5,849

Non-deductible stock-based compensation

1,963

1,571

1,412

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

140

1,097

—

Non-deductible items

152

1,314

267

Uncertain tax positions

398

5,523

4,033

Return to provision adjustment
Non-deductible acquisition costs
Change in valuation allowance

36

(25)

(498)

582

10

199

2,065

7,957

4,911

Research and development credit

—

(7,684)

(2,170)

Deferred charge on restructuring

—

12,168

12,168

Other

(11)

Total income tax provision

$

97

4,983

(223)
$

26,069

316
$

27,025
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe
f ct of temporary
r differences between the carry
r ing amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reportin
r g purpos
r es
and the amounts used for income tax purpos
r es. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilitiesare as follows (in thousands:
s
As of December 31,
2015

2016

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

Research and development credit carryfor
f wards
Stock-based compensation expense
Accrued VAT liability

7,961

$

13,084

898

898

3,953

5,692

74

68

Alternative minimum tax credit

717

274
611

Allowance for doubtful accounts

650

Deferred rent

146

644

Accrued vacation

640

1,035

Unrealized loss on foreign currency

3,035

—

Other, net

1,143

1,418

19,217

23,724

9,540

13,839

9,677

9,885

Total deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Total net defer
f red tax asset
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Restructuring Liability
Unrealized gain on foreign currency

(4,490)

(6,618)

(65,585)

(64,460)

—

Other liabilities
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

$

(1,059)

(1,022)

(2,816)

(71,097)

(74,953)

(61,420)

$

(65,068)

The Company does not have any federal or state income tax NOL carry
r forwards as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016. The NOL deferred tax asset balance is comprised of
r in for
losses in certa
f eign jurisdictions and are curre
r ntly subject to a valuation allowance.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2016, the Company had approximately $0.7 million and $0.3 million of federal alternative minimum tax credits, which may be
carri
r ed forward indefinitely. As of Decembe
m r 31, 2015 and 2016, the Company had $2.8 million and $0.9 million of federal research and development tax
credit carryforwards which will begin to expire in 2035 if unused.
The Company assesses the likelihood of its ability to realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets in each jurisdiction by evaluating all relevant positive and
negative evidence. To the extent the Company determines that some or all of its deferred tax assets are not more likely than not to be realized, it establishes a
valuation allowance. For the year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company determined that the existence of a three-year cumulative loss incurred in certa
r in
foreign jurisdictions, inclusive of 2016, constituted sufficiently strong negative evidence to warrant the maintenance of a valuation allowance. As a result, a
valuation allowance of $13.8 million as of Decembe
m r 31, 2016 has been recorded against certa
r in of the Company’s deferred tax assets. The amount of the
deferred tax assets considered realizable is $9.9 million.
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The following table summarizes the valuation allowance activity for the periods indicated (in thousands:
s
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

2015
—

Additions charged to expense

3,915

Deletions credited to expense

(1,850)

Currency translation

$

$

1,892

$

7,983

9,540
4,886

—

(173)

Balance as of the end of period

2016

1,892

—

(335)
$

9,540

(587)
$

13,839

The Company has not recorded deferred income taxes with respect to undistributed earni
r ngs of foreign subsidiaries as such earni
r ngs are expected to remain
reinvested indefinitely. Upon distribution as dividends or otherwise, such amounts would be subject to taxation in the United States. However, U.S. tax
liabilities would be offs
f et, in whole or part, by allowable tax credits with respect to income taxes previously paid to foreign jurisdictions. The amount of
undistributed earni
r ngs of non-U.S. subsidiaries at December 31, 2016, as well as the related deferred income tax, if any, is not material.
The following table summarizes the unrecognized tax benefit activity for the periods indicated (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2014
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

2015
—

$

2016
398

$

22,229

398

21,797

1,071

Additions for tax positions of prior years

—

34

274

Reductions for tax provisions of prior years

—

—

—

Settlements

—

—

Balance as of the end of period

$

398

$

22,229

—
$

23,574

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits included within “other liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets as of Decembe
m r 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 are
$0.4 million, $22.2 million and $23.6 million, respectively. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affe
f ct the
effe
f ctive tax rate is $11.8 million at December 31, 2016.
In January 2015, the Company impl
m emented an updated global corporate structure to more closely align with its global operations and future expansion
plans outside of the United States. The new structure changed how the Company uses its intellectual property and impl
m emented certa
r in intercompa
m ny
arra
r ngements. The Company believes this may eventually result in a reduction in its overall effe
f ctive tax rate and other operational effi
f ciencies. The revised
structure resulted in the setup of a deferred tax liability in the amount of $66.0 million on the taxable gain created in the transaction. In addition, the
Company recorded an asset of $66.0 million for the deferred tax charge representing the future income tax on the gain, which will be amortiz
r ed into income
tax expense through 2019. The Company also recorded an asset of $19.7 million for the deferred tax charge representing the future unrecognized tax benefit
which will be amortiz
r ed into income tax expense through 2019.
During the twelve months ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016, $17.1 million of the deferred tax charge was amortiz
r ed into income tax expense ($13.2 million related
to the updated corporate structure and $3.9 million related to the unrecognized tax benefit thereon.
n At Decembe
m r 31, 2016, the Company had a total deferred
tax charge of $51.4 million, of which $ 17.1 million is expected to amortiz
r e in the next twelve months and, therefor
f e, is classified as deferred tax charge current and $34.3 million is deferred tax charge, net of current portio
r n.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States, New York, and various other states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2016, tax year
2011 and later remain open to examination.
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Note 12—Net Loss Per Share
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share for periods presented (in thousands except share and per share amounts):
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

2014
Net loss

$

(15,243)

$

2016

(54,063)

$

(29,901)

Basic and diluted shares:
Weighted average common shares outstanding

40,246,663

91,122,291

113,562,738

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common stockholders

$

(0.38)

$

(0.59)

$

(0.26)

The following potential common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attrib
r utable to common stockholders because their
effe
f ct would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Stock options

2015

2016

11,308,241

11,806,620

10,041,403

Restricted Stock Units

—

128,200

2,043,544

203,030

182,031

33,447

Convertible prefer
f red stock

53,448,243

16,254,123

—

Total anti-dilutive securities

64,959,514

28,370,974

12,118,394

Warrants

Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information
The Company has determined it operates as one operating and reporta
r ble segment for purpos
r es of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.
Revenue by country is based on the billing address of the seller. The following table summarizes revenue by geographic area (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2014
United States

$

International

153,866

2015
$

41,725

Revenue

$

195,591

213,389

2016
$

276,537

$

364,967

60,110
$

273,499

88,430

No individual international country’s revenue exceeded 10% of total revenue. All significant long-lived assets are located in the United States.
Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments
Capi
a tal Leases
The Company entered into a credit agreement with Dell Financial Services, LLC. (“DFS”) effe
f ctive on Februa
r ry 17, 2016, which provided the Company with
a credit line of up to $6.0 million for hosting equipment leases (the “DFS Line”). The DFS Line allows the Company to lease hosting equipment from DFS.
The leases have a 36-month term, zero interest and are payable in equal monthly installments with a buy-out option of $1 at the end of the lease term. As of
December
m
31, 2016, the Company
m
has leased approximately $1.1 million of hosting equipment using the DFS Line.
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The Company entered into a credit agreement with ePlus Group, Inc. (“ePlus”) on January 3, 2014, which provided the Company
m
with a credit line of up to$8.0
million for computer
m
equipment leases (the “ePlus Line”), which was increased to $18.0 million during 2015. The ePlus Line allows the Company to order
equipment fro
m
and leases it back to the Company.
f m any approved vendor. ePlus purchases the equipment on behalf of the Company
m
The leases have a 36-month
term, interest rate of 3.50-6.93% and are payable in equal monthly installments at fair market value or a $1 buy-out option at the end of the lease term depending
on the equipment. As of December
m
31, 2016, the Company has leased approximately $21.1 million of computer
m
equipment using the ePlus Line.
The Company had a credit agreement with TriplePoint Capi
a tal, LLC (“TriplePoint”), which provided the Company with a credit line of up to $20.0 million for
computer equipment leases (the “TriplePoint Line”). The TriplePoint Line allowed the Company to order equipment from any vendor. TriplePoint purchased the
equipment on behalf of the Company and leased it back to the Company. The leases have a 36-month term, interest rate of 8.25% and are payable in equal
monthly installments. The Company stopped leasing equipment
q
under the TriplePoint Line in June 2012 and paid off the remaining lease obligations during 2015
in accordance with the terms
r of the credit agreement. At December
m
31, 2015, the Company no longer had any leased computer
m
equipment under the TriplePoint
Line.
For the years ended December
m
31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, the accompanying
m
consolidated statement of operations includes charges of approximately $0.4 million,
$1.2 million and $1.6 million for interest expense, respectively, related to the equipment leased using the TriplePoint, ePlus and DFS Lines.
Operating Leases
In 2015, the Company
m
entered into a new lease for office space in London, U.K. expiring in 2025, and entered into lease extensions for existing offic
f e space in
San Francisco, California and Hudson, New York expiring in 2020 and 2021, respectively. The Company did not enter into any material operating leases or
extensions in 2016. Rent expense for these operating leases is recognized over the term of each respective lease on a straight-line basis. In addition, the Company
leases other office facilities under shorter terms and cancelable leases.
Total rent expense for the years ended December
m
31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 was $3.6 million, $5.1 million and $6.0 million respectively.
Build-to-Sui
S t Lease
In May 2014, the Company
m
entered into a 10-year lease agreement for approximately 199,000 rentabl
a e square feet of offic
f e space in Brooklyn, New York for the
Company’s new headquarters, which commenced in 2015. Of the total new offic
f e space, approximately 172,000 rentable square feet is being accounted for as a
build-to-suit lease and approximately 27,000 rentable square feet located in an adjacent building is being accounted for as an operating lease. In connection with
the lease agreement, the Company established a $5.3 million collateral account, reflec
f ted in the restricted cash balance on the consolidated balance sheet.
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The following table represents the Company’s commitments under its current capital, operating and build-to-suit lease agreements as of December 31, 2016
(in thousands:
s
Capital Lease
Obligations

Operat
r ing
Leases

Build-to-Suit
Lease

Periods ending
2017

$

7,970

$

3,026

$

5,883

2018

4,436

3,787

9,381

2019

1,296

3,817

9,451

2020

38

3,471

9,522

2021

—

2,718

10,354

Thereafte
f r

—

Total minimum payments required

$

Amounts representing interest

13,740

10,475
$

27,294

48,834
$

93,425

1,615

Present value of net minimum payments

12,125

Current maturities

6,829

Long-term payment obligations

$

5,296

Non-In
- come Tax Contingencies
The Company had reserves of $2.6 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2015 and 2016, respectively, for certa
r in non-income tax obligations,
representing management’s best estimate of its potential liability. The Company could also be subject to examination in various jurisdictions related to
income tax and non-income tax matters. The resolution of these types of matters, if in excess of the recorded reserve, could have an adverse impa
m ct on the
Company’s business.
Legal Proceedings
On May 13, 2015, a purpor
r rted securities class action complaint (Al
( tayya
a
r v. Etsy, Inc., et al., Docket No. 1:15-cv-02785 was filed in the United States District
Court
r for the Eastern
r District of New York against the Company and certa
r in offi
f cers. The complaint was brought on behalf of a purpor
r rted class consisting of
all persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the Company's common stock from April 16, 2015 through and including May 10, 2015.
It asserted violations of Sections 10(b
( and 20(a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegedly false or misleading statements and omissions
with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfeit or constitute trademark
r or copyright infringement
and actions taken by third-party brands against Etsy sellers for trademark
r or copyright infringement.
On October 22, 2015, the court
r appointed a lead plaintiff
f and lead plaintiff’s
f counsel. On January 21, 2016, the lead plaintiff
f filed an amended class action
complaint alleging false or misleading statements or omissions with respect to substantially the same topics as the original complaint. The amended
complaint adds certa
r in outside directors and underwri
w ters as defendants, expands the purporte
r d class period to be April 16, 2015 to August 4, 2015, inclusive,
and asserts violations of Sections 11, 12(a(2
a 2, and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b
( and 20(a of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. The amended complaint seeks certif
r fication as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages plus interest and attorneys' fees. The Company and
the named offi
f cers and directors intend to defend themselves vigorously against this action. In light of,
f among other things, the early stage of the litigation,
the Company is unable to predict the outcome of this matter and is unable to make a meaningful
f estimate of the amount or range of loss, if any, that could
result from an unfav
f orable outcome.
On July 21, 2015, a purpor
r rted securities class action complaint (Cervantes v. Dickerso
r n, et.al., Case No. CIV 534768 was filed in the Superior Court
r of State
of California, County of San Mateo against the Company, certa
r in offi
f cers, directors and underwri
w ters. The complaint asserts violations of Sections 11 and 15
of the Securities Act of 1933. As in the Altayya
a
r litigation, the complaint alleges misrepresentations in the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
and Prospectus with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfeit or constitute trademark
r or
copyright infringement. The complaint seeks certi
r fication as a class action and unspecifie
f d compensat
m
ory damages plus interest
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and attorneys' fees. On December
m
7, 2015, the Company and the underwriter defendants moved to stay the Cerva
r ntes action on the grounds off forum non
conveniens.
On November
m
5, 2015, another purported securities class action compl
m aint (Weiss v. Etsy
s et al., No. CIV 536123) was filed in the Superior Court of State of
Californi
r a, County of San Mateo. The Weiss complai
m nt names as defendants the Company and the same officers, directors and underwriters named in the
Cervantes compl
m aint, and also asserts violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on allegedly false or misleading statements or
omissions with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfei
f t or constitute
t trademark
r or copyright
infringement. On December 24, 2015, the court consolidated the Cerva
r ntes and Weiss actions. The Company and the named officers and directors intend to
defend themselves vigorously against these consolidated actions. In light of,
f among other things, the early stage of the litigation, the Company is unable to
predict the outcome of this matter and is unable to make a meaningful estimate of the amount or range of loss, if any, that could result from an unfavorable
outcome. On February
r
3, 2016, the court granted the Company’s motion to stay the consolidated actions.
In addition, from time to time in the normal course of business, various other claims and litigation have been asserted or commenced against the Company. Due
to uncertainties inherent in litigation and other claims, the Company can give no assurance that it will prevail in any such matters, which could subject the
Company to signific
f ant liability for damages. Any claims or litigation, regardless of their success, could have an adverse effect
f on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations or cash flows in the period the claims or litigation are resolved. As of December
m
31, 2016, the Company does not believe that there are any
material litigation exposures relating to these other claims.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosu
i
re Contr
t ols and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offic
f er and our Chief Financial Office
f r, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December
m
31, 2016. “Disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company
m
in the reports that it files or subm
u its under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and fo
f rms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the
company'
m
s management, including its principal executive offic
f er and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Offic
f er and Chief Financial Office
f r concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effecti
f ve as of December
m
31, 2016 at the reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Report on Internal Control
t ls Over Financial Rep
e orting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
f and 15d-15(f)
f
under the Exchange Act. Our management conduct
d ed an assessment of the effecti
f veness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December
m
31, 2016
based on the criteria set forth
r in Internal
r
Control
t -Int
I egrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the assessment, our management has concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effect
f ive as of December
m
31, 2016 to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabil
a ity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has issued an audit report with respect to the effe
f ctiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December
m
31, 2016, which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal
r
Control over Financial Rep
e orting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified during the fourth quarte
r r ended December,
m
31, 2016 that materially affec
f ted, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our interna
r l control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Contro
t ls
Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives. Our management recognizes that any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain judgments and assumpt
m ions and
cannot provide absolute assurance that its objectives will be met. Similarly, an evaluation of controls cannot provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to
error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Offi
f cers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy Statement”
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended Decembe
m r 31, 2016.
Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable to all offi
f cers, directors and empl
m oyees, which is available on
our website (investors.etsy.comunder “Leadership & Governance—Governance Documents.” We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item
5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendments and waivers of our Code of Conduct by posting information on the website address specified above.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
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PART
A
IV.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
r
(1) Financial Statements.
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8
of this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown
w in the consolidated financial statements and notes.
(3) Exhibits.
See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authoriz
r ed.
ETSY, INC.
Date: Februa
r ry 28, 2017

/s/ Kris
r tina Salen
Kris
r tina Salen
Chief Financial Offi
f cer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Offi
f cer)
r
Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Chad Dickerson and
Kris
r tina Salen, and each of them, as his or her true
r and lawful
f attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority
r to do and
perform each and every
r act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purpos
r es as he or she might or
could do in person, hereby ratifyi
f ng and confir
f rming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitute, may lawful
f ly do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.
f
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report
r has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature
g
/s/ Chad Dickerson
Chad Dickerson
/s/ Kris
r tina Salen
Kris
r tina Salen
/s/ M. Michele Burns
M. Michele Burns
/s/ Jonathan D. Klein
Jonathan D. Klein
/s/ Melissa Reiff
f
Melissa Reiff
f
/s/ Josh Silverma
r n
Josh Silverma
r n
/s/ Margaret
g
M. Smyth
y
Margaret M. Smyth
/s/ Fred Wilson
Fred Wilson

Title
President, Chief Executive Offi
f cer, Chair (Principal
Executive Offi
f cer)
r
February
r 28, 2017
Chief Financial Offi
f cer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Offi
f cer)
Februa
r ry 28, 2017
Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017

Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017

Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017

Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017

Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017

Director

Februa
r ry 28, 2017
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Date

Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2

10.1
10.2.1*
10.2.2*
10.3*
10.4*

10.5.1

10.5.2

10.6

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.8*

10.9.1*
10.9.2*
10.9.3*
10.10.1

10.10.2

Filed
Herewith

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description

Amended and Restated Certific
f ate of
Incorporation of Etsy, Inc.
A
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Etsy, Inc.
Form of Indemnific
f ation Agreement between
Etsy, Inc. and each of its directors and
executive offi
f cers
2006 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of
agreements thereunder
Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006
Stock Plan with Chad Dickerson
2015 Equity Incentive Plan and form of
agreement thereunder
2015 Empl
m oyee Stock Purchase Plan
Agreement of Lease, dated April 14, 2009,
between Etsy, Inc. and 55 Washington Street
LLC, as amended
Lease Amendment for Partial Surrender &
Termination Agreement, dated June 16,
2016, between Etsy, Inc. and 55 Washington
Street LLC.
Agreement of Lease, dated May 12, 2014,
among Etsy, Inc., 117 Adams Owner LLC
and 55 Prospect Owner LLC
Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement,
dated May 16, 2014, between Etsy, Inc. and
the other parties thereto, as amended as of
April 15, 2015 (confor
f rmed copy)
Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit and
Guaranty Agreement, dated December 21,
2015, between Etsy, Inc. and the other parties
thereto
Empl
m oyment offe
f r letter between Etsy, Inc.
and Chad Dickerson, dated March 24, 2015
Empl
m oyment offe
f r letter between Etsy, Inc.
and Kris
r tina Salen, dated January
r 12, 2013,
as amended
Relocation letter agreement between Etsy,
Inc. and Kris
r tina Salen, dated June 18, 2013
Retention letter agreement between Etsy Inc.,
and Kris
r tina Salen, dated October 28, 2016
Empl
m oyment offe
f r letter between Etsy, Inc.
and Jordan Breslow, dated October 20, 2013
Separation letter agreement between Etsy,
Inc. and Jordan Breslow, dated August 31,
2016

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

8-K
8-K

001-36911
001-36911

3.1
3.2

4/21/2015
4/21/2015

S-1/A

333-202497

10.1

3/31/2015

S-1

333-202497

10.2.1

3/4/2015

S-1

333-202497

10.2.2

3/4/2015

S-1/A
S-1/A

333-202497
333-202497

10.3
10.4

4/14/2015
3/31/2015

S-1

333-202497

10.5

3/4/2015

10-Q

001-36911

10.2

8/4/2016

S-1

333-202497

10.6

3/4/2015

S-1

333-202497

10.7

3/4/2015

10-K

001-36911

10.7.2

3/1/2016

S-1/A

333-202497

10.8

3/31/2015

S-1/A

333-202497

10.9.1

3/31/2015

S-1/A

333-202497

10.9.2

3/31/2015

8-K

001-36911

10.1

11/1/2016

S-1/A

333-202497

10.10

3/31/2015

X
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10.11*
10.12*
10.13.1*
10.13.2*
10.14.1*
10.14.2*
10.15*
21.1
23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1†

32.2†
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
A
101.PRE
*
†

Severance Plan and form of Participation Notice
thereunder.
Change in Control Severance Plan and form of
Participation Notice thereunder
Management Cash Incentive Plan
Amendment No. 1 to the Etsy, Inc. Management
Cash Incentive Plan
Compensation Program for Non-Empl
m oyee
Directors
Amended and Restated Compensation Program
for Non-Empl
m oyee Directors
Empl
m oyment offe
f r letter between Etsy, Inc. and
Linda Kozlowski dated April 5, 2016
List of Subsidiaries of Etsy, Inc.
Consent of Pric
r ewaterhous
r
eCoopers LLP,
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (contained in the signature
page to this Annual Report
r on Form 10-K)
Certific
f ation of Prin
r cipal Executive Offi
f cer
Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
Certific
f ation of Prin
r cipal Financial Offi
f cer
Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
Certific
f ation of Chief Executive Offi
f cer Required
Under Rule 13a-14(b)
( of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. §1350
Certific
f ation of Chief Financial Offi
f cer Required
Under Rule 13a-14(b)
( of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. §1350
XBRL
X
Instance Document
XBRL
X
Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
Document
XBRL
X
Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase
Document'

S-1/A

333-202497

10.12

4/14/2015

S-1
S-1

333-202497
333-202497

10.13
10.14

3/4/2015
3/4/2015

10-Q

001-36911

10.1

8/4/2016

S-1

333-202497

10.15

3/4/2015
X
X
X
X
X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
These certif
r fications are not deemed to be filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Etsy, Inc. under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Board of Directors

Common Stock

Chad Dickerson

Etsy’s common stock is listed on NASDAQ

Chair, President and CEO,

under the ticker symbol “ETSY”

Etsy, Inc.
M. Michele Burns

Transfer Agent

Former CEO, Retirement Policy Center,
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.

Questions from stockholders of record
regarding stock certificates, changes of address

Jonathan D. Klein

and other issues should be directed to:

Co-Founder and Chairman,
Getty Images, Inc.

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
250 Royall Street

Melissa Reiff

Canton, MA 02021

CEO,

1 (800) 662 - 7232

The Container Store Group, Inc.

computershare.com

Josh Silverman
Senior Operating Advisor,

Investor Relations

Hellman & Friedman
Information about Etsy, press releases,
Margaret M. Smyth

blog posts, and other investor information

U.S. Chief Financial Officer,

is available on our website at:

National Grid

investors.etsy.com

Fred Wilson

Stockholder inquiries can be sent via email to:

Managing Partner,

IR@etsy.com

Union Square Ventures

Executive Team

Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Chad Dickerson
Chair, President and CEO

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
300 Madison Avenue

John Allspaw

New York, NY 10017

Chief Technology Officer
Linda Findley Kozlowski

Corporate Headquarters

Chief Operating Officer
Etsy, Inc.
Jill Simeone

117 Adams Street

General Counsel & Secretary

Brooklyn, NY 11201
Etsy.com

We love our planet. This report was printed
on recyclable paper that is FSC® certified
and made with post-consumer waste.
This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements about
our future results of operations, our mission, business strategies
and plans, business environment and future growth. We have
high hopes, but there are risks and uncertainties (including
those identified in the “Risk Factors” section of the Form 10-K
included in this Annual Report), and our actual results could be
materially different. Forward-looking statements represent our
beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report
and we have no obligation to update them.

